
 

 
AGENDA 

 
PUBLIC PARTICIPATION INFORMATION 

Public information on this meeting is posted outside City Hall. 
 

We welcome you to watch Board Meetings via live stream. 
You will find this option on our website at www.ketchumidaho.org/meetings. 
 
If you would like to comment on a public hearing agenda item, please select the best option for your 
participation: 
 

•  Join us via Zoom (please mute your device until called upon)     
Join the Webinar: https://zoom.us/j/95503161717 
    Webinar ID: 955 0316 1717 
 
•   Address the Board in person at Ketchum City Hall or Hailey City Hall dependent upon the 
meeting location. 
 
Submit your comments in writing at info@bcoha.org (up to 24 hours prior to the meeting) 
This agenda is subject to revisions. All revisions will be underlined. 

 

 
CALL TO ORDER: By Board Chairman Keith Perry 
ROLL CALL: Pursuant to Idaho Code Section 74-204(4), all agenda items are action items, and a vote 
may be taken on these items. 
COMMUNICATIONS FROM BLAINE COUNTY HOUSING AUTHORITY BOARD: Communications from the 
Board of Directors 

1. Public Comments submitted 
2. Public Comments in person (two-minutes, no dialogue)  

COMMUNICATIONS FROM THE LIASONS: Updates from the Liaisons on their jurisdictions  
3. Liaison Reports 

COMMUNICATIONS FROM THE STAFF: Updates from the staff 
4. Staff Update- Housing Director, Carissa Connelly 

CONSENT AGENDA:   
ALL ACTION ITEMS  - The Board is asked to approve the following listed items by a single vote, except 
for any items that a Councilmember asks to be removed from the Consent Agenda and considered 
separately. 

 

 

BLAINE COUNTY HOUSING AUTHORITY 

Wednesday, April 16, 2025, 10:30 AM 

191 5th St. West, Ketchum, Idaho 83340 



5. Approval of the March 19, 2025, BCHA Board Meeting Minutes 
6. Approval of the March 2025 BCHA Financial Reports 

NEW BUSINESS: 
7. Mission Moment 
8. Update on BCHA Advocacy Efforts- Housing Program & Policy Strategist, Rian Rooney 
9. Appreciation Workshop- Housing Director, Carissa Connelly 

EXECUTIVE SESSION: 
10. Idaho Code 74-206 (1)(f) To communicate with legal counsel for the public agency to discuss the 

legal ramifications of and legal options for pending litigation, or controversies not yet being 
litigated but imminently likely to be litigated. 

ADJOURNMENT: 
 



PUBLIC COMMENTS FOR BCHA BOARD MEETING 04.16.25 

Hello, 

 

I wanted to write in with some concerns I have regarding new rules/limits with deed-
restricted/low-income housing. I bought a deed-restricted/low-income condo six years 
ago, as a single occupant, who met the current income standards. A friend of mine also 
bought a similar style condo around the same time. In the last year, she listed this condo 
for sale and has run into numerous problems trying to sell due to the new occupancy 
standards that specify the condo has to be sold to two people making less than $72,000 
combined income. She told me that it has been on the market for seven months, with 80 
people applying to buy and being denied. While I have no intention of selling my condo right 
now, I'm highly concerned at these new occupancy standards (since I do plan to sell one 
day). A combined income between two people of $72k in this town, especially in Ketchum, 
seems pretty unreasonable, and if the ordinance is causing 80 people to be turned away 
from a condo that is sitting empty for seven months, it seems like the ordinance needs to 
be adjusted. Clearly people cannot meet the limited standards and it is not serving the 
population for which the standards were created.  

 

As a homeowner who is being affected by this, I also never received any kind of notice 
informing me of these changes. It seems unlawful to change the standards by which I 
bought my condo to not apply to those I sell it to.  

 

--  

 

 



   
 

   
 

April 16, 2025- Monthly Staff Update 

These updates are meant to highlight new outputs or efforts and not reiterate regular responsibilities. 

GOAL 1: BUILD ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE + CAPACITY TO SERVE REGIONAL HOUSING 
OPPORTUNITIES + GAPS 

- Heather, the Operations Manager, has taken over the Sales & Rentals processes from Bri as well 
as other duties as Bri’s last day was 3/31/25. 

- Training Liz, the Program Administrator, on compliance (Ann) 
- Daniel, Liz, and Rian took are now certified Fair Housing Coordinators (Rian, Liz, Daniel) 
- Reviewed spreadsheet of potential trainings for 2025 (team) 
- Preparing for the HOME-ARP Grant annual audit by IFHA. Onsite audit April 29th (Team) 

 
GOAL 2: RECOMMEND + ADVOCATE FOR POLICY THAT PROMOTES HOUSING 

- Submitted comments in opposition to House Bill 135 requiring “lawful presence” of persons to 
receive assistance and benefits from public agencies. (Rian, Carissa) 

- Submitted follow up comments to Blaine County Commissioners regarding Community Housing 
Overlay Text Amendment submitted by Wood River Community Housing Trust. (Rian, Carissa) 

- Submitted written and verbal comments to the Ketchum Planning and Zoning Commission in 
general support of the Comprehensive Plan draft’s approach to community housing and density 
(Rian, Carissa, Keith, Sarah).  

- Continuing to work on Analysis of Impediments to Fair Housing Choice. Developing a survey for 
general distribution to inform findings (Rian) 
 

GOAL 3: EXPAND, COORDINATE, + IMPROVE SERVICES TO CREATE HOUSING STABILITY 

Housing Navigation 

- Continuing to work with at risk applicants to provide them with resources in our community / 
connect them with Daniel for transitional housing if appropriate. (Liz) 

Transitional Housing 

- 100% of the rent due for both Lift Tower Lodge and Silver Creek for the month of March has 
been successfully collected. We are on track to achieve similar results for April and anticipate 
full rent collection for the month as well. (Daniel) 

- The Transitional Housing Property Manager attended NAHRO's Public Housing Manager 
Training, covering important topics such as asset management and preservation, occupancy, 
operations, property finances, the Public Housing Assessment System (PHAS), and resident 
relations, ensuring a solid foundation for effective asset and public housing management. 
(Daniel) 

- BCHA hosted two of the Silver Creek owners for a building tour. The owners expressed great 
satisfaction with the condition and operations of the facility. (Carissa, Heather, Daniel) 



   
 

   
 

- Attended the Region 4 Homelessness bimonthly meeting, which included important discussion 
about upcoming changes to the coalition’s leadership. The meeting also featured two 
presentations, including one focused on youth homelessness. (Carissa, Daniel) 

- Attended the local Interagency Meeting to connect with partner agencies and organizations, 
supporting collaboration and information-sharing to enhance our collective efforts in serving the 
community. (Liz, Daniel) 

- The first review of transitional housing applications has been transferred from Liz to Daniel. (Liz, 
Daniel) 

 

GOAL 4: INFORM, ENGAGE, COLLABORATE 

- Met with Blaine County’s Planning Director informally to develop rapport and help facilitate 
greater communication between our teams (Carissa) 

- Met with The Advocates, Men Second Chance Living, St. Lukes Center for Coumminty Health, 
Senior Connection to do a cross-agency meeting and distribute the updated 2025 Housing and 
Supportive Services Guides. (Liz) 

- Working to convene a discussion and knowledge exchange on deed-restricted lending with 
banks and lenders from Aspen and the Wood River Valley. (Rian) 
 

GOAL 5: STEWARD/PRESERVE + EXPAND PORTFOLIO OF DEED RESTRICTED HOMES 

Process and data management 

- Bri updated and created process documents and templates to help with onboarding new staff 
and provided guidance in everyday tasks as her last day was 3/31/25. (Heather/Bri) 

- Update of the Countywide Community Housing Inventory (Jacklyn) 
- Finalized “maximum sale prices” for all ownership properties in the portfolio as of January 1, 

2025 to provide to the Assessor’s office to ensure fair tax assessments. Established processes to 
provide this information more efficiently in subsequent years (Rian, Bri) 

 

Expand inventory of deed-restricted homes through an acquisition/preservation strategy  

- Met with a local homeowner who is facing foreclosure to provide him with resources available 
in our community. This includes information about the Ownership and Preservation Program 
that would allow him to deed restrict his home, receive funds, cure the foreclosure and continue 
living in his home. (Liz, Rian, Daryl) 

 

Data and application transition 

- Prepared full applications for launch on HomeKeeper. Providing initial training to team on how 
to use. Continuing to gather feedback on how to improve systems and product (Rian, Heather, 
Liz) 

- Adding compliance forms to Survey Monkey as a low-lift, interim step before the new 
HomeKeeper system is ready for compliance (Liz) 



   
 

   
 

 

Application Review  

- Conducted 1st reviews on 5 full rental applications, 1 purchase application, and following up on 
applications with missing data. (Liz) 

- Assisted 17 applicants with in-person application and Common Intake Form submissions. (Liz) 
- Conducting 2nd reviews on application and qualifying them for purchases and rentals (Heather) 

 

Sale of Deed-Restricted Units  

- Under Contract: 2 Bedroom, Category 6 in Ketchum (Heather, Anna, Carissa)  
- Unit Under Contract: 1 Bedroom, Category 4 in Ketchum (new construction) 
- Hired a new HOA property manager, Boulder Mountain Property Management, for the new 

building the City of Ketchum bought. Start date 4/15/25. Ketchum will be selling these three 
units over the next year, for BCHA to then include in its portfolio (Heather) 
 

Rental lease-up 

- Available studio, Category 4 in Ketchum 
- In the pipeline, 3 additional units are coming available for rent in the next 2 months 

 Studio, Category 3 in Ketchum 
 1 Bedroom, Category 3 in Ketchum 
 Studio, Category 2 in Ketchum 

 

Compliance 

- Working with legal team on enforcing compliance with two homeowners and three landlords 
(Ann, Liz, and Carissa) 

- Working with 1 Community Homeowner who is non-compliant as they have failed to provide 
requested additional information.  (Ann + Liz)  

- Working with 7 renters for their annual rental re-certification (Liz, Ann) 
- Sending non-compliance letter with two Community Homeowner. (Liz) 
- Working with 3 transitional residents who are out of compliance. (Liz) 

 

 



 BLAINE COUNTY HOUSING AUTHORITY 
 Meeting Minutes 

                                                   Wednesday, March 19, 2025, 10:30 AM 
                          115 Main St S, Hailey, ID 83333 

   
 

 
__________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
CALL TO ORDER: By Board Chairman Keith Perry (00:00:33) 
 
ROLL CALL:  
Keith Perry- Board Chair 
Sarah Seppa- Vice Chair 
Daryl Fauth- Treasurer 
Ana Torres- Board Member  
Jennifer Rangel- Board Member 
 
ALSO PRESENT:  
Carissa Connelly –Housing Director/BCHA Executive Director  
Heather Nicolai –Housing Operations Manager  
Liz Vargas —BCHA Program Administrator  
Daniel Brown –BCHA Silvercreek Living Property Manager & Program Administrator  
Jacklyn Highfill – Housing Administrative Assistant  
Bri Zak–BCHA Operations and Application Contractor (via Zoom) 
Rian Rooney- Housing Fellow (via Zoom) 
 
COMMUNICATIONS FROM BCHA BOARD: (00:01:27) 
1. Public Comments submitted- none 
2. Public Comments in person- none 
 
COMMUNICATIONS FROM BCHA LIASONS: Updates from the Liaisons on their jurisdictions 
3. Liaison Reports (00:02:10) 
 Response by Muffy Davis- (00:02:51) 
 
COMMUNICATIONS FROM THE STAFF: (00:03:55) 
4. Staff Update- Housing Director, Carissa Connelly 
 
CONSENT AGENDA: (00:11:39) 
5. Approval of the February 26, 2025 BCHA Board Meeting Minutes 
6. Approval of the February 2025 BCHA Financial Reports 
 
MOTION TO APPROVE CONSENT AGENDA: (00:12:03) 
MOVER: Daryl Fauth  
SECONDER: Ana Torres  
AYES: Keith Perry, Ana Torres, Jennifer Rangel, Daryl Fauth,  
NAYS:  
RESULT: ADOPTED 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 BLAINE COUNTY HOUSING AUTHORITY 
 Meeting Minutes 

                                                   Wednesday, March 19, 2025, 10:30 AM 
                          115 Main St S, Hailey, ID 83333 

   
 

 
 
NEW BUSINESS: (00:12:40) 
7. Mission Moment 
 -Presented by Bri (00:12:46) 
 
8. Policy Workshop on Eligibility Definitions & Occupancy (00:14:25) 
 -Presented by Carissa Connelly 
 - Board question for Staff, Staff Response (00:19:54) 
 
RECORDING PAUSED FOR EXECUTIVE SESSION: (00:33:55) 
9. 74-206 (f) To communicate with legal counsel for the public agency to discuss the legal 
ramifications of and legal options for pending litigation, or controversies not yet being litigated 
but imminently likely to be litigated. 
 
RECORDING RESUMED, EXECTUIVE SESSION ENDED: (00:34:00) 
8. Policy Workshop on Eligibility Definitions & Occupancy (00:34:02) 
 -Revisited by Carissa Connelly 
 - Board question for Staff, Staff Response (00:38:40) 
 
 
 
MEETING ADJOURNED at 12:03pm (00:59:22)  
MOVER: Sarah Seppa 
SECONDER: Ana Torres 
AYES: Keith Perry, Ana Torres, Jennifer Rangel, Daryl Fauth  
NAYS:  
RESULT: ADOPTED 
 
 
Respectfully submitted by:                                                                                    Approved by: 
 
_____________________                                                                                     _____________________ 
Carissa Connelly                                                                                                      Keith Perry 
City of Ketchum Housing Dir & BCHA Executive Dir                                          BCHA Chair 



Financial Reports for period ending February 28, 2025

Prepared on

April 11, 2025



Actual Budget over Budget % of Budget
Income

   4010 Sale of Real Estate - Elkhorn Rental to Ownership 219,661  120,000  99,661  183.05%

   4050 City of Ketchum Contributions 300,000  238,955  61,045  125.55%

   4060 Blaine County Contributions 75,000  -75,000  0.00%

   4070 CH Admin Fee 4,975  2,500  2,475  199.02%

   4100 Rental Income 0  

      4110 Silvercreek - Rental Income 182,939  243,455  -60,516  75.14%

         4115 Silvercreek - Laundry Income 3,675  2,376  1,299  154.68%

      Total 4110 Silvercreek - Rental Income $                       186,615  $                       245,831  -$                       59,217  75.91%

      4130 Elkhorn - Rental Income 4,500  3,460  1,040  130.06%

   Total 4100 Rental Income $                       191,115  $                       249,291  -$                       58,176  76.66%

   4300 Grants 50,922  55,000  -4,078  92.59%

   4600 Miscellaneous Income 749  749  

Total Income $                       767,422  $                       740,746  $                         26,676  103.60%

Gross Profit $                       767,422  $                       740,746  $                         26,676  103.60%

Expenses

   7100 Administrative Services 0  

      7110 Financial Services 9,363  2,000  7,363  468.14%

         7120 Bank Charge 151  151  

      Total 7110 Financial Services $                           9,514  $                           2,000  $                           7,514  475.70%

      7130 Liability Insurance 5,277  21,347  -16,070  24.72%

      7140 Staff/Board Development 1,500  -1,500  0.00%

      7150 Subscriptions 1,351  680  671  198.62%

   Total 7100 Administrative Services $                         16,142  $                         25,527  -$                         9,385  63.23%

   7200 Managed Rental Costs 0  

      7201 Property Management Systems 864  864  

      7210 Silvercreek - Expenses 0  

         7211 Silvercreek - Operations 97,354  70,617  26,737  137.86%

         7212 Silvercreek - Rental Expense 294,253  247,500  46,753  118.89%

      Total 7210 Silvercreek - Expenses $                       391,607  $                       318,117  $                         73,490  123.10%

      7230 Elkhorn Village Units 0  

         7231 Elkhorn Village HOA Dues 6,160  6,907  -746  89.19%

         7232 Elkhorn Village Repair & Maintenance 2,706  1,206  1,500  224.39%

      Total 7230 Elkhorn Village Units $                           8,866  $                           8,113  $                              754  109.29%

   Total 7200 Managed Rental Costs $                       401,337  $                       326,229  $                         75,108  123.02%

   7400 Contract Labor 0  

      7410 Admin - Contract Labor 5,000  -5,000  0.00%

      7430 Application Review and Placement  - Contract Labor 60,000  5,000  55,000  1200.00%

      7440 City of Ketchum Staffing Reimbursement 211,574  238,955  -27,381  88.54%

      7450 Compliance - Contract Labor 11,800  12,372  -572  95.38%

         7455 Legal Fees 9,530  10,000  -470  95.30%

      Total 7450 Compliance - Contract Labor $                         21,330  $                         22,372  -$                         1,042  95.34%

   Total 7400 Contract Labor $                       292,904  $                       271,327  $                         21,577  107.95%

   7500 Office expenses 0  

      7510 Computer & Comm. Expenses 3,279  3,586  -307  91.44%

      7520 Postal and Delivery Services 15  155  -140  9.76%

      7530 Furniture & Improvements 143  3,000  -2,857  4.75%

      7550 Rent - BCHA Meriwether Office 5,842  5,655  187  103.31%

      7560 Supplies 254  384  -130  66.11%

   Total 7500 Office expenses $                           9,533  $                         12,780  -$                         3,247  74.59%

   7600 Program Expenses 0  

      7610 Applications, Forms, & Data Management 5,759  6,383  -623  90.23%

Total

BLAINE COUNTY HOUSING AUTHORITY
Budget vs. Actuals: Budget_FY25_P&L

October 2024 - March 2025



      7630 Data and Analysis 7,543  50,000  -42,457  15.09%

      7640 Mediation 25,211  25,000  211  100.85%

      7650 Lease-up and Sales 1,836  1,250  586  146.88%

      7660 Printing and Reproduction 1,870  1,000  870  186.96%

      7670 Translation & Interpretation 2,420  2,250  170  107.54%

      7680 Public Education & Partnership Engagement 372  19,000  -18,628  1.96%

   Total 7600 Program Expenses $                         45,010  $                       104,883  -$                       59,872  42.91%

Total Expenses $                       764,926  $                       740,746  $                         24,180  103.26%

Net Operating Income $                           2,497  $                                  0  $                           2,497  

Other Expenses

   8030 Reconciliation Discrepancies-1 149  149  

Total Other Expenses $                              149  $                                  0  $                              149  

Net Other Income -$                            149  $                                  0  -$                            149  

Net Income $                           2,347  $                                  0  $                           2,347  



Oct 2024 - 
Mar 2025

Oct 2023 - 
Mar 2024 (PY) Change % Change

Income

   4010 Sale of Real Estate - Elkhorn Rental to Ownership 219,661  219,661  

   4050 City of Ketchum Contributions 300,000  300,000  

   4060 Blaine County Contributions 232,278  -232,278  -100.00%

   4070 CH Admin Fee 4,975  1,735  3,241  186.83%

   4100 Rental Income 0  

      4110 Silvercreek - Rental Income 182,939  83,567  99,372  118.91%

         4115 Silvercreek - Laundry Income 3,675  3,675  

      Total 4110 Silvercreek - Rental Income $         186,615  $           83,567  $         103,048  123.31%

      4120 Hi Country Motel - Rental Income 60,701  -60,701  -100.00%

      4130 Elkhorn - Rental Income 4,500  9,700  -5,200  -53.61%

   Total 4100 Rental Income $         191,115  $         153,968  $           37,147  24.13%

   4300 Grants 50,922  50,922  

   4600 Miscellaneous Income 749  749  

Total Income $         767,422  $         387,980  $         379,442  97.80%

Gross Profit $         767,422  $         387,980  $         379,442  97.80%

Expenses

   7100 Administrative Services 0  

      7110 Financial Services 9,363  1,873  7,490  399.85%

         7120 Bank Charge 151  103  48  46.48%

      Total 7110 Financial Services $             9,514  $             1,976  $             7,538  381.40%

      7130 Liability Insurance 5,277  5,798  -521  -8.99%

      7140 Staff/Board Development 1,615  -1,615  -100.00%

      7150 Subscriptions 1,351  1,099  252  22.89%

   Total 7100 Administrative Services $           16,142  $           10,488  $             5,654  53.91%

   7200 Managed Rental Costs 326  -326  -100.00%

      7201 Property Management Systems 864  864  

      7210 Silvercreek - Expenses 0  

         7211 Silvercreek - Operations 97,354  37,018  60,336  162.99%

         7212 Silvercreek - Rental Expense 294,253  52,560  241,693  459.84%

      Total 7210 Silvercreek - Expenses $         391,607  $           89,579  $         302,028  337.17%

      7220 Hi Country Motel - Rent paid for facilities 122,850  -122,850  -100.00%

      7230 Elkhorn Village Units 0  

         7231 Elkhorn Village HOA Dues 6,160  7,312  -1,152  -15.76%

         7232 Elkhorn Village Repair & Maintenance 2,706  55  2,651  4820.24%

      Total 7230 Elkhorn Village Units $             8,866  $             7,367  $             1,499  20.34%

   Total 7200 Managed Rental Costs $         401,337  $         220,122  $         181,215  82.32%

   7400 Contract Labor 0  

      7420 Policy, Strategy and Management - Contract Labor 53,700  -53,700  -100.00%

      7430 Application Review and Placement  - Contract Labor 60,000  1,290  58,710  4551.16%

Total

BLAINE COUNTY HOUSING AUTHORITY
Profit and Loss YTD Comparison

October 2024 - March 2025



      7440 City of Ketchum Staffing Reimbursement 211,574  68,379  143,195  209.41%

      7450 Compliance - Contract Labor 11,800  13,213  -1,413  -10.69%

         7455 Legal Fees 9,530  8,360  1,170  14.00%

      Total 7450 Compliance - Contract Labor $           21,330  $           21,572  -$               242  -1.12%

   Total 7400 Contract Labor $         292,904  $         144,941  $         147,963  102.08%

   7500 Office expenses 0  

      7510 Computer & Comm. Expenses 3,279  9,680  -6,401  -66.13%

      7520 Postal and Delivery Services 15  261  -246  -94.20%

      7530 Furniture & Improvements 143  143  

      7550 Rent - BCHA Meriwether Office 5,842  5,346  496  9.28%

      7560 Supplies 254  1,064  -810  -76.13%

   Total 7500 Office expenses $             9,533  $           16,350  -$            6,818  -41.70%

   7600 Program Expenses 0  

      7610 Applications, Forms, & Data Management 5,759  11,565  -5,806  -50.20%

      7630 Data and Analysis 7,543  19,215  -11,673  -60.75%

      7640 Mediation 25,211  9,250  15,961  172.55%

      7650 Lease-up and Sales 1,836  962  874  90.87%

         7655 Ads 223  -223  -100.00%

      Total 7650 Lease-up and Sales $             1,836  $             1,185  $                651  54.98%

      7660 Printing and Reproduction 1,870  1,623  247  15.23%

      7670 Translation & Interpretation 2,420  2,158  262  12.14%

      7680 Public Education & Partnership Engagement 372  1,580  -1,208  -76.45%

   Total 7600 Program Expenses $           45,010  $           46,575  -$            1,565  -3.36%

Total Expenses $         764,926  $         438,476  $         326,449  74.45%

Net Operating Income $             2,497  -$          50,496  $           52,993  104.94%

Other Expenses

   8030 Reconciliation Discrepancies-1 149  149  

Total Other Expenses $                149  $                    0  $                149  

Net Other Income -$               149  $                    0  -$               149  

Net Income $             2,347  -$          50,496  $           52,843  104.65%



As of Mar 31, 
2025

As of Mar 31, 
2024 (PY) Change % Change

ASSETS

   Current Assets

      Bank Accounts

         1100 Cash in Bank 0  0  0  

            1110 DL Evans Checking 232,766  53,062  179,705  338.67%

            1120 Checking US BANK-1848 -142  -142  0  0.00%

         Total 1100 Cash in Bank $         232,624  $           52,919  $         179,705  339.58%

      Total Bank Accounts $         232,624  $           52,919  $         179,705  339.58%

      Other Current Assets

         1900 Uncategorized Asset 0  840  -840  -100.00%

      Total Other Current Assets $                    0  $                840  -$               840  -100.00%

   Total Current Assets $         232,624  $           53,759  $         178,865  332.71%

   Other Assets

      Investment in Property/Housing (deleted) 0  314,540  -314,540  -100.00%

   Total Other Assets $                    0  $         314,540  -$        314,540  -100.00%

TOTAL ASSETS $         232,624  $         368,299  -$        135,676  -36.84%

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

   Liabilities

      Current Liabilities

         Accounts Payable

            2000 Accounts Payable 66,271  77,308  -11,037  -14.28%

         Total Accounts Payable $           66,271  $           77,308  -$          11,037  -14.28%

         Credit Cards

            2100 Visa - DL Evans -5,566  4,491  -10,057  -223.95%

         Total Credit Cards -$            5,566  $             4,491  -$          10,057  -223.95%

         Other Current Liabilities

            Security Deposit (deleted) 0  1,150  -1,150  -100.00%

         Total Other Current Liabilities $                    0  $             1,150  -$            1,150  -100.00%

      Total Current Liabilities $           60,705  $           82,949  -$          22,244  -26.82%

   Total Liabilities $           60,705  $           82,949  -$          22,244  -26.82%

   Equity

      3000 Opening Bal Equity -313,390  0  -313,390  

      3040 Retained Earnings 482,962  335,846  147,115  43.80%

      Net Income 2,347  -50,496  52,843  104.65%

   Total Equity $         171,919  $         285,350  -$        113,432  -39.75%

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY $         232,624  $         368,299  -$        135,676  -36.84%

Total

BLAINE COUNTY HOUSING AUTHORITY
Balance Sheet Comparison 

As of March 31, 2025



Elkhorn Village IHFA
Income

   4010 Sale of Real Estate - Elkhorn Rental to Ownership 219,661  

   4100 Rental Income

      4110 Silvercreek - Rental Income

         4115 Silvercreek - Laundry Income

      Total 4110 Silvercreek - Rental Income $                          0  $                          0  

      4130 Elkhorn - Rental Income 4,500  

   Total 4100 Rental Income $                   4,500  $                          0  

   4300 Grants 50,922  

Total Income $               224,161  $                 50,922  

Gross Profit $               224,161  $                 50,922  

Expenses

   7200 Managed Rental Costs

      7210 Silvercreek - Expenses

         7211 Silvercreek - Operations

         7212 Silvercreek - Rental Expense

      Total 7210 Silvercreek - Expenses $                          0  $                          0  

      7230 Elkhorn Village Units

         7231 Elkhorn Village HOA Dues 5,627  

         7232 Elkhorn Village Repair & Maintenance 2,706  

      Total 7230 Elkhorn Village Units $                   8,333  $                          0  

   Total 7200 Managed Rental Costs $                   8,333  $                          0  

   7500 Office expenses

      7510 Computer & Comm. Expenses

      7520 Postal and Delivery Services

      7560 Supplies

   Total 7500 Office expenses $                          0  $                          0  

   7600 Program Expenses

      7650 Lease-up and Sales 876  

   Total 7600 Program Expenses $                      876  $                          0  

Total Expenses $                   9,209  $                          0  

Net Operating Income $               214,952  $                 50,922  

Net Income $               214,952  $                 50,922  

BLAINE COUNTY HOUSING AUTHORITY
Profit and Loss by Property

October 2024 - March 2025



Silver Creek 
Living Total

219,661  

182,939  182,939  

3,675  3,675  

$               186,615  $               186,615  

4,500  

$               186,615  $               191,115  

50,922  

$               186,615  $               461,698  

$               186,615  $               461,698  

97,104  97,104  

294,253  294,253  

$               391,357  $               391,357  

5,627  

2,706  

$                          0  $                   8,333  

$               391,357  $               399,690  

248  248  

15  15  

2  2  

$                      265  $                      265  

876  

$                          0  $                      876  

$               391,622  $               400,831  

-$              205,008  $                 60,866  

-$              205,008  $                 60,866  

   
    

    



 
  

BOARD MEETING AGENDA MEMO 
 

 

Meeting Date: April 16, 2025 Staff Member: Rian Rooney 

 
Agenda Item: Update on BCHA Advocacy Efforts 

 
  Recommended Action: 

No action. 

   
Policy Analysis and Background (non-consent items only): 

GOAL 2: Recommend and Advocate for Policy that Promotes Community Housing + Housing Stability 
 
Over the past 2 years, staff have actively tracked and provided comment on federal, state and local 
regulations, bills, and land use applications impacting community housing and housing stability in Blaine 
County. Last month, staff established an advocacy tracking spreadsheet and regular meetings to coordinate 
engagement efforts. Typical process involves staff review and analysis of materials, followed by drafting a 
letter in collaboration with the Board Chair and, if applicable, the local Board representative from the 
jurisdiction, articulating support and/or recommendations from BCHA’s perspective. For local land use 
applications and policy proposals, staff also attempts to connect with planning staff to discuss the proposal, 
questions, and BCHA’s recommendations prior to the publication of a staff report and the first public 
review.  Staff also can use the BCHA newsletter and text alert system to make the public aware of significant 
public hearings and opportunities to engage.   
 
The first few months of 2025 have included several advocacy efforts. Locally, staff have been tracking 
updates to Comprehensive Plans and zoning code amendments that could have implications for community 
housing production. Staff also spent the past several weeks connecting with local community partners to 
track bills that could impact both BCHA’s operations directly as well as housing stability and assistance in the 
community.  
 
Idaho 2025 Legislative Session Bills. The 2025 Idaho Legislative Session concluded last week. This was the 
first year that BCHA has been actively involved in tracking bills. Without a lobbyist or legislative insider and 
with a high volume of proposed bills, it was challenging for staff to understand where to focus research and 
advocacy efforts.  
 

- HB 135: This bill establishes requirements for “lawful presence” in the United States for individuals 
applying for public assistance and benefits. It requires the inclusion of these requirements in the 
administration of state and local assistance programs and requires verification, with some 
exceptions for emergencies, public health, and disaster relief. 

https://legislature.idaho.gov/sessioninfo/2025/legislation/H0135/


Blaine County Housing Authority, 4/11/25, Page 2 of 5 

o Staff drafted and submitted written comment (attached) directly to the Idaho House 
Committee reviewing this bill during the public hearing.  

o The bill was signed into law on April 4 and will become effective July 1, 2025. 
 

- Other Bills: Staff also researched and tracked several other bills, including proposals to further 
restrict the already limited ability of jurisdictions to regulate short term rentals (SB 1162, SB 1163), 
criminalize organizations that provide shelter and services to undocumented individuals (HB 335), 
and ban camping in public places in cities (SB 1141). However, staff did not ultimately submit 
comments on these bills.  

o SB 1141, banning camping or sleeping on public property in cities, was passed and signed into 
law with the provision that it will only apply to cities with populations of 100,000 or more. 
This new law effectively criminalizes unsheltered homelessness in populous cities like Boise.  

o Other tracked bills were not passed.  
 

Comprehensive Plan Updates  
A Comprehensive Plan is a long-term strategic document adopted by local government to establish a vision 
for shaping the future of the community. It typically includes goals, policies, and actions that inform the 
work of governments in following years and inform more specific policies. Land use and development is a 
major focus in comprehensive plans, and the “Future Land Use Plan” articulated in a comprehensive plan is 
intended to form the basis for zoning regulations that will implement that vision. Comprehensive Plans also 
often include chapters on topics like the economy, natural environment and resources, transportation, 
sustainability, governance, housing, and arts and culture. 
 
Hailey’s Comprehensive Plan is in the process of being updated. The last major update was in 2010. The 
proposed update takes meaningful steps to enhance the Housing Chapter, which is limited and outdated in 
the current comprehensive plan (drafted in the wake of the 2008 financial crisis). The proposed draft 
established “attainable and diverse housing” as a community value, calling for “affordable and diverse 
housing options that make it possible for people with a range of income levels to live in Hailey.”  
 

- BCHA-proposed adjustments: Staff had the opportunity to review a draft and have a productive 
discussion with city staff on recommendations and questions. Based on this dialogue, Hailey staff 
made some adjustments to the draft Comprehensive Plan that aligned with BCHA suggestions, 
including describing not only future housing need from population growth but also existing housing 
needs, calling out the role of conversion and preservation in achieving housing goals (not only new 
construction), and expand language ensuring accommodations for seniors to age in place to include 
underrepresented populations, like families and persons with disabilities.  
 

- Community housing policies and actions: The proposed draft includes many specific policies that 
support community housing goals, including calling for the creation of standards and incentives for 
the development of community housing units, considering the relationship between new 
development and housing need (BCHA and WRLT’s ‘Nexus Study’), and providing expedited and 
priority application processes for developments providing deed-restricted housing.  It also 
establishes an implementation matrix for each policy.  

 
- Partnership opportunity: Staff also noted to Hailey staff that BCHA conducts many of the efforts 

outlined in the Housing Implementation Matrix of the draft Comprehensive Plan and asked for 

clarification as to who they anticipate would implement those actions. The attached excerpt of the 

Implementation Matrix for the Housing section of the plan shows current BCHA actions in purple and 

https://haileycityhall.org/community-development/comp-plan-update/


Blaine County Housing Authority, 4/11/25, Page 3 of 5 

potential actions in orange. They stated that partners are not explicitly listed, but they anticipate 

implementing some of the actions through partnership. During the development of BCHA’s Strategic 

Plan and Action Plan, and during the significant outreach of Ketchum’s inaugural Housing Action 

Plan, community leaders and general feedback called for non-duplication of efforts and greater 

coordination.  

 

- BCHA’s formal feedback: Staff submitted a letter of support (attached) and Board Member and 
Hailey Representative Daryl Fauth attended the Planning Commission meeting to provide verbal 
comment in support.  The Planning Commission recommended approval to the City Council. 

 
- The next public hearing review will be with the City Council on May 12, 2025 at 5:30 pm at Hailey 

City Hall. 
 

Ketchum’s Comprehensive Plan update is currently being reviewed by the Ketchum Planning and Zoning 
Commission. The current Ketchum Comprehensive Plan was adopted in 2014.  
 

- Community housing focus: The proposed plan includes an updated housing core value, “Diverse 
Community Housing Options,” and robust section of goals and policies addressing community 
housing diversity as well as housing resources and capacity (see pages 39 and 40 of the draft plan). 
With the new housing focus squarely on community housing, the draft comprehensive plan departs 
from the 2014 plan (like Hailey’s, developed in the context of the 2008 recession), which described 
policies to promote “a diversity of housing opportunities including rental, along with primary and 
second-home ownership.” 

 
- Future Land Use Map: The comprehensive plan draft 

also includes a Future Land Use Plan and Future 
Land Use Map, categorizing all lands in the city and 
describing the desire future characteristics, including 
density, height, and uses of each area. The Future 
Land Use Plan establishes the policy guidance that 
the city will subsequently use to inform changes to 
the zoning code and evaluate the compatibility of 
proposed future developments or zone change 
requests.  
 

- Density: The draft Future Land Use Plan and Comprehensive Plan policies propose the potential to 
allow more density in certain areas, specifically, the Medium-Density Residential (MDR) and High-
Density Residential (HDR) than is currently allowed under existing zoning if “community housing is 
the primary use and the proposed development is contextually compatible with the surrounding 
neighborhood.” This has proven to be one of the most controversial elements of the draft plan. The 
specifics of how that policy direction will be implemented will be developed through updated zoning 
language, which has also caused consternation from the public during review of comprehensive 
plan.  
 
The allowance for additional density in these areas only with the provision of community housing is 
consistent with the Nexus Study findings that new market rate development, regardless of type and 
size, will further increase community housing need in the community. Constraining the ability to 
realize greater densities to projects that deliver meaningful quantities of community housing will 

https://www.projectketchum.org/cohesive-ketchum/
https://www.projectketchum.org/wp-content/uploads/2025/03/CohesiveKetchumComp-Plan_PublicDraftV2_Mar2025.pdf
https://www.projectketchum.org/wp-content/uploads/2025/03/Draft-Future-Land-Use-Plan.pdf
https://www.projectketchum.org/wp-content/uploads/2025/03/Draft-Future-Land-Use-Plan.pdf


Blaine County Housing Authority, 4/11/25, Page 4 of 5 

ensure that denser, new development will generally be limited and will be in service of community 
housing goals. Additionally, mapping of both HDR and MDR future land use categories is based on an 
analysis of existing, on-the-ground development in neighborhoods and adjustments to future land 
use categories are primarily driven by a misalignment of land use categories in the 2014 plan with 
what currently exists. Put another way, many of these areas are currently “denser” than their 
current land use map designation would suggest. 
 

- BCHA’s formal feedback: The Planning and Zoning Commission has held two hearings to date. Board 
Chair Keith Perry and Vice Chair Sarah Seppa provided public comment at each of the meetings, in 
addition to Housing Director Carissa Connelly. Attached is a letter also provided. 
 

- The next public hearing review will be with the Ketchum Planning and Zoning Commission on April 
22, 2025 at 4:30 pm at Ketchum City Hall. Public hearings with the City Council have not yet been 
scheduled.  

 
Local Zoning Map and Text Amendments 

Zoning map and zoning code text amendments are another area that BCHA has historically provided 
commentary, particularly for items related to community housing production. 
 
County Community Housing Overlay Text Amendment. Blaine County just concluded reviewing an 
applicant-driven text amendment to the “Community Housing Overlay,” which applies to a small area of the 
County south of Ketchum near the hospital. The Community Housing Overlay allows for a density bonus if 
specific percentages of community housing are developed.  
 

- Proposed change in density allowance: The 

amendment, which was brought by Wood 

River Community Housing Trust, which is in 

talks to acquire property in the area, proposed 

to remove the cap on the number of units that 

could be developed under the bonus, instead 

relying on other standards like required open 

space, parking, height and bulk to determine 

how many units could be feasibly developed on 

a site. It also proposed amendments to the 

parking and open space standards to 

accommodate additional housing units. Staff 

were supportive of these proposals, which 

would ease the development of more 

community housing for a future developer. 

These changes were adopted, with some 

modifications to the proposed parking standards. 
 

- Community housing management: The original text required that the community housing be 
overseen by Blaine County Housing Authority. The proposed text also included language that would 
allow a non-profit housing organization to manage community housing developed through this 
bonus in accordance with its own policies and regulations. Staff were generally supportive of this 
proposal as well, but did highlight preferences for utilizing BCHA’s community housing waitlist for 

https://www.co.blaine.id.us/1324/15674/Community-Housing-Overlay-Text-Amendment?activeLiveTab=widgets


Blaine County Housing Authority, 4/11/25, Page 5 of 5 

referrals (in accordance with BCHA’s role as the primary point of entry to housing resources in Blaine 
County) and requested that any required community housing units developed through the tool be 
open to the general Blaine County public and not be designated employer/employee units. The 
applicant’s proposed changes were adopted with one adjustment: A non-profit housing organization 
can manage and create policy for the housing units but must provide a reason if not using BCHA’s 
waitlist and provide an annual compliance report to BCHA. 
 

- Length of restriction: The proposal also included language that set a minimum and maximum term 
for the required community housing units of 20 to 40 years. Previously there had been no minimum 
or maximum term established in the text, however, community housing units developed and 
managed throughout Blaine County via density bonus programs like this one have terms of at least 
65 years (many older restrictions are permanent). On May 1, the Blaine County Board of 
Commissioners voted to approve the text amendment but removed the provisions establishing a 
minimum and maximum term on the community housing units. Any proposed development using 
this tool will go through the Planned Unit Development process, where details including the nature 
and term of the restriction will be reviewed and negotiated prior to any approval. 
 

- BCHA’s formal comments: BCHA Board Chair Keith Perry and BCHA Staff Carissa Connelly and Rian 
Rooney offered comments throughout the Planning and Zoning Commission hearings (4) and the 
Blaine County Board of Commissioners hearing. Staff drafted multiple rounds of comment upon 
request of the Planning & Zoning Commission (attached). 

 
- Wood River Community Housing Trust intends to bring a proposal to the County in the future.  

 
Attachments 

1. HB 135 BCHA Comments 
2. Hailey Comprehensive Plan BCHA Comments 
3. Annotated Hailey Implementation Matrix (Comp Plan Excerpt) 
4. Ketchum Comprehensive Plan BCHA Comments 
5. Blaine County Community Housing Overlay Text Amendment BCHA Comments (3 letters) 

 



  
  

 
 
 
 
 

208.788.6102 | INFO@BCOHA.ORG | WWW.BCOHA.ORG 
111 N 1ST AVE STE 2J, HAILEY, ID 83333 | PO BOX 4045, KETCHUM, ID, 83340 

 
 

 
Senator Julie VanOrden, Chair 
Senate Health and Welfare Committee 
Idaho Legislature 
 

March 20, 2025 

Subject: Opposition to House Bill 135 

Dear Chair VanOrden and Members of the Senate Health and Welfare Committee: 

On behalf of the Blaine County Housing Authority (BCHA), I write to express our strong opposition to House 
Bill 135. We believe this proposed legislation would have significant negative impacts on our community 
and the state of Idaho as a whole. 

BCHA’s mission is to be a central source for innovative solutions, advocacy, and knowledge for community 
housing in Blaine County. Toward that end, we partner with local governments and non-profit organizations 
to engage and collaborate on efforts concerning community housing throughout Blaine County and 
advocate for sensible policies at the local, state, and federal levels to support housing for Idahoans.  

One of our core organizational goals is to expand, coordinate, and improve services to create housing 
stability. Housing instability creates serious financial, social, and emotional challenges for residents across 
Blaine County and has significant impacts on the economy. It increases absenteeism, productivity, retention 
and recruitment among employees, and similar increases among students. Displacement and housing 
instability have mental and physical health impacts. In adults it increases the likelihood of depression and 
suicide and has negative physical impacts. In children, it disrupts development and immune system 
responses and increases likelihood of hospitalization.1 

Individual impacts that are experienced at scale have a broad impact on community resiliency – meaning 
the ability to withstand crises and hardship. This is because the stressors of an individual household burden 
their extended families, friends, and social services that financially, physically, and emotionally support 
those households. 

Concerns Regarding HB 135: 

• Unnecessarily Burdens Local Governments and Agencies 

o Requiring all state and local agencies to verify the immigration status of every individual 
applying for benefits imposes an unnecessary and burdensome mandate on local 
governments and agencies that may not have the resources or training to handle these 
verifications effectively. In reality, only immigration attorneys and officers can really 

 
1 Unstable Housing and Caregiver and Child Health in Renter Families. Pediatrics February 2018; 141 (2): e20172199. 
10.1542/peds.2017-2199 



   

  2 

validate the wide variety of statuses that immigrants have. To attempt to do so would 
require additional training, resources, and costs for our organization that impedes our 
ability to deliver housing services to Idahoans. 

o HB 135 would shift valuable resources away from the core mission of providing services and 
force local entities to become de facto immigration enforcement agents, creating a divisive 
atmosphere between local service providers and communities in need of support.  

• Impact on Vulnerable Populations 

o HB 135 would exclude vulnerable populations, including undocumented individuals, from 
access to life-saving emergency services and humanitarian assistance such as crisis 
counseling, shelter, and food programs.  

o The services HB 135 would restrict are often provided by nonprofit organizations that rely 
on federal exemptions, and removing these exceptions could prevent critical care from 
being provided in times of crisis, such as during natural disasters or economic emergencies. 
The bill would make Idaho less safe.  

o Restricting access to essential services for undocumented people will compound the 
challenges they face leading to increased cost burdens, housing instability and 
homelessness. 

• Misallocation of Resources and Economic Impacts to our Communities. 

o Idaho faces many serious challenges, including the cost of living, housing affordability and 
availability, economic development, and education.  This bill diverts limited local resources 
toward punitive immigration enforcement, creating unnecessary legal and administrative 
burdens for local governments and agencies, rather than addressing the essential 
challenges facing our state and our communities.   

o There is ample research that shows that housing instability results in significant costs to the 
public. A 2022 peer-reviewed study concludes that a lack of housing that is affordable 
negatively impacts GDP and compromises economic growth.2 In Idaho the findings are the 
same; the Idaho Policy Institute’s Statewide Housing Analysis concludes that limited access 
to housing that is affordable across income levels reduces employers’ ability to attract and 
retain talent, and also limits greater tax generation, creation of jobs, opportunities for 
economic development, and increased job productivity.3 It should be noted that many 
immigrants, including undocumented immigrants, pay taxes even when they don’t collect 
social security. Finally, multiple studies have shown that providing services and actions to 
prevent homelessness save taxpayer money compared to the shouldering the costs of 
homelessness. A 2016 study found that housing the chronically homeless saves Ada County 

 
2 Jerry Anthony (2022): Housing Affordability and Economic Growth, Housing 
Policy Debate, DOI: 10.1080/10511482.2022.2065328 
3 Vanessa Crossgrove Fry, Lantz McGinnis-Brown, Cheong Kim, Matthew May. Idaho Statewide Housing Analysis 
(2024), Idaho Policy Institute, Boise State University. https://www.boisestate.edu/sps-ipi/idaho-statewide-housing-
analysis/ 

 
 



   

  3 

$2.7 million annually compared to the cost of emergency medical services, shelter 
utilization, and interactions with the criminal justice system.4 

BCHA is committed to supporting all members of our community and supporting access to the essential 
human necessity of safe and affordable housing and shelter. HB 135 would hinder our efforts and the work 
of other essential service providers throughout our community, resulting in negative impacts to the well-
being of Blaine County residents and unnecessary costs to our community.  

We urge you to oppose House Bill 135 and focus on legislative efforts that will address the challenges of 
housing affordability and access in Idaho. 

Thank you for your time and dedication to the people of Idaho. 

Sincerely, 

 

 

 

Keith Perry 
Blaine County Housing Authority Board of Commissioners, Chair 

 

 

Carissa Connelly 
Housing Director 

 

 
4 Vanessa Crossgrove Fry. Reducing Chronic Homelessness via Pay for Success: A Feasibility Report for Ada County, 
Idaho (2016). Idaho Policy Institute, Boise State University. 



  
  

 

 

 

 

 

208.788.6102 | INFO@BCOHA.ORG | WWW.BCOHA.ORG 
111 N 1ST AVE STE 2J, HAILEY, ID 83333 | PO BOX 4045, KETCHUM, ID, 83340 

 
 

 
February 1, 2025 

Memo: Updates to the Hailey Comprehensive Plan 
 
To:  Chair Fugate and Hailey Planning and Zoning Commissioners 

From: Keith Perry, Chair 

Daryl Fauth, Board Member (Hailey) 

Carissa Connelly, Housing Director 

 

On behalf of Blaine County Housing Authority (BCHA), we write to offer brief comments on the proposed 
updates to Hailey’s Comprehensive Plan. BCHA is a public entity created by a County Resolution and has 
provided housing policy advice to local Blaine County governments since its inception in 1997. BCHA’s 
mission is to be a central source for innovative solutions, advocacy, and knowledge for community housing 
in Blaine County. Toward that end, we look to partner with local governments and organizations to engage 
and collaborate on efforts concerning community housing throughout the County.  

The Comprehensive Plan establishes the framework to guide policy and planning efforts that will inform 
Hailey’s development and character in the future. Given the significant changes throughout Blaine County 
since the last major update to Hailey’s Comprehensive Plan in 2010, particularly concerning housing and 
housing affordability, it is an important and appropriate moment to undertake this thorough review and 
amendment.  

BCHA would like to acknowledge the Hailey Planning staff’s hard work on this project and their willingness 
to meet with our staff to review and discuss an earlier version of the Housing Section of this update. We are 
supportive of the inclusion of new goals and policies addressing affordable housing production and 
preservation, partnerships and collaboration, housing policy and land use strategies, supportive services 
and housing stability, and accessibility and housing diversity. 

Further, we appreciate the incorporation of some of the language and concepts that we discussed with 
staff, including describing present-day housing needs in addition to future demand from population growth, 
calling out the role of conversion and preservation of housing units in achieving housing goals, and 
broadening the focus of local and community housing to be inclusive of underrepresented populations like 
seniors, families, and persons with disabilities.  

Finally, we offer these general comments for consideration in review of these amendments and future 
housing policies.  

• Nearly 60% of Hailey’s estimated housing need is for households earning less than 100% of Area 
Median Income. Units affordable to these groups are increasingly not being delivered by the free 
market and require subsidies or incentives that encourage developers to produce them at no public 

Docusign Envelope ID: AE057F42-0E79-441F-A523-94B2CC23C457

http://www.bcoha.org/


   

  2 

cost. In 2023, the median home sale price in Hailey was $730,750, which would require an income 
of approximately $183,000 (200% of AMI for a family of four). The median monthly two bedroom 
advertised rent was $2,450, which would be affordable at an income of $98,000 (110% AMI for a 
family of four). 

• Legally restricted (typically via a deed restriction) community housing is essential to meeting 
housing needs for a significant portion of Hailey’s (and Blaine County’s) local population. 
Restrictions are the only guaranteed mechanism to achieve long-term affordability and local 
occupancy requirements, and we encourage exploring incentive tools, funding mechanisms, and 
creative programs (like Hailey’s “Locals Only” Program) to help secure restricted community 
housing units.  

• The housing challenges facing Hailey and Blaine County require collaborative solutions. There are 
many organizations across the community who are successfully leading specific housing efforts. 
There is immense value in partnering with or supporting existing organizations and ongoing housing 
efforts where appropriate. Again, we thank Hailey staff for dialoguing with our team and look 
forward to future collaboration. Our staff is available to provide support, share information, and 
work together to address these challenges.  

Thank you for your consideration of our comments and your work on the Planning and Zoning Commission. 
Our staff is available for questions. 

  

 

Keith Perry 
Blaine County Housing Authority Board of Commissioners, Chair 

 

 

Daryl Fauth 
Blaine County Housing Authority Board of Commissioners, Hailey Representative  

 

 

Carissa Connelly 
Housing Director 

 

Docusign Envelope ID: AE057F42-0E79-441F-A523-94B2CC23C457



56 Envision Hailey: Comprehensive Plan Update Section 8 – Housing 57

housing outcomes for individuals living and working in Hailey and other similar communities.   

Goal 3.8.4 – Support community partners, non-profits and other supportive service agencies 
to ensure housing stability for individuals who live and work in Hailey. 

A. Support community partners to ensure that housing services are readily available in Hailey
including homelessness prevention, eviction prevention assistance, and rapid re-housing
programs.

B. Support the establishment of a dedicated funding source to provide short- and long-term
supportive housing services.

C. Regularly assess the population of Hailey that is at risk of being housing insecure or housing
unstable and share that number and data with partners and supportive service agencies to help
create needs benchmarks.

D. Support agencies that help those who are either experiencing homelessness or are at risk of
homelessness.

Goal 3.8.5 – Ensure that Hailey remains a community where individuals can age in place and 
is accommodating to underrepresented populations.

A. Expand affordable housing options for seniors, families, and persons with disabilities through
zoning and ordinance and accessible design requirements in new construction and remodeling.

B. Assess population demographics to ensure that there are enough accessible and attainable
housing opportunities for underrepresented populations and people who need special housing
accommodations including assisted living options and physical accessibility improvements

C. Support the development and construction of new underrepresented and accommodating
housing opportunities that are close to amenities and provide access to essential services.

D. Ensure there are supportive services and financial support (age-in-place home improvements,
property tax reductions, accessible transportation options, including medical transport) for
underrepresented people who wish to continue to live in the Hailey community.

E. Encourage the installation, development, and/or placement of amenities and public spaces that
support interaction across generations and demographic groups.

Section 8 Policies Responsible Departments 
Short 
Term 

Medium  
Term

Long 
Term 

Goal 3.8.1 – Preserve and produce a diverse housing inventory that promotes a variety of 
housing options and affordability ranges.     

1. Regularly update the City’s
housing needs analysis report and
associated data workbooks.

Community Development  

2. Conduct a citywide land
analysis to identify parcels that
could be purchased or managed
through partnership to add
meaningful housing inventory.

3. Monitor and track the
percentage of owner/long-term
rental occupied units.

Community Development 

4. Explore incentives and
support options to assist with the
renovation/remediation of aging
housing units that are at risk of
aging out of Hailey’s housing
inventory.

5. Engage the community
and define the beloved
character elements of Hailey’s
neighborhoods to help create
design guidelines for new housing
development that supports rather
than detracts from the character of
a neighborhood zone.

Community Development 

IMPLEMENTATION MATRIX

The implementation matrix organizes specific actions to assist the City in achieving the goals 
articulated in the plan. Implementation timelines are subject to political direction and economic 
conditions and may be shorter or longer than provided estimates. In general, Short Term is 
considered to be 1 to 3 years, Medium Term is considered to be 3 to 5 years and Long Term is 
considered to be 5 years or greater. 

Hailey staff

Community DevelopmentCo

Community DevelopmentCo

Carissa Connelly
Highlight

Carissa Connelly
Highlight

Carissa Connelly
Highlight

Carissa Connelly
Highlight



58 Envision Hailey: Comprehensive Plan Update Section 8 – Housing 59

Section 8 Policies Responsible Departments 
Short 
Term 

Medium  
Term

Long 
Term 

Goal 3.8.2 – Build strong community housing partnerships and local housing programs to 
increase housing attainability.

1. Actively engage and participate
in regional housing collaborations
and networks.

Community Development 

2. Create educational tools and
programs that can be shared with
residents in Hailey and the greater
Wood River Valley.

Community Development, 
City Administration 

3. Create a housing funding plan
that details potential funding
sources that the city would like to
explore.

Goal 3.8.3 – Create strong housing policy and land use strategies to promote housing 
attainability and workforce development goals.

1. Review and revise city zoning
code and ordinances and identify
where changes could be made to
help support higher density and
affordable housing.

Community Development 

2. Designate a member of city staff 
to serve as a legislative liaison
around housing policy that arises
in Idaho.

City Administration, 
Community Development  

Goal 3.8.4 – Support community partners, non-profits and other supportive service 
agencies to ensure housing stability for individuals who live and work in Hailey.

1. Conduct a regional assessment
of supportive housing services that
are available throughout the region
and identify ways to support these
organizations and programs.

Community Development 

Section 8 Policies Responsible Departments 
Short 
Term 

Medium  
Term

Long 
Term 

2. Regularly collect and share
housing and demographic data
that identifies populations and
areas that are more likely to be
housing insecure.

Community Development 

Goal 3.8.5 – Ensure that Hailey remains a community where individuals can age in place.   

1. Evaluate the existing supportive
services and financial support
available to support seniors
in Hailey and identify gaps in
coverage and create a community
age-in-place plan.

Community Development  

Community Development 

Carissa Connelly
Highlight

Carissa Connelly
Highlight

Carissa Connelly
Highlight

Carissa Connelly
Highlight

Carissa Connelly
Highlight

Carissa Connelly
Highlight



  
  

 

 

 

 

 

208.788.6102 | INFO@BCOHA.ORG | WWW.BCOHA.ORG 
111 N 1ST AVE STE 2J, HAILEY, ID 83333 | PO BOX 4045, KETCHUM, ID, 83340 

 
 

 
Subject: Support of Ketchum’s Draft Comprehensive Plan 

March 24, 2025 

Dear Chair Morrow and Ketchum Planning and Zoning Commission: 

On behalf of the Blaine County Housing Authority (BCHA), I write to express our strong support for the 
proposed updates to the Ketchum Comprehensive Plan. We believe the proposed updates make 
meaningful policy strides and lay the groundwork for zoning code updates to improve community housing 
production in Ketchum.   

BCHA’s mission is to be a central source for innovative solutions, advocacy, and knowledge for community 
housing in Blaine County. Toward that end, we partner with local governments and non-profit 
organizations to engage and collaborate on efforts concerning community housing and advocate for 
sensible policies at the local, state, and federal levels to support community housing in Blaine County.  

Community housing is housing that is legally restricted, typically via deed restriction, for long-term local use 
and occupancy, and includes both income-restricted and more flexible, “local” units. Community housing 
requires full-time occupancy and cannot be used for short-term rentals. Deed restrictions provide BCHA 
and other housing program administrators with enforcement mechanisms to ensure compliance with terms 
and requirements. BCHA conducts annual compliance monitoring for all units in our portfolio to ensure that 
community homeowners, tenants, and landlords are complying with our policies. 

BCHA is supportive of the proposed comprehensive plan update, particularly as it amplifies policies for 
expanding and preserving community housing and expanding and leveraging housing resources and 
capacity in Ketchum. We are pleased to see “Chapter 3: Housing” in the current comprehensive plan 
remade to focus entirely on community housing with goals and policies that align with and support the 
implementation of Ketchum’s Housing Action Plan.  

BCHA wants to specifically recognize the importance of Policy H-1.6: Alignment of Policies and Regulations, 
in achieving the community housing goals and vision 
identified in the Comprehensive Plan. Aligning the 
Future Land Use Map (FLUM) and zoning regulations 
in support of community housing production is 
essential. 

With limited options available in Idaho to support 
production of, or funding for, community housing, 
strategic zoning incentives and regulations are some 
of Ketchum’s strongest tools.  

Importantly, the increased density envisioned for some of Ketchum’s neighborhoods in the FLUM alone will 
not address Ketchum’s community housing needs. BCHA is not in support of increased residential density 

http://www.bcoha.org/


   

  2 

for density’s sake; in fact, increased density without significant community housing contributions will only 
exacerbate the community’s housing challenges.  BCHA’s 2024 Nexus Study of the Impacts of New 
Development on Community Housing Demand (presentation recording here) shows that new market rate 
housing development throughout Blaine County generates further housing demand and adds to existing 
need at rate of about 1 new community housing unit for every 10 market rate units developed. The 
proposed future land uses in the comprehensive plan allow for greater density than currently exists in some 
neighborhoods, but the plan stresses that these additional levels of density should only be permitted if it is 
primarily producing community housing. The Nexus Study’s findings are one resource to contextualize and 
inform future zoning development to implement this comprehensive plan. It is important to ensure that the 
zoning tools developed provide meaningful benefits to community housing production and preservation 
while balancing existing community character and context. 

We commend Ketchum’s Planning Department for their extensive and in-depth engagement efforts, with 
public meetings commencing over a year and a half ago in August 2023. A couple of our team members 
participated in neighborhood walks, open houses, and workshops and consistently heard from community 
members that residents are open to greater density – so long as new homes are occupied by locals and not 
seasonally used or short-term rented. The only way to ensure local occupancy of new units is by 
incentivizing the creation of community housing that is legally restricted and subject to ongoing program 
enforcement.  

 

Figure 1 Examples of "Gentle Density" 

Lastly, we wish to emphasize that multifamily residential “density” can take many building forms and 
configurations and is not limited to large apartment buildings. Multifamily buildings can include rentals or 
ownership units as well as a variety of unit sizes. The additional, community housing-driven residential 
density identified in the Medium-Density Residential and High-Density Residential districts of the Future 
Land Use Map can be accommodated with “missing middle”/“gentle density”/ “incremental density” 

https://www.bcoha.org/uploads/2/3/1/4/23149336/blaineidnexusreport_07.25.2024.pdf
https://www.bcoha.org/uploads/2/3/1/4/23149336/blaineidnexusreport_07.25.2024.pdf
https://vimeo.com/showcase/9047871/video/1010436974


   

  3 

housing types that fit with the context and character of existing residential neighborhoods. We wish to 
reiterate that this form of housing can be as simple as a single-family home that is rehabilitated into 
multiple apartments and duplexes that are the same size and scale as a single-family home but house two 
families instead of one.  

We look forward to adoption of Ketchum’s updated Comprehensive Plan and development of the zoning 
tools to implement its community housing vision.   

Sincerely, 

 

 

Keith Perry 

Blaine County Housing Authority Board of Commissioners, Chair 

 

 

Carissa Connelly 
Housing Director 

 



  
  

 
 
 
 
 

208.788.6102 | INFO@BCOHA.ORG | WWW.BCOHA.ORG 
111 N 1ST AVE STE 2J, HAILEY, ID 83333 | PO BOX 4045, KETCHUM, ID, 83340 

 
 

 
January 3, 2024 

Memo 

To:  Chair Giannettino and Members of the Blaine County Planning and Zoning Commission 

From: Keith Perry, Chair 
Blaine County Housing Authority 

Subject: Text Amendment to Community Housing Overlay District 
 
On behalf of the Blaine County Housing Authority (BCHA), we write to comment on the proposed 
text amendment to the Community Housing Overlay District. Overall, Blaine County Housing 
Authority is supportive of the major concepts included in the amendment. More specifically, BCHA 
supports removing the maximum base density allowed in the CH-C subdistrict and instead regulate 
a maximum unit density through bulk, parking, open space, and design standards. This will enable, 
for a developer opting-in to the Community Housing Overlay District’s incentives, the opportunity to 
develop more housing units in a location identified for density while providing, at a minimum, a 
proportional increase in the number of community housing units developed. Bulk, parking, open 
space, and design standards will continue to ensure that future development meets the desired 
community character for the area while providing more flexibility in the precise number of units 
allowed. Second, BCHA is also supportive of allowing other community housing providers to 
develop, manage, and ensure compliance on community housing units enabled through use of 
the CH-PUD and other housing incentive tools. There are multiple trusted players in the community 
housing space throughout Blaine County, and BCHA is supportive of the work of mission-oriented 
housing partners to provide and administer community housing. 

BCHA is raising three concepts to consider in review of the proposed text amendment to ensure 
that the CH-PUD tool provides meaningful community housing benefits. 

Ensuring Community Housing Units are Available to the General Blaine County Public  
BCHA recognizes that 501(c)(3) public housing charities and other community housing partners 
have their own policies, procedures, and guidelines through which they achieve their missions. As 
such, BCHA is generally supportive of these organizations using their own policies, rather than 
BCHA’s, in operating community housing units. However, BCHA strongly feels that the public 
benefits, i.e. the community housing, provided through a density bonus tool like the CH-PUD, should 
be available to all qualified members of the public and prioritized for locals, including workers, 
seniors, and persons with disabilities. See also the definition of “Community Housing” in Section 9-35-
2:  

COMMUNITY HOUSING (CH): Ownership and rental residential housing that is price restricted to remain affordable to 
persons working in Blaine County, retired from working in Blaine County, or other groups of eligible persons according to 
BCHA guidelines or other recognized affordable housing guidelines approved by BCHA. 

There is significant employee housing need in the community, and BCHA recognizes that 
community housing operators may be interested in partnering with local employers to fill units with 



   

  2 

qualified employees. BCHA is supportive of employer-employee housing but finds that it can be 
problematic when an employee’s housing and employment come from the same organization. 
While employer-employee housing solutions are a necessary piece of our community’s complex 
housing challenge, at a minimum, the community housing units that are required to be provided 
through the CH-PUD, per the calculations in 9-25-10-A, should not be employer-employee units, but 
instead should be open to qualified members of the general public, as would be required under 
current BCHA policies. BCHA maintains a countywide waitlist of community housing applicants, and 
we request that our waitlist be used to facilitate referrals to any other community housing operator 
for units that are available to the public. Beyond this minimum community housing requirement, 
any other, non-required housing units developed could be used as employee units in direct 
partnership with local employers, if that is the developer or operator’s preference. 

Duration of Affordability Restrictions or Regulatory Agreements 
Second, BCHA firmly believes that the community housing benefits realized from development 
bonuses and incentives should be long-lasting, as the developer benefits themselves –like increases 
in buildable density– are. BCHA requests assurances that any required community housing units be 
restricted for long-term affordability to secure the public benefit provided in exchange for 
additional density. More specifically, BCHA requests that the term of any affordability covenant or 
regulatory agreement recorded for required community housing units be at least 65 years. While 
ideally any community housing units produced via this tool would be perpetually affordable, 65 
years is a legally defensible minimum term that BCHA uses in our own deed restrictions.  

With time, property often changes hands, and one cannot expect successors in ownership to hold 
the same intentions or values as an original developer. Upon expiration of an affordability restriction 
or regulatory agreement, there is no guarantee that units will continue to be affordable to local 
households and at the diversity of income ranges ensured via a formal restriction. Since the 1970s, 
home values have risen more quickly than incomes in Ketchum, leading to an ever-widening gap 
between what is affordable to the median-income household and what homeownership 
opportunities are available. This affordability gap has grown significantly since the 1990s, in 
Ketchum as well as Blaine County, across both for-sale and rental units, leading to a housing market 
that is increasingly out of financial reach of local, working households.  

Under new ownership and with the expiration of community housing restrictions, could these units 
not be converted to short-term rentals or rehabbed and converted to high-end condominium units 
or luxury rentals? 

Clarifying BCHA’s Role in the CH-PUD Process 
Finally, BCHA requests that the commission consider clarifying BCHA’s role within the alternative 
process outlined in the text amendment. As previously stated, BCHA is supportive of other 
community housing organizations, especially our local non-profits, stepping in to operate and 
manage compliance on community housing units. The existing language gives BCHA significant 
authority to shape the required community housing element in the CH-PUD as well as the form of 
the community housing affordability restriction. The proposed language complicates this role, 
particularly with regard to approval of the deed covenant or regulatory agreement (Section 9-35-
10.A.5.)and generally with regard to the application process.  

BCHA acknowledges that alternative policies and forms of legal restrictions may work better for 
other types of housing providers, like 501(c)(3) non-profits. BCHA wishes to support flexibility for those 
organizations to deliver on their mission while ensuring that certain, fundamental community 
housing elements are maintained – in this case, principally providing housing opportunities to the 
public and with long-term affordability guarantees.  

To that end, BCHA’s preference is to have a clear role as an advisory and recommending partner 
in review of applications associated with a CH-PUD, with ultimate authority and approvals 
controlled by the County Commission. BCHA is a willing partner and can play an advisory role to 



   

  3 

the County on formal applications throughout the CH-PUD process to ensure that our priorities and 
recommendations are considered, including details that may not be addressed through the 
language of this text amendment but are instead considered at the time of a formal project 
application.  

In review of this text amendment, please consider the potential implications of the proposed 
changes for not only the applicant, but for any current or future developer of the land. With the 
recommended considerations and requests in this letter, BCHA believes that this text amendment 
can help to effectively deliver long-term community housing benefits for the Blaine County public.  

Thank you for considering these comments. BCHA staff is available to answer questions as you 
continue to consider this item and other land use decisions.  

 

Keith Perry 
Blaine County Housing Authority Board of Commissioners, Chair 

 



  
  

 
 
 
 
 

208.788.6102 | INFO@BCOHA.ORG | WWW.BCOHA.ORG 
111 N 1ST AVE STE 2J, HAILEY, ID 83333 | PO BOX 4045, KETCHUM, ID, 83340 

 
 

 
January 21, 2025 

Memo Re: Text Amendment to Community Housing Overlay District – Follow up Comments 
 

To:  Chair Giannettino and Members of the Blaine County Planning and Zoning Commission 

From: Keith Perry, Chair, and Carissa Connelly, Housing Director 
Blaine County Housing Authority 

 
At the Commission’s request, we write to follow-up on our January 3 letter and to respond to other written 
feedback and the discussion at the Planning and Zoning Commission’s January 9 meeting. BCHA is a public 
entity and has provided housing policy advice to local Blaine County governments since its inception in 
1997. We appreciate the opportunity to provide comment on this text amendment and hope that it is 
helpful and productive in assisting the Commission’s review and recommendations.  

We want to reiterate our general support for the core concepts of the proposed text amendment: 1) 
allowing flexibility for density to be determined by site design, bulk and height standards and 2) allowing a 
non-profit housing provider to administer community housing units required through the CH-PUD tool. Still, 
however, there are a few key community housing policies that we feel need to be maintained, regardless of 
which entity is managing the required units. We also want to emphasize that any changes to the 
Community Housing Overlay text will apply to any future developer of the site and caution against 
approving highly specific amendments that may serve the immediate needs of a single applicant but could 
create loopholes or limit the effectiveness of the tool in providing substantial community housing benefits 
under different, future developers.  

 

Affordability Period (9-35-10.A.5.) 

BCHA remains concerned that the proposed affordability periods in the text amendment limit the long-term 
community housing benefits that the Community Housing Overlay is intended to achieve. The currently 
adopted overlay text does not presuppose an affordability period minimum or maximum, leaving the 
restriction details up to review by BCHA during subsequent review of the Planned Unit Development (PUD). 
Establishing a maximum term of 40 years for all restrictions created through this tool is particularly 
problematic, as this would limit the County’s ability to establish a longer term for any community housing 
units, including those created by a for-profit developer or any other applicant.   

Grounded Solutions, a national network of over 250 community land/housing trusts, created a deed 
covenant template approved by Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac. Many of these housing trusts manage 
applicant screening and compliance on units that result from density bonus codes. Grounded Solutions’ 
template uses a 99 year term and recommends restarting that term at any resale of a property (which 

http://www.bcoha.org/


   

  2 

BCHA practices). 1 As stated in our prior letter, we advocate for a 65+ year term for community housing 
units in Idaho per legal guidance and would support incorporating a minimum period in the text 
amendment, but we do not support establishing a maximum in the Community Housing Overlay code. The 
specific affordability period for a development will be reviewed and approved during PUD review along 
with the affordability covenant. BCHA reiterates that this affordability period would only be required for 
those community housing units which are required per the standards of the Community Housing PUD; any 
voluntary community housing units could have any affordability term. 

There has been some discussion of the affordability period and requirements for units produced through 
the Federal Low Income Housing Tax Credit (LIHTC) program. While the compliance period for LIHTC 
developments with the IRS is 15 years, federal law requires that these developments continue compliance 
with state housing finance agencies for a minimum of 30 years.2 Moreover, 31 states require more than 30 
years, with an average of 42 years.3 For example, Montana, Utah, and Massachusetts require 50 year-rent 
restriction, Oregon at least 60 years, and California 55 years. In Idaho, only applications that will be legally 
restricted for at least 40 years are competitive enough to receive funding through this program. 

When the IRS created the LIHTC program in 1986, it was under an assumption that the 30-year restriction 
would be adequate to “solve” the nation’s housing challenges. Research and analysis of the current state of 
housing clearly indicate that the affordability challenges of the 1980s have risen to crisis levels nationwide 
and locally.4 Since the early 2000s, LIHTC developments have begun converting to market rate due to a 
regulatory loophole, which is resulting in tenant displacement: There has already been displacement of 
thousands of households. In 2018, studies indicated that between 2020 and 2029 nearly 500,000 homes 
will age out of their affordability term while there continues to be dire need for such restrictions.5 As a 
result, state and federal officials are reassessing terms and incentives for continued affordability 
restrictions.6  

It is also important to note that the affordability requirements for LIHTC developments often vary from the 
requirements of local zoning incentive programs, which causes challenges for comparison. For example, 
LIHTC projects typically require a higher percentage of restricted units in a development and at deeper 
levels of affordability (i.e. targeted to lower incomes) than density bonus programs like the Community 
Housing Overlay (see 9-35-10, Table 3), which are designed to provide market incentives for the provision 
of community housing without financial subsidies. Density bonus incentives in other high-cost, high amenity 
communities in Wyoming and Colorado require the production of community housing restricted in 
perpetuity. The Puget Sound area, another tight housing market, requires at least 50 years.7 Community 
housing units produced through the City of Ketchum’s density bonus program have 65+ year terms, average 
80-100% AMI, and are administered by Blaine County Housing Authority. There are over 1,000 such local 
programs in the United States and 93% of those programs require 30 years or longer. Term renewal upon 
resale is also common.8 

With regards to Bluebird Village’s receipt of free land and a financial subsidy enabling the 65-year ground 
lease, even without those incentives the affordability period would – by nature of the program’s 
requirements – be at least 40 years, and the City of Ketchum maintains ownership of the land, thereby 
controlling its use. With a density bonus program, additional market rate units are subsidizing the smaller 
proportion of rent-restricted units. If a non-profit developer’s financing structure assumes selling at the end 
of an affordability period of 20 years without restrictions – and therefore at unaffordable rates – then there 
is clear need for a long-term restriction to ensure affordability.  

While in other communities across the United States, some housing stock in an area of disinvestment and 
out-migration (such as in the Rust Belt) might “filter down” to become “naturally occurring affordable 
housing” as it ages, the housing market dynamics in Blaine County and similar communities do not follow 



   

  3 

this trend.9 Even in weak housing markets, the end of a compliance period of rent-restricted housing often 
results in drastic increases in rent and displacement of tenants.10 In high-cost markets like Blaine County’s, 
there is an increased likelihood that formerly restricted units will reposition to higher, market-rate rents 
only affordable to vacation homeowners, short-term rental investors, remote workers, and retirees. Locally, 
studio condominium units built in the 1970s in the north valley are currently listed for sale for upwards of 
$400,000. To afford this, a one-person household would need to have $80,000 for a 20% downpayment and 
earn $99,200 annually (154% of Area Median Income for that household size) barring other financial 
expenses such as student loans and healthcare. With only $20,000 (5%) down, that individual would need 
to earn approximately $117,000 annually (181% of Area Median Income).   

Additionally, an important component of the affordability term is ongoing monitoring and compliance to 
ensure that the community housing units are meeting program goals (e.g. the units are filled with tenant 
households earning in the designated income categories and meeting local prioritization criteria). BCHA 
requests that developers that participate in this program provide annual compliance reports for BCHA’s 
review. 

 

Employee Housing (9-35-8.B.1 or 9-35-10-A) 

BCHA does not support allowing employee housing in-lieu of community housing, which is open to the 
general public and provides for the right to change local employers at-will without the risk of losing one’s 
home. By nature, employer-sponsored housing restricts occupancy of units to only employees of that 
company or organization, thus privileging those households above other community members and 
privileging those employers that are financially capable of participating. State and Federal housing 
programs require that any units that result from an incentive be available for public use.11  

As stated in our initial letter, BCHA understands that with limited resources and in our high-cost market, 
employee housing can be appealing to employers and provide much-needed resources for vital workers. If 
the Commission allows a non-profit housing organization to interchange employer housing with community 
housing, BCHA has drafted and can provide more specific recommendations regarding the relationship and 
expectations between the landlord/employer and tenant/employee. At a high level, BCHA requests that: 

• As the letter from Mr. Lee states, rather than only employees having access to a unit, employees 
would be prioritized for specific unit types, and there should be specific timeframes during which 
an employee “nomination” can occur. Units should become available to the general public if no 
prioritized employee is available to fill a vacant unit. This also de-risks the investment for the 
employer, the development’s returns, and means that a unit wouldn’t sit vacant for an 
unreasonable amount of time. 

• No more than 20% of the community housing units be designated as employer housing. Some 
housing programs – when there are enough units – enable designated employer units to float. This 
means that if an employee leaves the employment for whatever reason, that household can remain 
in their home and the next available unit would be designated as the employee unit.  

• That there be specific anti-displacement measures built into the leases. 
 
BCHA reiterates that our requests would apply only to those community housing units that are required by 
the overlay text and not to any additional, voluntarily restricted units, which could otherwise be market-
rate or have other employer/employee restrictions under both the existing and proposed standards. For 
example, as described in Table 3 in the code, if 60 unrestricted units are permitted, then an additional 15 
units averaging Category 4 (80-100% of AMI) would be required as community housing, or 20% of total 
units. The remaining 45 units could be employee and/or market-rate. 



   

  4 

BCHA Waitlist (9-35-8.B.1 or 9-35-10.A) 

During the winter of 2021 and 2022, BCHA’s Housing Director assisted in the research and analysis of the 
countywide housing need. Over 1,100 survey responses and 35 community-leader interviews countywide 
highlighted the need for a primary point of entry into housing.12 Community members in need of housing, 
and particularly those in crisis, found it challenging to navigate the housing resources in Blaine County. At 
that time – and recurrently since – local non-profits and a task force of community leaders identified BCHA 
as the optimal primary point of entry for housing. BCHA has invested substantial time, funding, and energy 
to effectively respond to this ask and now has a Common Intake Form that enables staff to refer applicants 
to other housing providers that they might be eligible for.  

BCHA (in one form or another) and its waitlist has been in existence since the late 1990s. As the County’s 
housing authority and a public entity, BCHA requests that the County continue to prioritize housing those 
on BCHA’s waitlist and fulfill the community’s request for BCHA to be the primary point of entry. Using 
BCHA’s waitlist does not preclude the ability of a participating entity to advertise or source referrals. It 
means, however, that BCHA would conduct initial screening and prioritization of any household that the 
participating entity considers and would first refer households that have been on BCHA’s waitlist the 
longest. The successful lease-up of Bluebird is evidence of the value of sourcing tenants from BCHA’s 
waitlist – some of whom were on BCHA’s waitlist for over two years – and amplifying the reach of 
Bluebird’s property management. 

Any housing provider that is granted additional rights or designated program funding must adhere to strict 
guidelines determined by the program. This includes LIHTC, HUD PBV, HUD HCV, PRAC 202, USDA Rural 
Housing, federally insured loans, local density bonus programs and more. The policies and practices of each 
provider must comply with the circumstances of their entitlement and funding. A density bonus program is 
meant to be an exchange – where the County gives away additional density in exchange for the community 
benefit of “community housing.” By definition, “community housing” includes requirements regarding 
eligibility and compliance, and BCHA’s waitlist and continued responsibilities are best positioned to ensure 
the provided community housing units meet these requirements.13  

 

Ongoing Compliance (9-35-8.B.1. or 9-35-10.A) 

As noted in our initial letter, BCHA recognizes that there are other community housing providers and 
administrators in our community, like ARCH and the Wood River Community Housing Trust, that can aptly 
fulfill the role of management and administration described explicitly for Blaine County Housing Authority 
in the current Community Housing Overlay code. Similarly, low-income housing developed through state 
and federal programs includes stringent management, administration and compliance, as well as state and 
often federal oversight. We are supportive of these organizations being allowed to participate in 
management of community housing required through the CH-PUD and other incentive tools.  

However, as the public entity which has long been responsible for reviewing plans and ensuring compliance 
on units that result from local government’s PUDs and density bonuses, BCHA requests that the County 
require developers that participate in this program to provide annual compliance reports for BCHA’s 
review.14 We also continue to believe that there is value in BCHA fulfilling the management and 
administrative role when the developer is not familiar with community housing or the local context, as 
suggested in ARCH’s comments. Under direction of BCHA’s Strategic and annual Action Plans, BCHA 
recently invested substantial time and money into transitioning to an application and compliance system 
that is efficient, effective, and easily scalable. 



   

  5 

BCHA’s Role (9-35-10) 
 
BCHA’s preference is to continue to review and provide input on applications associated with a CH-PUD, 
with ultimate authority and approvals controlled by the County Commission. As the County’s housing 
authority, this could be administered similarly to any other staff report, with BCHA acting as an extension of 
the County team rather than an additional first step. For greater efficiency and effectiveness, BCHA 
recommends the County’s planners collaborate on the staff report in advance of publication. The BCHA 
Board – and the community call for greater collaboration – already identified this reversion to the historic 
process as a goal.15 BCHA requests clarity on whether the staff report be co-written or BCHA continues to 
write a separate letter. 
 
The County is also not the sole jurisdiction with the requirement to consult with BCHA: The Cities of Hailey 
and Ketchum zoning codes reference BCHA as the local housing authority.16 BCHA recognizes and respects 
the finance, development, and operational experience of local community housing developers. The 
experience of a local non-profit developer does not negate the value that BCHA – as a public entity and 
data hub – provides in evaluating PUDs, even when the developer is a local community housing developer.  
 
BCHA’s understanding of local housing needs and unique depth of housing knowledge is informed by 
extensive research and education. BCHA facilitates and funds research and reports on topics affecting 
housing across Blaine County, including an Analysis of Impediments to Fair Housing Choice and an analysis 
of the impact of new development on community housing need. 17  
 
Most importantly, BCHA also facilitated countywide Housing Needs Assessments in 2006 and 2011 and 
conducted our own analysis in 2024. The needs and preferences specify unit count needed for current 
households and projected population growth, with breakouts by number of bedrooms, typology, location, 
tenure, and income levels. The 2024 Assessment is informed by two surveys (1,117 respondents in 2022 
and 869 respondents in 2023), interviews of 35 community leaders, a review of other local analyses, and 
Census and American Community Survey data. BCHA’s Strategic Plan explicitly states that BCHA will “serve 
as the single source of housing data, housing needs, and housing lists to support data-driven decision 
making,”18 and the Board believes we are meeting this need. BCHA also maintains a database of 
Community Housing countywide and tracks rental rates of advertised market units.  
 
BCHA’s recommendations are informed by staff’s direct experience in housing policy, finance, zoning, and 
development and, as such, can provide vital feedback to County staff and the Board: 

• BCHA’s Housing Director (Carissa Connelly) and Housing Program and Policy Strategist (Rian 
Rooney) both have master’s degrees in urban planning from Harvard University 

• Rian has years of experience as a Senior Planner in Teton County, Wyoming and has worked on 
housing policy and data analysis in Blaine County for 2.5 years 

• Carissa also has a master’s in real estate from Harvard University, underwrote financing for low-
income housing developments, improved housing policies for the state of Georgia, developed 
affordable housing for a community-based non-profit, has managed local housing efforts for 3+ 
years and grew up in the Wood River Valley 

The Board is also comprised of individuals with extensive and deep knowledge of local needs and local real 
estate: 

• Rentals and vulnerable community members: Two board members’ day jobs are to manage case 
workers at local non-profits, working directly with Blaine County’s most vulnerable community 
members (Jennifer Rangel at The Hunger Coalition and Sarah Seppa at St. Luke’s Center for 
Community Health). An additional board member is also a founding member of Blaine County 



   

  6 

Charitable Fund, which provides emergency financial assistance to locals, primarily to households 
who rent (Daryl Fauth). 

• Homeownership: Two board members work closely with local homebuyers – one has been a 
bilingual mortgage broker for the last 21 years (Ana Torres) and another is the president of a title 
company with 32 years of experience in local real estate transactions (Daryl Fauth) 

• Employee housing: The final Board member founded and ran a successful, local restaurant for 37 
years and assisted a number of employees in their search for housing stability (Keith Perry) 

BCHA would also like to clarify BCHA’s management and the relationship with the City of Ketchum. BCHA’s 
Board and the City of Ketchum executed a Contract for Services in February 2023. The City of Ketchum’s 
Housing Department was created at a time when BCHA had limited staff, funding, capability, and housing 
expertise and the County did not have the capacity to internalize BCHA’s staffing. Ketchum’s new Housing 
Department is comprised of qualified, public service professionals who report to the BCHA Board for all 
things under BCHA’s jurisdiction and scope of work, including any responsibilities outlined in city or county 
zoning code. 

BCHA itself was created and remains ultimately overseen by the County Commissioners. The BCHA Board of 
Commissioners is entirely separate from Ketchum’s City Council. Each jurisdiction in Blaine County has a 
right to appoint both one BCHA Board Member and one liaison.19  

Lastly, given BCHA’s role as the County’s Housing Authority and a public entity – with staff and capacity to 
work on housing full-time – BCHA also supports remaining the administrator of any cash in-lieu derived 
from the CH-PUD or assisting the County in administration of the funds (9-35-10-A.3). 

 

Required Community Housing Amounts (9-35-10.A.1 & 2; Tables 3 and 4)  

While the text amendment does not propose to amend the amount of community housing units or land 
required with this tool, it is worthwhile to consider adjusting these amounts given the current housing 
market context in Blaine County. BCHA believes that it is important to retain clear standards for minimum 
percentages of community housing units required (Table 3), however, the specific amounts and averages 
could be adjusted, and additional, higher income categories could be added with further analysis. In 
general, BCHA believes that the amount of community housing required should be increased. Later and 
with more time, BCHA can provide an analysis of the current requirements and propose recommendations.  

BCHA also supports analyzing and/or clarifying the effect of the proposed text amendment on 
developments utilizing the land conveyance method to ensure that it will deliver the intended community 
housing benefits. 

 

Thank you for your consideration of our comments. We are available for any additional questions.  

 

Keith Perry 
Blaine County Housing Authority Board of Commissioners, Chair 

 



   

  7 

 

Carissa Connelly 
Housing Director 

 

 
1 Grounded Solutions Network. “Commentary on the 2021 Model Declaration of Affordability Covenants with 
Refinance and Resale Restriction and Purchase Option.” https://groundedsolutions.org/resources/2021-model-deed-
restriction/#:~:text=The%202021%20Model%20Declaration%20of,companion%20template%20Model%20Subordinate
%20Mortgage. “Their commentary on the term limit states: “We have included a default term limit of 99 years to 
provide a very long enforceability period, but not an infinite and potentially unenforceable period of time. Still, it is 
beyond the scope of this project to provide guidance on what is permissible for an affordability term by funding 
source, state, or local law, and practitioners should seek legal counsel on the term appropriate for their jurisdictions. 
To keep Homes permanently affordable, we do recommend that the term be as long as permitted under local law, 
subject to the Rules Against Perpetuities and other statutory and common law in a given jurisdiction.” 

2 Shelterforce, “LIHTC for Regular People,” November 2023. https://shelterforce.org/2023/11/30/lihtc-for-regular-
people/#when-does-affordability-expire  

3 Lindsay, Taylor, and Tegeler, “Social Housing Goals in State Housing Allocation Plans,” March 2024, Poverty & Race 
Research Action Council. https://www.prrac.org/wp-content/uploads/2024/03/Social-Housing-50-state-survey.pdf  

4 Blaine County Housing Authority, “Blaine County Housing Needs Assessment,” 2024, 
https://www.bcoha.org/uploads/2/3/1/4/23149336/2024_bcha_housing_needs_assessment_report_web.pdf  

5 National Low Income Housing Coalition and the Public and Affordable Housing Research Corporation, “BALANCING 
PRIORITIES: Preservation and Neighborhood Opportunity in the Low-Income Housing Tax Credit Program Beyond Year 
30,” October 2018. https://nlihc.org/sites/default/files/Balancing-Priorities.pdf; Joint Center for Housing Studies of 
Harvard University, “The State of the Nation’s Housing, 2024.” 
https://www.jchs.harvard.edu/sites/default/files/reports/files/Harvard_JCHS_The_State_of_the_Nations_Housing_20
24.pdf  

6 National Council of State Housing Agency annual conferences, 2019, 2020. 

7 Puget Sound Regional Council, “Density Bonuses,” August 2020. https://www.psrc.org/media/2027  

8 Wand and Balachandran, “Inclusionary Housing in the United States,” 2019, Grounded Solutions Network, Pg. 6. 
https://groundedsolutions.org/wp-content/uploads/2021-01/Inclusionary_Housing_US_v1_0.pdf  

9 Gregg Colburn and Clayton Page Aldern, “Homelessness is a Housing Problem: How Structural Factors Explain U.S. 
Patterns,” March 2022. University of California Press. 

10 National Council of State Housing Agency annual conferences, 2019, 2020; National Low Income Housing Coalition 
and the Public and Affordable Housing Research Corporation, “BALANCING PRIORITIES: Preservation and 
Neighborhood Opportunity in the Low-Income Housing Tax Credit Program Beyond Year 30,” October 2018. 
https://nlihc.org/sites/default/files/Balancing-Priorities.pdf  

 

https://groundedsolutions.org/resources/2021-model-deed-restriction/#:%7E:text=The%202021%20Model%20Declaration%20of,companion%20template%20Model%20Subordinate%20Mortgage
https://groundedsolutions.org/resources/2021-model-deed-restriction/#:%7E:text=The%202021%20Model%20Declaration%20of,companion%20template%20Model%20Subordinate%20Mortgage
https://groundedsolutions.org/resources/2021-model-deed-restriction/#:%7E:text=The%202021%20Model%20Declaration%20of,companion%20template%20Model%20Subordinate%20Mortgage
https://shelterforce.org/2023/11/30/lihtc-for-regular-people/#when-does-affordability-expire
https://shelterforce.org/2023/11/30/lihtc-for-regular-people/#when-does-affordability-expire
https://www.prrac.org/wp-content/uploads/2024/03/Social-Housing-50-state-survey.pdf
https://www.bcoha.org/uploads/2/3/1/4/23149336/2024_bcha_housing_needs_assessment_report_web.pdf
https://nlihc.org/sites/default/files/Balancing-Priorities.pdf
https://www.jchs.harvard.edu/sites/default/files/reports/files/Harvard_JCHS_The_State_of_the_Nations_Housing_2024.pdf
https://www.jchs.harvard.edu/sites/default/files/reports/files/Harvard_JCHS_The_State_of_the_Nations_Housing_2024.pdf
https://www.psrc.org/media/2027
https://groundedsolutions.org/wp-content/uploads/2021-01/Inclusionary_Housing_US_v1_0.pdf
https://nlihc.org/sites/default/files/Balancing-Priorities.pdf


   

  8 

 
11 “General Public Use” for LIHTC under Section 42 

12 “Respondents indicated that they, or their clients, were often shuffled from one agency to the next in an attempt to 
access resources. Often these clients would complete a process only to find out that they did not meet the eligibility 
criteria, which may even specifically screen out some of the most vulnerable community members.” Ketchum’s 
inaugural Housing Action Plan, 2022-2023. https://www.projectketchum.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/05/Ketchum-
Housing-Matters_2022.2023_Action-Plan.pdf  

13 “9-35-2: DEFINITIONS: “COMMUNITY HOUSING (CH): Ownership and rental residential housing that is price 
restricted to remain affordable to persons working in Blaine County, retired from working in Blaine County, or other 
groups of eligible persons according to BCHA guidelines or other recognized affordable housing guidelines approved 
by BCHA.” And “COMMUNITY HOUSING UNIT (CHU): A residential housing unit that is subject to a deed covenant as a 
long term rental unit or as a unit for sale to eligible persons and households, based on applicable income and 
residency requirements.” 

14 BCHA Board meeting minutes from 2007 describe Board review of proposed PUDs in Blaine County, after which 
BCHA staff met with Blaine County planning staff to develop a recommendation for the County Commissioners. 

15 Blaine County Housing Authority, “Housing Action Plan, Fiscal Year 2025,” October 2024. 
https://www.bcoha.org/action-and-strategic-plans.html  

16 In Hailey, developers must submit a Community Housing Plan that is “in accordance with standards and criteria 
adopted by the local housing authority or as otherwise allowed by the Council” and Blaine County Housing Authority 
provides “oversight, review, and general assistance in the provision of community housing units in the city. 
(17.02.020)” City of Ketchum’s code includes PUD waivers where the “use, rental prices or maximum resale prices 
based upon a method proposed by the applicant and approved by the Blaine County Housing Authority and/or the 
Ketchum City Council.(16.08.080.A.2.)” 

17 Blaine County Housing Authority, “Blaine County Housing Needs Assessment,” August 2024, 
https://www.bcoha.org/uploads/2/3/1/4/23149336/2024_bcha_housing_needs_assessment_report_web.pdf; 
Economic & Planning Systems, Inc. “New Development’s Impacts on Community Housing Demand in Blaine County, 
Idaho,” July 2024. https://www.bcoha.org/uploads/2/3/1/4/23149336/blaineidnexusreport_07.25.2024.pdf  

18 BCHA’s Strategic Plan, June 2022. A variation on this wording is also in BCHA’s 2011 Strategic Plan. 
https://www.bcoha.org/uploads/2/3/1/4/23149336/bcha_5b_housing_final_strategic_plan_6.7  

19 The Board is currently comprised of representatives from Bellevue, Hailey, the County, Ketchum, and an at-large 
member. Currently, three of the five Board members are residents of Hailey, one of whom works in Bellevue. (One at-
large seat is a result of the City of Carey not nominating a representative and the BCHA Board will revisit nomination 
of a Sun Valley representative in the coming months.) Per state legislation, Board members cannot be an elected or 
government official. Liaisons can be an elected or government official and currently include a member of Bellevue City 
Council, Hailey’s Administration, a County Commissioner, and a Ketchum City Councilor. Liaisons cannot vote but can 
provide more precise feedback from the local governments’ they represent and act as an intermediary. 

https://www.projectketchum.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/05/Ketchum-Housing-Matters_2022.2023_Action-Plan.pdf
https://www.projectketchum.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/05/Ketchum-Housing-Matters_2022.2023_Action-Plan.pdf
https://www.bcoha.org/action-and-strategic-plans.html
https://www.bcoha.org/uploads/2/3/1/4/23149336/2024_bcha_housing_needs_assessment_report_web.pdf
https://www.bcoha.org/uploads/2/3/1/4/23149336/blaineidnexusreport_07.25.2024.pdf
https://www.bcoha.org/uploads/2/3/1/4/23149336/bcha_5b_housing_final_strategic_plan_6.7


  
  

 
 
 
 
 

208.788.6102 | INFO@BCOHA.ORG | WWW.BCOHA.ORG 
111 N 1ST AVE STE 2J, HAILEY, ID 83333 | PO BOX 4045, KETCHUM, ID, 83340 

 
 

 
March 26, 2025 

Memo Re: Text Amendment to Community Housing Overlay District 
 
To:  Chair Davis and Blaine County Commissioners 

From: Keith Perry, Chair, and Carissa Connelly, Housing Director 
Blaine County Housing Authority 

 
Blaine County Housing Authority (BCHA) is a public entity and has provided housing policy advice to local 
Blaine County governments since its inception in 1997. We write to provide brief follow-up comments 
regarding the Planning and Zoning Commission’s recommendation for the Commission’s consideration. 
Blaine County Housing Authority (BCHA) has provided multiple rounds of comments to the Blaine County 
Planning and Zoning Commission on the proposed text amendment to the Community Housing Overlay 
District. Those letters detail our primary concerns and recommendations regarding the text amendment.  

We appreciate that County staff engaged us early in the review process, as the proposed text amendments 
concern BCHA’s role and authority in the Community Housing PUD process. We also commend the Planning 
and Zoning Commission’s thoughtful and thorough consideration and review of the proposal. 

Clarification of Community Housing PUD Density Standards and Required Community Housing 

First, we have observed that there appears to be significant confusion regarding the application of the 
current Community Housing PUD Tool and its standards. For a clear, well-informed review, we hope the 
Board, staff, applicant, and public are all aligned on understanding of the how the tool, as currently written 
and with proposed amendments, works.  

The chapter defines “Base Density” as the total number of “free market” units per acre that could be 
developed within a given site under a CH-PUD. The number of community housing units required in 
exchange for receiving this additional free market base density are derived through Table 3.  

 

BASE DENSITY: The unit of measurement used to determine the number of possible free market 
units in a CH-PUD, provided all applicable standards of this chapter are met. If more than one 
subdistrict is involved, base density for the CH-PUD is the sum total of multiplying the number of 
acres within each subdistrict by the base density specified for each subdistrict. 

 

 

 



   

  2 

Table 3 

 Average Income Category Percentage CH Required 
   1 (up to 50% AMI)1 15% of units 
   2 (50% - 60% AMI)1 17% of units 
   3 (60% - 80% AMI) 21% of units 
   4 (80% - 100% AMI) 25% of units 

 

(On site residential example: 5 acre lot x 12 units per acre base density = 60 units. If CHUs average 
category 4: 60 units x 25% = 15 CHUs. 60 free market units shall be allowed plus the 15 CHUs.) 

The required community housing units in a given CH-PUD are determined using the average income 
category of the community housing units proposed. The required community housing units, as BCHA 
understands the text and example provided, would be in addition to the free-market units allowed via the 
base density; the percentages do not reflect the percentage of total units in a development that would be 
required community housing. In the example provided in the text, the 15 required community housing 
units, averaging income category 4, would constitute 20% of total units in the PUD. The Table 3 label, 
“Percentage CH Required”, can cause confusion and be interpreted as meaning that 25% of the total units 
are restricted community housing averaging Category 4. 

On-site community housing units may exceed the established base density, and BCHA believes that a 100% 
community housing development exceeding 12 units per acre in the CH-C subdistrict could be developed 
under the existing regulations.  Under the proposed text amendment, removing the maximum base density 
per acre, the number of non-community housing units developed would be constrained only by bulk, 
parking, open space and design standards, and the community housing units required would be determined 
based on the proposal at the CH-PUD, in accordance with the percentages established in Table 3.  

Minimum Requirements for Required Community Housing Units 

We remain generally supportive of non-profit housing organizations developing and administering 
community housing units throughout Blaine County and recognize that these organizations may have 
policies and procedures that differ from those of BCHA. Still, we feel strongly that a few fundamental 
standards should apply to administration of only the required community housing units determined by the 
calculations in Table 3 of the text. Any community housing units voluntarily exceeding the minimum 
requirement, free market, or other types of units would not be subject to these standards. While these 
standards could be negotiated and required through the Planned Unit Development review process, we 
recommend establishing clarity now, for both applicants and the public, and ask that these basic 
requirements be added to the text amendment language. 

1. Use of the BCHA Housing Wait List & Open to All Qualified Households. BCHA – as identified 
through extensive community engagement – is the optimal primary point of entry for housing 
in Blaine County and has invested in developing a Common Intake Form that enables our staff 
to refer applicants to relevant housing opportunities throughout the community. We support 
the text added by the Planning and Zoning Commission regarding use of the BCHA housing 
waitlist and suggest strengthening it to require that the waitlist be used for referrals to the 
required community housing units. Additionally, to meet the purpose of community housing, 
those required units should be open to occupancy by all qualified households in the general 
Blaine County public and should not be earmarked for specific employers. Referrals from the 



   

  3 

BCHA waitlist will ensure that occupying households are vetted for qualification and local 
prioritization by BCHA.  

2. Minimum Restriction Term of 65 Years. As discussed extensively in our letters to the Planning 
and Zoning Commission, establishing long-term restrictions is essential to ensuring that the 
community housing benefits the County receives through incentive tools like the CH-PUD are 
worth it. While we appreciate the Planning and Zoning Commission’s suggestion to remove the 
minimum and maximum terms in the original application, we find that the language allowing 
for a “reduced covenant length of time” with higher percentages of community housing is 
vague, as no time period is established in the regulations. Deed restrictions used throughout 
Blaine County have always been long-term covenants, and moving away from this convention 
would be a significant step backward for community housing policy.   

Thank you again for your service to the community and thoughtful review of this text amendment. BCHA 
staff is available to answer any questions. 

  

 

Keith Perry 
Blaine County Housing Authority Board of Commissioners, Chair 

 

 

Carissa Connelly 
Housing Director 

 













 
 

Index Based Resale Formula 
 

Index Based Formula 
Summary 

Index Based Formula Language & 
Example 

Advantages of the Index 
Based Formula 

Disadvantages of the 
Index Based Formula 

In an Indexed Based 
Formula, the homeownerÕs 
initial affordable price (what 
they paid to buy their home 
Ð or the Òbase priceÓ in the 
formula language) is 
increased over time by the 
% change in a published 
index over time.  
 
The most common index 
used is the Area Median 
Income (AMI).  Since 
programs often strive to 
make their homes affordable 
to buyers earning the same 
percentage of median 
income over time, tying the 
resale price to the AMI may 
help achieve that goal.   
 
Another index used by some 
Programs is the Consumer 
Price Index (CPI).  In some 
markets, CPI is tied more 

The Formula Price shall be equal 
to: 
(a) The amount of HomeownerÕs 

Base Price (which the Program 
and Homeowner agree is 
$_______) plus  

(b) An amount equal to the 
HomeownerÕs Base Price 
multiplied by the total 
percentage of increase, since 
the date this Agreement was 
signed, in the ___________ 
Index, as determined and 
published by the 
____________________ or 
such successor agency as may 
publish such index. 

(c) In no event may the average 
annual increase exceed 
 %.  

(d) The parties agree that when 
the Agreement was signed the 
________Index number (the 
Original Number) was ______.   

1. Assuming interest 
rates are stable and 
the Program uses the 
AMI index, this 
formula ties price to 
changes in median 
income, which keeps 
the home theoretically 
affordable, 

2. May be calculated at 
any time, and 

3. Easy to administer. 
 

1. Figures are released 
periodically and the 
timeframe for release 
may vary,  

2. There is no 
relationship between 
the condition of the 
home and the price, 

3. In weak markets, 
increases in index 
may outstrip increases 
in housing market 
values,  

4. Changes in the way 
the index is calculated 
can mean spikes/dips 
in the index, and 

5. The AMI index tends 
to be erratic, 
remaining flat for 
several years and 
then increasing 
substantially in other 
years. 



closely to wages (as 
opposed to investment 
income etc. that all ends up 
in the AMI figures) and 
generally changes more 
steadily than does AMI.  
 

To determine the percentage of 
increase in the Index, the 
Original Number shall be 
subtracted from the most 
recently published Index 
number, and the remainder 
shall then be divided by the 
Original Number. 

 
Example: 
(a) Base Price = $150,000 
(b) AMI for a HH of 4 at the time of 

Initial Purchase = $48,000 
(c) AMI for a HH of 4 at the time of 

resale = $56,000 
(d) % Change in AMI = (56,000 Ð 

48,000)/48,000 = 16.67% 
(e) Capped at an average of 3% 

per year = 16.67/8 years = 
2.1%/year (therefore use 
change in index) 

(f) Base Price X 1+change in 
index = $150,000 X 1.167 = 
Formula Price of $175,050. 

 
 

 
  



 
Appraisal Based Resale Formula 

 
Appraisal Based Formula 

Summary 
Appraisal Based Formula 

Language & Example 
Advantages of the Appraisal 

Based Formula 
Disadvantages of the 

Appraisal Based Formula 
In a Appraisal Based 
Formula, the homeownerÕs 
initial affordable price (what 
they paid to buy their home 
Ð or the Òbase priceÓ in the 
formula language) is 
increased over time by 
adding to it a specified 
percentage of the increase 
in the homeÕs market value.  
The increase in market 
value is measured by market 
appraisals at the time of 
initial purchase and the time 
of resale. While Programs 
can choose any percentage 
to allocate to the 
HomeownerÕs price at 
resale, the most common 
percentage is 25%.  

The Formula Price shall be 
equal to:  
(a) The amount of 

HomeownerÕs Base Price 
as stated below, plus 
____% of the increase in 
appraised market value.  

(b) Program and 
Homeowner agree that 
the Base Price is 
$_______.   

(c) The increase in 
appraised market value 
is calculated as: 
I. The appraised market 

value at the time of 
resale, minus 

II. The appraised market 
value at the time of 
initial purchase, which 
the Program and the 
Homeowner agree 
was ________.  

 
Example: 
(a) Base Price = $150,000 

1. Allow homeowners to 
realize a modest 
percentage of the 
increase in market value 
of their specific home, 

2. Provides a modest 
reward for 
improvements, 

3. Provides a modest 
penalty or reward for 
condition, and 

4. Depending on how the 
formula is written, an 
appraisal based resale 
formula can protect the 
Program against losses 
in falling markets.   

1. Inconsistent appraisals 
can make program hard 
to implement and create 
conflict, 

2. Cannot calculate price 
without commissioning 
an appraisal, and 

3. In hot markets, may not 
adequately protect 
affordability.  



(b) Appraised Value at the 
time of Sale = $300,000  

(c) Initial Appraised Value = 
$215,000 

(d) Increase in appraised 
market value = $85,000 

(e) Homeowners Share of 
Increase = $85,000 X 
25% = $21,250 

(f) Base Price of $150,000 + 
HomeownerÕs Share of 
Increase of $21,250 = 
Formula Price of 
$171,250 

 
Note:  The language above 
refers to ÒincreasesÓ in 
appraised market value.  
Some Programs specify a 
different formula that is used 
if market values fall.  

 







3 | © PRESIDENT AND FELLOWS OF HARVARD COLLEGE Joint Center for Housing Studies of Harvard University

Benefits of Traditional Homeownership

• Provides security of tenure—owner decides when to move rather 
than landlord

• Significant freedom to change the home and landscaping
• Financial benefits

• Most housing costs are frozen at affordable levels
• Opportunity to build assets through (a) forced savings and (b) home price 

appreciation 

• Can be the primary way to access neighborhoods with desirable 
features where renting is much less common



4 | © PRESIDENT AND FELLOWS OF HARVARD COLLEGE Joint Center for Housing Studies of Harvard University

Risk of Traditional Homeownership

• Financial risks:
• Home prices may stagnate or decline

• Overexposure to one asset class

• Possibility of foreclosure due to job loss or health crisis

• Danger from unsafe mortgage products

• High transaction costs to buy or sell

• Some homeowners may struggle with physical upkeep of home
• Affordability constraints limit neighborhood options



5 | © PRESIDENT AND FELLOWS OF HARVARD COLLEGE Joint Center for Housing Studies of Harvard University

Affordability Gap Increasing Over Time as Home Prices Rise 
Faster Than Incomes

Source: Rick Jacobus from Jacobus and Lubell. Preservation of Affordable Homeownership: A Continuum of Strategies (Center for Housing Policy, 2007)



6 | © PRESIDENT AND FELLOWS OF HARVARD COLLEGE Joint Center for Housing Studies of Harvard University

Shared Equity Homeownership (SEH) as New Paradigm

Two Key Characteristics
• Provides deep subsidy to enable ownership by lower-

income/lower-wealth households
• Requires the sharing of appreciation in value between 

owner and the ‘community’ to pass down the value of the 
subsidy to subsequent homebuyers

Rental              Ownership



7 | © PRESIDENT AND FELLOWS OF HARVARD COLLEGE Joint Center for Housing Studies of Harvard University

Key Components of Shared Equity Homeownership

1. Source of Subsidy to Reduce Cost of Home to the 
Buyer

2. Resale Restrictions on Price of Home to Maintain 
Affordability Overtime

3. Equity Sharing Mechanism to Allow Owners to Realize 
Some Share of Appreciation

4. Organization to manage housing overtime to ensure 
sustainability and continued affordability (stewardship)



8 | © PRESIDENT AND FELLOWS OF HARVARD COLLEGE Joint Center for Housing Studies of Harvard University

SEH Has the Potential to Retain Benefits of Owning While Also 
Mitigating Risks

• Retained Benefits:
• Owners fully control the home and so have security of tenure and right to 

modify as they see fit
• Programs can be designed to supply housing in strong neighborhoods—some 

evidence that they do
• Locks in housing costs and provides opportunity for wealth building—although 

appreciation is limited
• Mitigation of Risks

• Subsidy absorbs risk of price declines
• Stewardship provides supports post purchase 



9 | © PRESIDENT AND FELLOWS OF HARVARD COLLEGE Joint Center for Housing Studies of Harvard University

Forms of SEH

• Community Land Trusts
• Split ownership of land and improvements

• Limited Equity Cooperatives
• Like traditional cooperative but with limitations on share price growth

• Deed Restricted Homeownership
• Shared Appreciation Mortgages

• Household-based (as opposed to house-based)
• Had been rare but start-ups now popping up in this space and State of 

California launching new program



10 | © PRESIDENT AND FELLOWS OF HARVARD COLLEGE Joint Center for Housing Studies of Harvard University

Equity Sharing Formulas

• Appraisal-based formulas
• E.g., homeowner keeps 25% of appreciation 
• Typically don’t preserve affordability for next buyer as prices grow 

faster than incomes

• Index-based formulas
• E.g., resale price limited to change in AMI, CPI, etc. 

• Affordable Housing Cost
• Price guaranteed to be affordable to next buyer at specified income, 

which incorporates both changes in income levels and interest rates



11 | © PRESIDENT AND FELLOWS OF HARVARD COLLEGE Joint Center for Housing Studies of Harvard University

Initial Purchase

• Market Value = $250,000

• $40,000 subsidy brings price down to $210,000, affordable to family at target income range

• Family contributes $10,000, with 30-year fixed mortgage for $200,000 at 5 percent interest

Affordability at Resale

• Home prices have increased 18% over a six-year period, so market value = $295,000

• Incomes have gone up 12%, so sales price limited to what target family can afford = $235,200

Resale Price

• Note that subsidy has now grown to $60,000

• Family sells for $235,200 so earn price gain of $25,200 plus principal paydown of $20,129 for total gain of $45,329 

SEH Example



12 | © PRESIDENT AND FELLOWS OF HARVARD COLLEGE Joint Center for Housing Studies of Harvard University

Benefits of SEH 

• For the Community:
• Single investment helps one generation of homeowners after another, 

stretching scarce gov’t resources to help more people with fixed $$s

• Help 2 to 5 times more households over a 30-50 year period

• Opportunity to lock-in affordability in gentrifying areas and opportunity-rich 
communities to maintain access to low/moderate income households 

• For the Individual:
• Most of the benefits of homeownership

• Opportunity to ‘own’ where otherwise would not be financially feasible

• Fewer risks (e.g., foreclosure, risk of loss at resale)



13 | © PRESIDENT AND FELLOWS OF HARVARD COLLEGE Joint Center for Housing Studies of Harvard University

Outcomes from SEH Over Time (Temkin et al., 2013)

• Buyers are found to realize sizeable gains in wealth with rates of 
returning exceeding other investments

• Affordability is retained over time for subsequent buyers
• Low levels of default and foreclosure among these low-income buyers
• Homeowners were insulated from falling prices by the difference 

between market value and resale price
• No indication buyers move less—not locked in by program
• But little known about neighborhood outcomes
• And no clear differences in outcome associated with type of SEH



14 | © PRESIDENT AND FELLOWS OF HARVARD COLLEGE Joint Center for Housing Studies of Harvard University

Limitations of SEH

• Requires subsidy
• But can be implicit, like inclusionary housing

• And we are already spending HOME and other $$s on affordable homeownership

• Administrative complexity and cost
• Potential for buyer confusion and more generally lack of consumer 

acceptance
• Not appropriate for all markets or neighborhoods (in places where homes 

are affordable no need for deep subsidies)
• Equity concerns associated with limiting owners right to gains in value—

particularly when programs are aimed at people of color 



15 | © PRESIDENT AND FELLOWS OF HARVARD COLLEGE Joint Center for Housing Studies of Harvard University

What would it take to go to scale?

• To start with, a consensus that the goal is worth pursuing
• We would need greatly expanded funding for subsidy

• Local govt: HOME, Inclusionary Zoning
• State: State homeownership programs
• New federal program?

• New funding and administrative infrastructure for stewardship
• Standardization of program structures to facilitate financing 



16 | © PRESIDENT AND FELLOWS OF HARVARD COLLEGE Joint Center for Housing Studies of Harvard University

Where I Come Out

• Given substantial gaps in homeownership among low- and moderate-income 
households of color, we’ll need to do more than expand ability to qualify for a 
mortgage to make homeownership possible

• Providing large subsidies seem inequitable as only a small number of households 
will be able to benefit

• Shared equity homeownership in gentrifying areas also provides a means of 
retaining access by lower-income households to these communities as prices rise

• But I’m sympathetic to argument that allowing owners to keep the subsidy and 
build substantial wealth has a strong equity case for people of color given that 
historical discrimination has limited ability to accrue wealth

• Tony Pickett from Grounded Solutions will join us on Wednesday to discuss their 
work as an advocate for shared-equity models



�+ �2�(�,�1 �1�/�,�1�(

Citation:
Julie Farrell Curtin; Lance Bocarsly, CLTs: A Growing
Trend in Affordable Home Ownership, 17 J. Affordable
Hous. & Cmty. Dev. L. 367  (2008)


Provided by: 
Harvard Law School Library

Content downloaded/printed from HeinOnline

Sun Feb 18 20:55:43 2018

-- Your use of this HeinOnline PDF indicates your acceptance
   of HeinOnline's Terms and Conditions of the license
   agreement available at http://heinonline.org/HOL/License

-- The search text of this PDF is generated from 
   uncorrected OCR text.

-- To obtain permission to use this article beyond the scope
   of your HeinOnline license, please use:

Copyright Information

                                     Use QR Code reader to send PDF to
                                     your smartphone or tablet device 













372 Journal of Affordable Housing Volume 17, Number 4 Summer 2008

3. 1990s and 2000s: Local Governments Invest in CLTs

The 1990s and the 2000s have seen a boom in the creation of CLTs.
Eighty percent of the CLTs that responded to the Lincoln survey were
formed since 1990. Fifty-two CLTs formed during the first six years fol-
lowing 2000, compared to thirty-nine during the previous decade. The
activists, individuals, community groups, and local governments who
formed these CLTs did so in response to the rising cost of housing. The
role of local government support in the formation of CLTs increased dur-
ing this timeframe. 19

Why has there been a recent rise in the interest in CLTs? The explanation
most likely comes from a combination of the following factors: (i) greater
acceptance of the CLT as a mechanism for providing affordable housing;
(ii) more resources available to help start-up CLTs, such as consultants,
funding, and educational literature; and (iii) the growing appeal of perma-
nent affordability restrictions for home ownership.

C. Riding the CLT Trend Along the
Roller-Coaster of the Real Estate Market

A CLT is a long-term affordable housing strategy that is designed to
provide housing benefits to the community during the ups and downs of
the real estate market.

1. Why CLTs Appeal to Policymakers
During the Boom Times

From 2001 through 2005, real estate values increased at record rates in
many parts of the country. The rising cost of housing may be the primary
reason that a relatively large number of new CLTs were established during
this time.20 Why have so many government entities and community groups
turned to the CLT model?

a. Leveraging Limited Subsidy for Maximum Benefit

One reason CLTs have been more popular is because a CLT leverages
limited housing dollars to benefit the maximum number of low-income
families. Jurisdictions that used soft second mortgages, for example, did
not have sufficient funds to cover the rapidly expanding gap between af-
fordability and housing cost. Additionally, local government policies gen-
erally did not allow for large loans. Consequently, fewer and fewer people
could take advantage of soft second programs.

By contrast, a CLT can lock a limited housing subsidy into permanently
affordable housing. The CLT uses the funds to lower the sales price of the
home for the initial buyer and each subsequent buyer without the infusion of
additional public dollars. This guarantees that the units created with public
dollars will stay affordable as the CLT maintains the low-income use of the
properties for many generations.

The potential for "windfalls" may be another reason more jurisdictions
turned to the CLT model of affordable home ownership. Real estate values



Community Land Trusts

rose so quickly in some areas, allowing a low-income home owner to sell
the home, pay off the soft second, and receive a large "profit." Even though
the jurisdiction recovered its subsidy, the dollars recovered no longer were
sufficient to help another low-income family buy a home. A CLT's ground*
lease prevents this problem by regulating the resale price of the home to
provide a fair return to the seller while keeping the home affordable to the
buyer.

b. Taking the Cost of Land out of the Equation
CLTs serve as "land banks." By retaining the ownership of the land, the

CLT preserves the land for low-income use long into the future. Subtract-
ing the land cost from the cost of housing makes the housing more afford-
able. This is especially true in a rapidly appreciating real estate market
where the demand for land far exceeds both the supply of this limited
resource and appreciation in income levels for low- and moderate-income
families. Viewed over the long term, this aspect of the CLT model seems
essential to meeting the need for affordable home ownership since land
values will continue to rise despite any temporary downturns in the hous-
ing market.

2. Why CLTs Appeal to Policymakers
During the Bad Times

If the rising cost of housing was a major factor inspiring the creation of
the majority of CLTs formed since 2000, are CLTs still an attractive model
after the "crash" in the real estate market? Arguably the rationale for using
a CLT to create affordable home ownership opportunities is even more
compelling in a market such as today's when we see record foreclosure
rates and dropping home values.

a. Tool for Preventing Predatory Lending
Many parts of the country have reported record foreclosure rates in

recent months.21 The diverse array of mortgage products that helped fuel
the boom of the earlier part of the century has contributed to the housing
market's downturn. People who previously did not qualify for a mortgage
were able to get one; however, these mortgages came at a price: higher in-
terest rates, variable rates, and/or little to no underwriting to verify that the
borrower's income could support the loan. Borrowers may not have under-
stood the terms of their loans and the lenders or mortgage brokers selling
the loans did not adequately explain the risks involved in the transaction.

CLTs work very closely with their home buyers to ensure a compre-
hensive understanding of the home purchase process. Many CLTs provide
home buyers with home ownership training and financial counseling. This
alerts the home buyers to the risks and responsibilities associated with
home ownership before they purchase a home.

Also, the CLT builds protections against predatory lending into its
ground lease. A CLT ground lease typically includes a prohibition on



374 Journal of Affordable Housing Volume 17, Number 4 Summer 2008

mortgaging the leasehold estate unless the mortgage is a purchase money
mortgage from an institutional lender. All other mortgages require CLT
approval. This gives the CLT an opportunity to spot a problem loan before
the home owner signs the loan documents and runs the risk of becoming
financially overextended and losing the house.

b. Assistance for Home Owners in Default
The CLT serves as a safety net in the event that a home owner gets into

financial trouble. A CLT conditions its approval of a leasehold mortgage on
the home owner's lender agreeing to provide the CLT with notices of de-
fault under the mortgage and to give the CLT the right to cure such defaults
before the lender accelerates the note. This allows the CLT to work with the
home owner to find a way to solve the financial problem and prevent fore-
closure. This kind of close relationship between the CLT and home owner
is not available to a non-CLT home owner who often faces the loss of his or
her home alone.'

II. Common CLT Issues

Each CLT varies considerably depending on the individuals involved, its
geographic location and scope, its sources of funding, and many other fac-
tors. However, almost all CLTs face several common issues. The issues vary
depending on whether the CLT is in the formation process and whether the
CLT owns land, develops and sells housing on that land, and/or manages
the resale of homes on its land. In this part we will highlight some of these
key issues, starting with those that arise in the formation process and con-
cluding with those that impact more-established CLTs.

A. CLT Organizational Structure
A CLT's organizers must decide what corporate structure is appropriate

for the CLT's goals. This decision determines who has the power to make
important decisions regarding the CLT's activities. Various CLT structures
have evolved over time and across localities.

1. Classic CLT Structure
The Institute for Community Economics (ICE) has been a leader in pro-

motion of the CLT concept. Through its Community Land Trust Legal Manual
it has supplied scores of new CLTs with model articles of incorporation, by-
laws, and ground leases. These model documents reflect ICE's philosophy
regarding the purpose of CLTs, and their use has influenced the structural
and other decisions made by many CLTs.

ICE incorporated the "classic CLT structure" in its model articles and
bylaws. The model documents reflect ICE's belief that the purpose of a
CLT is to allow the community, rather than the private market, to make
decisions regarding the use of land. Therefore, the classic CLT is a demo-
cratically governed, nonprofit membership corporation. Membership is



Community Land Trusts

typically divided into classes: (i) persons who own homes on land leased
from the CLT (the Lessee Members), (ii) persons residing within the CLT's
community (the Non-Lessee Members), and (iii) members of the general
public who support the CLT.

Lessee and Non-Lessee Members elect the board of directors (the Board)
and vote on important CLT matters such as changes to the CLT's purpose
and resale formula. In the classic structure, the CLT's Board typically has
nine, twelve, or fifteen members. The Board consists of one-third Lessee
Members, one-third Non-Lessee Members, and one-third representatives
of the general public who have important knowledge, relationships, and/
or resources to contribute to the CLT's efforts. This is called the "Tri-Partite"
structure.

23

Not all CLTs have adopted the Tri-Partite structure. Nor are all CLTs
independent corporations. Some CLTs are programs of larger nonprofits.
Typically, the parent nonprofit has a mission to provide affordable housing
and the CLT is another tool for the parent to meet this mission. One of the
advantages to this approach is that the CLT benefits from the experience
and reputation of the parent, especially in technical areas such as housing
development. Also, the CLT may have lower operating expenses since they
are shared with the parent.

Not all CLTs have members. The Lincoln Institute survey found that 70
percent of CLTs established as independent corporations have members,
while only 20 percent of the CLT programs have members.24 The advan-
tage to having members is that they make the CLT more responsive to the
community's needs. The disadvantage of maintaining a membership is
the large amount of time and resources required to develop the capacity of
the members. Another challenge is that the CLT cannot make certain deci-
sions quickly because they entail calling a membership meeting, assembling
a quorum, and garnering sufficient membership support for the decision.

2. Conflicts of Interest and the Classic Structure
The Tri-Partite structure presents an increased potential for conflicts of

interest because Lessee Members, who have ground leases with the CLT,
serve on the Board. This raises an issue for CLTs (i) seeking a determination
by the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) that it is a tax-exempt organization
under § 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code (the Code) and (ii) receiv-
ing federal funding under the HOME Investment Partnership Program
(HOME).

The IRS strongly encourages each tax-exempt organization to adopt a
conflict-of-interest policy. 5 The IRS defines conflict of interest as "when a
person in a position of authority may benefit personally from a decision he
or she could make." 26 Lessee Members serving on a CLT Board may benefit
from decisions affecting their ground leases; therefore, a conflict of inter-
est may exist. CLTs applying for tax exemption should adopt a conflict-
of-interest policy and clearly tell the IRS how the CLT will handle such
conflicts in a manner that is in the best interests of the organization.



376 Journal of Affordable Housing Volume 17, Number 4 Summer 2008

The rules for HOME funding prohibit persons with the authority to
make decisions regarding the use of HOME funds (i.e., Board members) to
personally benefit from the use of the HOME funds.2" This rule would likely
apply to a Lessee Member sitting on a CLT Board whose home was built
with HOME funds, possibly warranting recusal from any HOME-related
decisions. However, HOME rules allow the governmental entity that al-
locates the HOME funds to request an exception to the conflicts rule. One
factor weighing in favor of granting the exception is "whether the person
receiving the benefit is a member of a group or class of low-income persons
intended to be the beneficiaries of the assisted housing, and the exception
will permit such person to receive generally the same interest or benefits
as are being made available or provided to the group or class." 28 This sce-
nario seems to apply to a Lessee Member of a CLT Board. Nevertheless, a
CLT should carefully evaluate these conflicts rules when making decisions
regarding the use of HOME funds.

3. Obtaining Tax Exemption for Affordable
Home Ownership Activities

Obtaining tax exemption under § 501(c)(3) of the Code for a new CLT
can be a challenging process. Typically CLTs qualify for tax exemption as
organizations organized for a "charitable" purpose. Some of the charitable
purposes recognized by the IRS include relief of the poor, the distressed,
or the underprivileged; lessening the burdens of government; lessening of
neighborhood tensions; and combating community deterioration and juve-
nile delinquency.29 In Revenue Procedure 96-32, the IRS has provided a safe
harbor for housing organizations to demonstrate that they provide relief of
the poor and distressed. This safe harbor sets maximum income limits for
persons occupying the housing produced by the charitable organization.'
Depending on the CLT's particular real estate market and its target popula-
tion, it may not be able to produce for-sale housing at low enough prices to
be affordable to persons whose income levels fall within the safe harbor.3"
If this is the case, the CLT must find alternative grounds for qualifying for
exemption.

B. Land Acquisition and Development Financing

Due to the high cost of real estate in many parts of the country, CLTs
have increasingly struggled to acquire land. CLT land acquisition strategies
are as diverse as are CLTs. Some strategies include seller financing, land do-
nations from private parties and public entities, the use of eminent domain,
inclusionary zoning, and traditional real estate financing.

Sources of financing for the development of housing on CLT land are
similarly diverse. These sources include federal funds, such as HOME32

and Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) funds, and, in the case
of rental housing, Low Income Housing Tax Credits (Tax Credits) pursuant
to § 42 of the Code. CLTs commonly fund housing development with state
and local dollars. Public funds almost always come with specific afford-



Community Land Trusts 377

ability restrictions applicable to the housing. Therefore, the terms of these
restrictions and the CLT's ground lease must be compatible.33

C. CLTs and Resale Restrictions

A CLT maintains the affordability of the housing on its land through its
ground lease. The ground lease gives the CLT an option to buy the home at
a "formula price" in the event the home owner decides to sell. The CLT then
either exercises its option and sells the home to an "income-eligible buyer"
at the formula price or assigns the option to an income-eligible buyer who
buys the home at the formula price. Either the CLT or the seller may find
the income-eligible buyer who purchases the home for the formula price.

A CLT balances the competing goals of affordability and wealth build-
ing in its resale formula. The ground lease usually sets the maximum price
of a CLT home at the lesser of (i) fair market value or (ii) the formula price.
The type of resale formula that a CLT adopts depends on the CLT's philoso-
phy regarding home ownership.34

1. The Great Debate: Wealth Building versus Affordability

CLTs focused on preserving affordability will likely adopt a resale for-
mula that links the resale price to a fixed index that measures the increase
in a low-income household's buying power. A commonly used index is area
median income (AMI). By linking the resale price to AMI, a CLT ties hous-
ing appreciation to income appreciation. Housing prices will remain af-
fordable if they grow with people's earning power. Allowing some growth
in the resale value of the home gives the seller an opportunity to build a
modest amount of equity in the home.

Another formula that favors affordability is a mortgage-based formula.
This formula provides that the resale price must be affordable to a family at
a predetermined income level. The amount of down payment and monthly
mortgage payment the income-eligible buyer can afford given the interest
rates and underwriting standards at the time of the sale determines the
resale price.

Many CLTs use an appraisal-based formula that often favors the wealth-
building side of the equation. This formula requires two appraisals, one at
the time of the original purchase and the other at the time of the subsequent
sale. The seller recovers the original purchase price plus a specified per-
centage (e.g., 20 percent) of the difference between the original appraisal
and the subsequent appraisal. Alternatively, the percentage of appreciation
recovered by the seller may grow based on the number of years the seller
has owned and occupied the home (e.g., 1 percent per year). Depending on
the amount of appreciation, the home may or may not be affordable to a
low-income buyer at the time of resale. 35

2. The CLT Home: An Asset to Pass on to One's Heirs

Because CLTs often want to provide a product that is as close to fee
simple home ownership as possible, they permit transfers of the home to







380 Journal of Affordable Housing Volume 17, Number 4 Summer 2008

provide training and financial counseling services that help home owners
obtain and maintain the dream of home ownership.

1. Predatory Lending Protections
As discussed above, the CLT ground lease prohibits a home owner from

mortgaging its leasehold interest without the CLT's approval unless the
loan is a purchase money mortgage from an institutional lender. The home
owner must submit all mortgage documentation to the CLT for approval.
This allows the CLT to identify potentially predatory practices and prevent
its home owners from falling victim to any schemes that might result in
future disaster.

2. CLT Home Ownership Training Services
Many CLTs provide home ownership training.43 Education is a power-

ful tool against predatory lending practices. When home buyers under-
stand the terms of their loan and how those terms relate to their personal
financial situation, they are able to assess their ability to make mortgage
payments. Educated home owners also understand the consequences of
defaulting on a mortgage, including the risk of foreclosure and loss of one's
home. Often, CLTs require potential home buyers to participate in home
ownership training and/or financial counseling to become eligible to pur-
chase a home on CLT land. Some CLTs partner with other nonprofits that
provide training to their home buyers. Whether a CLT conducts the train-
ing or outsources it to partners, the CLT plays an important role in giving
low-income home buyers the tools to become, and remain, successful home
owners.

III. Issues in Context: CLT Case Studies

Each of more than 180 CLTs across the country is a unique organization
with a slightly, or sometimes significantly, different take on the CLT model.
However, all CLTs face similar issues of how to finance land acquisition
and how to make home ownership affordable yet meaningful. By high-
lighting CLTs in two different regions in the country-the Northeast and
southern California-we hope to illustrate some of the diversity and cre-
ativity across the CLT community.

A. CLTs and Local Governments
Many local governments are eager to increase home ownership rates in

their jurisdictions. As we have discussed, local governments have a long
history of supporting home ownership initiatives with public dollars and
other programs. Here we contrast two CLTs and their relationships with
their local governments.

1. Dudley Street Neighborhood Initiative:
Boston, Massachusetts

Formed in 1988, Dudley Neighbors Inc. (DNI), the CLT affiliate of the
Dudley Street Neighborhood Initiative in Boston, Massachusetts, is one of











Community Land Trusts 385

housing development. After acquiring the land, CFLT enters into a disposi-
tion and development agreement with its development partner. This frees
CFLT's development partners from the need to obtain multiple sources of
acquisition financing, minimizes their risk, and allows them to focus their
resources on the development of the housing. CFLT and the developer
enter into a ground lease at the end of the entitlement process and the be-
ginning of construction. In the implementation of these strategies, CFLT
plays a strategic role in expanding the opportunities for affordable housing
production, and preservation, in Los Angeles County.

IV. CLTs of the Future: Challenges and Opportunities

As the evolution of the CLT model over the past forty years illustrates,
the challenge of creating equitable housing options is one that people in the
United States have struggled with for a long time. The need for affordable
housing seems to be the only constant in a real estate market that ebbs and
flows, and neighborhoods that pass through cycles of prosperity and peril.
Although this article describes the CLT model as a viable means for making
housing, and in particular home ownership, affordable, the use of the CLT
model raises many difficult questions for those who wish to engage this
model in solving the affordable housing problems of the future.

A. CLT Challenges: A "Perpetual" Model in Changing Times

1. Mission and Marketplace

Community land trusts promise permanent affordability. Through the
use of a ninety-nine-year ground lease, a CLT commits to keeping the cost
of housing on its land affordable for multiple generations of home buy-
ers. Delivering on this promise may seem easy in the first few years of the
ground lease term; however, ninety-nine years exceeds the average human
life span. Therefore, the promise of perpetual affordability must remain
intact over several generations before a CLT can say that it has fulfilled
such promise.

Anyone involved in the real estate market knows that perhaps the only
prediction about the market that will come true is that the market will
change. The forces of gentrification can suddenly overtake a neighborhood
that has suffered from blight for decades. Likewise, a stable neighbor-
hood can slip into decline and disrepair from neglect and disinvestment.
A CLT's board cannot forecast what will happen over ninety-nine years to
the neighborhoods where the CLT owns land.

The tension between a long-term commitment to affordable housing
and short-term changes in the marketplace raises some difficult questions
for CLTs. How will a CLT's board respond when its properties are worth
five times, or more, than what the organization originally paid for them?
Will a CLT meet its mission to provide affordable housing when it must
spend more resources to build fewer units? Should the CLT shift its focus
away from housing low-income households to selling homes to moderate-
income households? Will the opportunity to sell its land for a high price











390 Journal of Affordable Housing Volume 17, Number 4 Summer 2008

our communities to make them more enjoyable places to live for people of
all income levels.

What are other potential applications of the CLT model? We raise the
question because we do not presume to know all of the diverse and viable
possible answers. Rather, as the market changes and people's demand for
housing grows, there is certain to be a role for CLTs, but the nature of that
role will continue to evolve, as it has for the past forty years.

C. CLTs Distinguished from Other Affordable Housing Models
In most respects, CLTs are no different than other affordable housing

development organizations; they share the same sources of funding and
process for successfully constructing and operating affordable housing.
What distinguishes the CLT model from other housing models is that it
preserves affordability for ninety-nine years. No other model-from Tax
Credits to HUD programs-offers such long-term affordability. This en-
sures that dollars spent making CLT housing affordable today will provide
a long-term benefit; it eliminates the need to find additional subsidies to
preserve expiring use units and ultimately contributes to the stability of
the communities in which CLTs operate. Understanding this distinction is
imperative for those wishing to implement the CLT model as an affordable
housing solution for the future.

V. Conclusion

CLTs will play a role in the affordable housing arena for some time to
come. As the CLT model has evolved over time and been adopted by vari-
ous communities, it has been applied in different ways. When considered in
the broader context of affordable housing development, what distinguishes
the CLT model from other strategies is its commitment to the preservation
of affordability over the long term. A CLT's promise, and its challenge, is
to provide housing, whether rental or ownership, that will be affordable to
many generations of low-income households.

1. Home ownership rates are especially low in certain regions in the coun-
try. For example, in 2005 the home ownership rate in Los Angeles was 47.4
percent, compared to 70 percent nationally. In fact, 2005 home ownership rates
in Los Angeles represented a 1.5 percent drop since their 48.9 percent level
in 1994. Alan Nevin, Home Ownership in California: A CBIA Economic Treatise,
CALIFORNIA BUILDING INDUSTRY ASSOCIATION, Mar. 22, 2006, at 3, 7. Home
ownership rates in New York are also far lower than national levels. New York
State's home ownership rate in 2006 was 55.7 percent, and New York City's,
at 30.2 percent in 2000, is even lower. U.S. Census, available at http://www.
census.gov/hhes/www/housing/hvs/annualO6/annO6tl3.html and http://
quickfacts.census.gov/qfd/states/36/3651000.html (last visited Feb. 28, 2008).

2. One drawback to this approach is that the lenders and buyers involved
in the subsequent sales of the deed-restricted homes often are not made aware
of the restrictions during the title review process and the homes therefore inad-
vertently get sold at the market, rather than restricted, price, in violation of the



Community Land Trusts 391

restrictions. Enforcement of the terms of the deed restrictions after such a sale
can be difficult and costly. One group has addressed this problem by securing a
$100 note and recording a deed of trust against the property concurrently with
the deed restrictions.

3. The LEHC's bylaws provide a formula for determining the initial and
subsequent sales price of a membership share designed to maintain the afford-
ability of the share (and thereby the housing) while allocating a limited per-
centage of the LEHC's equity to the shareholder. LEHC members often have a
separate use agreement with the LEHC that governs the terms of their use of
the dwelling unit and requires the payment of a monthly "rent," the amount
of which is set by the LEHC board and is designed to cover, at a minimum, the
operational costs and debt service of the LEHC. To be successful, an LEHC re-
quires a high level of participation and a reasonable degree of training in group
process and real estate management for its members.

4. We note that the IRS may characterize this "loan" as taxable income to
the borrower, either at the time that the loan is made or at the end of the term
when it is forgiven. A detailed analysis of the tax consequences of soft second
mortgages is beyond the scope of this article.

5. Basic issues relating to the structure of the CLT will be discussed later
in this article.

6. Issues related to a CLT ground lease will be discussed in greater depth
later in this article.

7. YSEIM SUNGU-ERYILMAZ & ROSALIND GREENSTEIN, A NATIONAL STUDY
OF COMMUNITY LAND TRUSTS 16 (Lincoln Inst. of Land Policy 2007). Of surveys
distributed to 183 CLTs with known addresses, the Lincoln Institute received
119 completed surveys. This is the first comprehensive survey of CLTs in the
United States.

8. JOHN EMMEUS DAVIS, SHARED EQUITY HOME OWNERSHIP: THE CHANG-
ING LANDSCAPE OF RESALE-RESTRICTED, OWNER-OCCUPIED HOUSING 20 (Nat'l
Hous. Inst. 2006).

9. INTERNATIONAL INDEPENDENCE INSTITUTE, THE COMMUNITY LAND
TRUST: A GUIDE TO A NEW MODEL FOR LAND TENURE IN AMERICA 16-17 (1972).

10. Id. at 18.
11. Id. at 22.
12. DAvis, supra note 8, at 21.
13. Id.
14. Personal communication with Ian Winters, Executive Director, Northern

California Land Trust (Mar. 2005).
15. SUNGU-ERYILMAZ & GREENSTEIN, supra note 7, at 10.
16. DAvis, supra note 8, at 21.
17. SUNGU-ERYILMAZ & GREENSTEIN, supra note 7, at 9.
18. DAvis, supra note 8, at 21.
19. SUNGU-ERYILMAZ & GREENSTEIN, supra note 7, at 10.
20. The Lincoln Institute's survey found that the majority of CLTs estab-

lished during the 2000s stated that the rising cost of housing was one of their
main motivations for forming a CLT.

21. Chris Isidore, Home Ownership in Record Plunge, CNNMONEY.COM, Jan.
29, 2008, available at http://money.cnn.com/2008/01/29/news/economy/
home.ownershipvacancies (last visited Feb. 28, 2008). See also Dina ElBogh-
dady & Nancy Trejos, Foreclosure Rate Hits Historic High, WASH. POST, June 15,
2007, available at www.washingtonpost.com.



392 Journal of Affordable Housing Volume 17, Number 4 Summer 2008

22. At least one community is considering the use of a housing model simi-
lar to a CLT to respond to its own foreclosure crisis. The City of San Diego has
recently seen an alarming number of foreclosures. Citizens and decision mak-
ers in that community are concerned about the debilitating effect that foreclo-
sures will have on the health of entire neighborhoods. In response to this crisis,
the community is considering the formation of a "land bank"-a governmental
entity that will purchase foreclosed properties and use a combination of public
and private resources to sell the homes to people from the community at af-
fordable prices. A Land Bank for Foreclosed Properties? SAN DIEGO UNION-TRIB.,
Feb. 17, 2008.

23. SUNGU-ERYILMAZ & GREENSTEIN, supra note 7, at 22. Thirty percent of all
CLTs reported using the Tri-Partite structure.

24. Id. at 23.
25. INTERNAL REVENUE SERVICE, INSTRUCTIONS FOR FORM 1023 (APPLICATION

FOR RECOGNITION OF EXEMPTION) (rev'd June 2006) at 9. See also Governance
and Related Topics-501(c)(3) Organizations, at www.irs.gov/pub/irs-tege/
governance-practices.pdf (last visited Feb. 27, 2008).

26. IRS INSTRUCTIONS TO FORM 1023, supra note 25.
27. 24 C.ER. § 92.356.
28. Id.
29 INTERNAL REVENUE SERVICE, PUBLICATION 557, TAX-EXEMPT STATUS FOR

YOUR ORGANIZATION (rev'd June 2008), at 24.
30. An organization will be considered charitable if it establishes for each

project that (a) at least 75 percent of the units are occupied by residents that
qualify as low-income and (b) at least 20 percent of the units are occupied by
residents that also meet the very-low-income limit for the area or at least 40 per-
cent of the units are occupied by residents that also do not exceed 120 percent of
the area's very-low-income limit. Rev. Proc. 96-32, 1996-1 C.B. 717.

31. CLTs have successfully obtained tax exemption under the IRS safe har-
bor for their home ownership activities, including the production and sale of
homes on CLT land, because the income levels of the CLT's eligible buyers fell
within the safe harbor guidelines.

32. "Community Land Trust" is statutorily defined under the HOME Pro-
gram within the broader context of Community Development Housing Organi-
zations and their special status under this law. 42 U.S.C. § 12773.

33. For example, HOME regulations provide requirements pertaining to the
affordability period and resale price for HOME-assisted home ownership units.
HOME-assisted home ownership units must remain affordable for five to fif-
teen years, depending on the amount of HOME funds invested in the units. 24
C.F.R. § 92.254(a)(4). Also, the resale price of HOME-assisted home ownership
units "must ensure that the price at resale provides the original HOME-assisted
owner a fair return on investment (including the home owner's investment
in any capital improvements) and ensure that the housing will remain afford-
able to a reasonable range of low-income buyers." Id. § 92.254(a)(5)(i). Also, the
HOME regulations require that the price of HOME-assisted home ownership
units be capped at 95 percent of the median purchase price for the area. Id.
§ 92.254(a)(2). This may pose a problem for CLTs in high-cost areas.

34. Most CLT ground leases define an "eligible buyer" as someone at or
below a certain income level (e.g., 120 percent of area median income). Argu-
ably, requiring the seller to sell to an "eligible buyer" serves to limit the resale



Community Land Trusts 393

price. Since most eligible buyers can only pay what their income will support,
limiting the pool of buyers effectively limits the sales price. Nevertheless, CLTs
do not rely on buyer eligibility requirements alone to regulate the resale price
of their homes.

35. Over half of CLTs use appraisal-based formulas, with index-based
formulas falling in a distant second place. Only four CLTs reported using a
mortgage-based approach. SUNGU-ERYILMAZ & GREENSTEIN, supra note 7, at
31-32.

36. CLT home owners do have to pay ground rent to the CLT. In keeping
with their affordable housing mission, CLTs do not charge market rent. In-
stead CLTs typically design rent payments to be low enough to be affordable
to the home owner, yet high enough to cover the CLT's costs of monitoring the
lease.

37. FANNIE MAE, ANNOUNCEMENT 06-03, AMENDS THESE GUIDES: SELLING
AND SERVICING, PROPERTIES SUBJECT TO RESALE RESTRICTIONS OR LOCATED ON
LAND OWNED BY COMMUNITY LAND TRUSTS 9-10 (Mar. 22, 2006).

38. Id. at 10.
39. Community Land Trust Ground Lease Rider, Fannie Mae Form 2100

at 3 (Mar. 2006) available at www.efanniemae.com/sf/formsdocs/forms/2100.
jsp (last visited May 19, 2008).

40. 24 C.F.R. § 203.41(d).
41. Id. § 203.41(c).
42. Id. § 203.41(d).
43. After housing development, home ownership counseling ranks as the

second most common activity conducted by CLTs. SUNGU-ERYILMAZ & GREEN-
STEIN, supra note 7, at 24.

44. Dudley Neighbors, Inc., www.dsni.org/dni/.
45. Personal communication with Jason Welds (spring 2006).
46. Dudley Neighbors, Inc., www.dsni.org/DNI WebPages/products.htm.
47. One of the critiques of the CLT model is that it fosters only a low rate

of production of housing. In fact, DNI represents one of the largest producers
of housing among CLTs, with most CLTs reporting a housing stock of less than
100 units. Also, few, if any, CLTs other than DNI have the power of eminent do-
main, indicating that other jurisdictions have been either unable or unwilling
to adopt this strategy. Perhaps this will change with the increasing popularity
of the CLT model.

48. ADAM ELASON & JOHN TRAUTH, CITY OF IRVINE HOUSING STRATEGY &
IMPLEMENTATION PLAN at i (Mar. 14, 2006), available at www.cityofirvine.org/
civica/filebank/blobdload.asp?BlobID=8842 (last visited Mar. 3, 2008).

49. Id. at 3.
50. CAL. HEALTH & SAFETY CODE § 33334.2 (Deering 2008).
51. ELIASON & TRAUTH, supra note 48, at 7.
52. IRVINE MUN. CODE ch. 2-3 § 2-3-5(B).
53. ELIASON & TRAUTH, supra note 48, at 20.
54. Arguably the influence of the City appointees will be significant since

such a large amount of the Irvine CLT's funding will come from City sources
such as the housing set-aside funds, in-lieu fees generated through the inclu-
sionary zoning program, and other traditional sources of affordable housing
funds such as Community Development Block Grants and the HOME Invest-
ment Partnership Program.



394 Journal of Affordable Housing Volume 17, Number 4 Summer 2008

55. ELIASON & TRAuTH, supra note 48, at 24.
56. Irvine CLT's progress toward its affordable housing development goals

has not been as fast as originally projected due to the recent downturn in the
housing market, which has slowed the pace of the private development upon
which Irvine CLT's core strategies (inclusionary zoning and redevelopment)
depend. As a result, the City recently voted to provide Irvine CLT with fund-
ing to jumpstart its development program and acquire several housing units.
Personal communication with Rick Jacobus, Partner, Burlington Associations
(May 17, 2008).

57. One of the authors served as counsel to Figueroa Corridor Community
Land Trust from 2005 through May 2007. One of the authors continues to serve
as counsel to the Figueroa Corridor Land Company, a partner organization.

58. One of the authors currently represents CFLT.
59. The Code defines a "qualified nonprofit organization" as an organiza-

tion that (i) owns, directly or indirectly through a partnership, an interest in the
project throughout the Compliance Period; (ii) is determined by the state hous-
ing credit agency to not be affiliated with or controlled by a for-profit corpora-
tion; (iii) has as one of the exempt purposes of such organization the fostering
of low-income housing; and (iv) is described in paragraph (3) or (4) of § 501(c)
and is exempt from tax under § 501(a). IRC §42(h)(5).

60. 26 U.S.C. § 42(i)(7)(B) provides that the minimum purchase price is "an
amount equal to the sum of (i) the principal amount of outstanding indebt-
edness secured by the building (other than indebtedness incurred within the
5-year period ending on the date of the sale to the tenants), and (ii) all Federal,
State, and local taxes attributable to such sale."

61. Id. § 42(h)(6).
62. California's regulations provide that "[a]ll projects, except those apply-

ing under section 10326 of these regulations [pertaining to projects financed
at least 50 percent by tax-exempt bonds], will be subject to the minimum low
income percentages chosen for a period of 55 years, unless they receive Fed-
eral Tax Credits only and are intended for eventual tenant home ownership, in
which case they must submit, at application, evidence of a financially feasible
program, incorporating, among other items, an exit strategy, home ownership
counseling, funds to be set aside to assist tenants in the purchase of units, and
a plan for conversion of the facility to home ownership at the end of the initial
fifteen-year compliance period. In such a case, the regulatory agreement will
contain provisions for the enforcement of such covenants." CAL. CODE REGS.
tit. 4, § 10325(c)(9)(b).

63. Kathleen Schalch, Home Prices Drop Most in Areas with Long Commutes,
NPR: MORNING EDITION (Apr. 21, 2008), available at www.npr.org/templates/
story/story.php? Story 1 & 2 89803663.





>'-.!/(-<5--('*-!#C'5.!%G$#*/(*)!#<<%--!.'!6'4%'H*%&-6($!.#N%!#-!#!)(:%*!.6#.!H%!

N*'H!%G#<.+,!H6#.!6'4%'H*%&-6($!(-?!!O6%!I5%-.('*-!.6%*!5-5#++,!E#++!(*.'!#!$&%/(<.#C+%!

$#..%&*P!Q6#.!#&%!.6%!&(-N-!#*/!C%*%E(.-!'E!6'4%'H*%&-6($R!!9'H!4()6.!(.!C%!%G$#*/%/!#*/!

H6#.!#&%!.6%!<'-.-!#*/!C%*%E(.-!'E!.6%!/(EE%&%*.!'$.('*-!E'&!/'(*)!-'R!!9'H!<#*!$'-(.(:%!

6'4%'H*%&-6($!'5.<'4%-!S%?)?!5-%!'E!6'4%'H*%&-6($!.'!#<<%--!C%..%&!*%()6C'&6''/-T!C%!

4#G(4(L%/!H6(+%!4(*(4(L(*)!*%)#.(:%!'*%-!S%?)?!E'&%<+'-5&%TR!

;5.!H6#.!(E!H%!H%&%!.'!.#N%!#!-.%$!C#<N!#*/!&%M%G#4(*%!.6%!/%E(*(.('*!#*/!-<'$%!'E!.6%!

%*/!)'#+!(.-%+ER!!1-!'.6%&-!6#:%!'C-%&:%/=!.6%&%!(-!#!+'.!'E!&''4!(*!C%.H%%*!.6%!%G.&%4%-!'E!

U&%*.#+!6'5-(*)V!#*/!U6'4%'H*%&-6($?V8!!;,!<'*-(/%&(*)!#+.%&*#.(:%!<'*E()5&#.('*-!'E!.6%!

C5*/+%!'E!#..&(C5.%-!.6#.!4#N%!5$!.6%!.&#/(.('*#+!/%E(*(.('*!'E!6'4%'H*%&-6($=!H%!<#*!'$%*!5$!

*%H!'$.('*-!E'&!(*E'&4(*)!.6%!$'+(<,!/%C#.%!#*/!$'.%*.(#++,!/%:%+'$!*%H!#*/!4'&%!<'-.M

%EE%<.(:%!#$$&'#<6%-!E'&!#/:#*<(*)!N%,!-'<(%.#+!)'#+-?!

W'++'H(*)!-'4%!(*(.(#+!&%E+%<.('*-!'*!.6%!/%E(*(.('*!'E!6'4%'H*%&-6($=!.6(-!$#$%&!

E'<5-%-!'*!#!-%.!'E!$'+(<,!'$.('*-!.6#.!E#++!(*!C%.H%%*!.6%!.&#/(.('*#+!.%*5&%!'$.('*-!'E!&%*.#+!

6'5-(*)!#*/!6'4%'H*%&-6($!#*/!#&%!-'4%.(4%-!&%E%&&%/!.'!<'++%<.(:%+,!#-!U-6#&%/!%I5(.,!

6'4%'H*%&-6($?VB!!1-!X!5-%!.6%!.%&4P!!

7)2'$;,$?.*0=,)"#$"%&$'()*+, @7A! B,*(,2,0$&.'$,:)"*:$,0)20,+'"C*;$(,#"(0,"4,0)$,D$&$4*0(,
"4,)"#$"%&$'()*+,20,2,/"%$',+'*:$,+"*&0E,42:*/*020*&5,2::$((,0",)"#$"%&$'()*+,D=,/"%8,
2&;,#";$'20$ 8*&:"#$,)".($)"/;(F,,G&;$',7A!E, )"#$,+'*:$,2++'$:*20*"&,*(,()2'$;,
D$0%$$&,0)$,)"#$D.=$',2&;,0)$,+'"5'2#,(+"&("', 0",2:)*$C$,2,D2/2&:$,D$0%$$&,0)$,
*&;*C*;.2/H(,*&0$'$(0,*&,D.*/;*&5,%$2/0),2&;,0)$,:"##.&*0=H(,*&0$'$(0,*&,$&(.'*&5,/"&58
0$'#,244"';2D*/*0=FI ,

8!3%%=!%?)?=!1$)#&!8AAY?!
!
B!X.!(-!(4$'&.#*.!.'!*'.%!.6#.!.6%!.%&4!U-6#&%/!%I5(.,!6'4%'H*%&-6($V!6#-!C%%*!-5$%&(4$'-%/!5$'*!#!/(:%&-%!
+#*/-<#$%!'E!#+.%&*#.(:%!.%*5&%!'$.('*-=!&#.6%&!.6#*!'*%!.6#.!)&%H!'&)#*(<#++,!E&'4!.6%!E(%+/?!!>#*,!$&#<.(.('*%&-!
'E!H6#.!X!<#++!3Z9!/'!*'.!*%<%--#&(+,!5-%!'&!%*/'&-%!.6(-!.%&4!#*/=!#-!/(-<5--%/!C%+'H=!.6%&%!#&%!/(EE%&%*<%-!'E!
'$(*('*!#C'5.!H6(<6!$&')&#4-!E#++!H(.6(*!3Z9?!![%-$(.%!.6%-%!(--5%-=!X!E(*/!.6%!.%&4!#!5-%E5+!'*%!E'&!<#.%)'&(L(*)!#!
/(:%&-%!-%.!'E!$&')&#4-!.6#.!-6#&%!&%+#.%/!)'#+-!#*/!<#*!C%!5-%/!.'!$&'/5<%!-(4(+#&!'5.<'4%-?!!>'-.!(4$'&.#*.+,=!
.6%!$&')&#4-!.6#.!E(.!.6(-!/%E(*(.('*!$&':(/%!#!-5(.%!'E!C%*%E(.-!.6#.=!(*!4,!:(%H=!<'4$#&%!E#:'&#C+,!H(.6!.&#/(.('*#+!
6'4%'H*%&-6($!#*/!4%&(.!)&%#.%&!#..%*.('*!#*/!(*:%-.4%*.?!
Y!36#&%/!%I5(.,!6'4%'H*%&-6($!$&')&#4-!<#*!6%+$!#/:#*<%!'.6%&!(*/(:(/5#+!#*/!<'445*(.,!)'#+-=!C5.!.6%(&!
-#+(%*.!<6#&#<.%&(-.(<!(-!#!C#+#*<%!C%.H%%*!(*/(:(/5#+!H%#+.6!#<<545+#.('*!#*/!+'*)M.%&4!#EE'&/#C(+(.,?!!\.6%&!
(*/(:(/5#+!C%*%E(.-!'E!-6#&%/!%I5(.,!6'4%'H*%&-6($!#&%!/(-<5--%/!C%+'H=!5*/%&!U]%MO6(*N(*)!.6%!O&#/(.('*#+!
9'4%'H*%&-6($!"#&#/()4?V!!\.6%&!<'445*(.,!C%*%E(.-!(*<+5/%P!(*<&%#-%/!&%-(/%*.(#+!-.#C(+(.,=!(4$&':%/!/(:%&-(.,=!
#*/!%I5(.#C+%!#<<%--!.'!*%()6C'&6''/-!'E!'$$'&.5*(.,?!

8!
!

!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!



3$%<(E(<!$'+(<,!'$.('*-!E'&!(4$+%4%*.(*)!3Z9!(*<+5/%!<'445*(.,!+#*/!.&5-.-!SJFO-T=!+(4(.%/!

%I5(.,!<''$%&#.(:%-=!/%%/!&%-.&(<.('*-=!#*/!-6#&%/!#$$&%<(#.('*!+'#*-?!

O6%!C%*%E(.-!'E!3Z9!)'!C%,'*/!(*(.(#+!#EE'&/#C(+(.,?!!Q6%*!(4$+%4%*.%/!%EE%<.(:%+,=!3Z9!

<#*!&%/5<%!4#*,!'E!.6%!&(-N-!'E!.&#/(.('*#+!6'4%'H*%&-6($=!$&':(/(*)!#!-#E%&!#*/!4'&%!

-5-.#(*#C+%!6'5-(*)!'$.('*!E'&!+'HM!#*/!4'/%&#.%M(*<'4%!6'5-%6'+/-=!H6(+%!-.(++!$&':(/(*)!

-(L#C+%!'$$'&.5*(.(%-!E'&!6'5-%6'+/-!.'!C5(+/!H%#+.6?!!3Z9!#+-'!$&':(/%-!#!4%<6#*(-4!E'&!

$&%-%&:(*)!.6%!C5,(*)!$'H%&!'E!)':%&*4%*.!#*/!$6(+#*.6&'$(<!(*:%-.4%*.-!(*!.6%!E#<%!'E!&(-(*)!

6'4%!$&(<%-=!#++'H(*)!#!-(*)+%!(*:%-.4%*.!.'!6%+$!'*%!)%*%&#.('*!'E!6'4%C5,%&-!#E.%&!#*'.6%&?!!

;%<#5-%!(.!<#*!C%!5-%/!.'!#--5&%!+'*)M.%&4!#EE'&/#C(+(.,!'E!-$%<(E(<!5*(.-=!3Z9!#+-'!6#-!#*!

(4$'&.#*.!&'+%!.'!$+#,!(*!6%+$(*)!.'!%*-5&%!.6#.!E#4(+(%-!'E!#++!(*<'4%-!<#*!#EE'&/!.'!+(:%!(*!

)%*.&(E,(*)!#&%#-!*%#&!$5C+(<!.&#*-(.!-.#.('*-=!^'C!<%*.%&-=!#*/!%EE%<.(:%!-<6''+-?!

X!#4!#<5.%+,!#H#&%!'E!.6%!&(-N-!(*:'+:%/!(*!#--%&.(*)!-5<6!-H%%$(*)!C%*%E(.-!E'&!-5<6!#!

+(..+%N*'H*!#*/!-$#&(*)+,!5-%/!.%*5&%!<6'(<%?!!Q%!#&%!#++!^5-.(E(#C+,!-N%$.(<#+!'E!.6(*)-!.6#.!

-'5*/!U.''!)''/!.'!C%!.&5%?V!!;5.!.6(-!(-!'*%!.(4%!H6%*!X!C%+(%:%!.6%!<#-%!(-!-'!<'4$%++(*)!.6#.!

.6%!E(%+/!*%%/-!.'!C%!'$%*!.'!-6(E.(*)!(.-!$#&#/()4-!.'!#<<'44'/#.%!(.?!!O6%&%!#&%!<%&.#(*+,!

+(4(.#.('*-!.'!3Z9!0!$#&.(<5+#&+,=!<6#++%*)%-!H(.6!)'(*)!.'!-<#+%!#*/!.6%!$'.%*.(#+!E'&!<'*E5-('*!

C,!6'4%C5,%&-?!!;5.!X!C%+(%:%!.6%!$'+(<,!<#-%!':%&H6%+4(*)+,!E#:'&-!)&%#.%&!5-%!'E!.6%-%!.''+-=!

$#&.(<5+#&+,!(*!<#-%-!H6%&%!-(L#C+%!$5C+(<!-5C-(/(%-!E'&!6'4%'H*%&-6($!#&%!#+&%#/,!C%(*)!

$&':(/%/!/(&%<.+,!S%?)?!.6&'5)6!)&#*.-!'&!E'&)(:#C+%!+'#*-T!'&!(4$+(<(.+,!S%?)?!.6&'5)6!(*<+5-('*#&,!

L'*(*)!'&!/%*-(.,!C'*5-%-=!#-!#$$+(%/!.'!6'4%'H*%&-6($!5*(.-T?!

!

=(NM7#$O#$.&%7(&M)10#%#"$16&+";(":$()-7#<&H1)10#.;&&

J5&&%*.!'&!$&'-$%<.(:%!6'4%'H*%&-!4#,!:(%H!6'4%'H*%&-6($!#-!#!C(*#&,!'$.('*!0!

%(.6%&!,'5!'H*!#!6'4%!'&!,'5!/'*_.?!!;5.!X!$&%E%&!.'!-%%!(.!#-!$#&.!'E!#!C&'#/%&!<'*.(*554!'E!

.%*5&%!<6'(<%-=!<6#&#<.%&(L%/!C,!#!$#&.(<5+#&!-%.!'E!#..&(C5.%-?!!O6%-%!#..&(C5.%-!)%*%&#++,!

<+5-.%&!.')%.6%&!<+'-%+,!-'!.6#.!H%!.6(*N!'E!.6%4!#-!#!-(*)+%!$#<N#)%?!!;5.!(.!(-!I5(.%!$'--(C+%!.'!

&%<'*E()5&%!.6%4!-'!.6#.!#!*%H!.%*5&%!<6'(<%!(-!<&%#.%/!.6#.!<'*.#(*-!-'4%!'E!.6%-%!#..&(C5.%-!

#*/!*'.!'.6%&-?!!W'&!-'4%!$%'$+%=!'&!(*!-'4%!<#-%-=!.6(-!*%H!.%*5&%!<6'(<%!4#,!C%!#!C%..%&!S'&!

H'&-%T!'$.('*!.6#*!.&#/(.('*#+!6'4%'H*%&-6($?!!!

B!
!



X*!/%E(*(*)!.6%-%!#..&(C5.%-=!X!$&%E%&!.'!5-%!#!$'+(<,!+%*-!0!E'<5-(*)!'*!.6%!C%*%E(.-!#*/!

&(-N-!0!&#.6%&!.6#*!#!+%)#+!+%*-!S(?%?=!-$%<(E(<!$&'$%&.,!&()6.-T?!!X*!O#C+%!7=!X_:%!$&':(/%/!#!+(-.!'E!

-%+%<.%/!C%*%E(.-!#*/!&(-N-!'E!.&#/(.('*#+!6'4%'H*%&-6($!.6#.!<#*!6%+$!(++5-.&#.%!(.-!<'*.&#-.!

H(.6!-6#&%/!%I5(.,!6'4%'H*%&-6($?!!O'!E#<(+(.#.%!.6(-!<'4$#&(-'*=!X_:%!#--54%/!.6%!5-%!'E!#!

H%++M5*/%&H&(..%*!BAM,%#&!E(G%/M&#.%!4'&.)#)%?!!

!

!
!

1-!.6%!*#.('*!6#-!+%#&*%/!.6%!6#&/!H#,!':%&!.6%!$#-.!6#+EM/%<#/%=!6'4%'H*%&-6($!<#*!

C%!#!&(-N,!$&'$'-(.('*?`!!14'*)!'.6%&!&(-N-!(++5-.&#.%/!(*!O#C+%!7!#&%!.6%!&(-N!'E!+'--!'*!&%-#+%=!#*!

(*#C(+(.,!.'!-%++!'*%_-!6'4%!#*/!4':%!.'!#!*%H!+'<#.('*!H6%*!*%%/%/!'&!/%-(&%/=!#*/!#--%.-!

.6#.!#&%!':%&+,!<'*<%*.&#.%/!(*!#!-(*)+%!#--%.!<+#--?!!9()6!.&#*-#<.('*!<'-.-!%G#<%&C#.%!4#*,!'E!

`!3%%!)%*%&#++,=!D'(*.!J%*.%&!E'&!9'5-(*)!3.5/(%-=!9#&:#&/!K*(:%&-(.,!8A78!#*/!J#&&!#*/!1*#<N%&!8A78?!

M1D6(&I&

9($(*#%-&"*&M)10#%#"$16&+";(":$()-7#<&

7? a%*%&#++,!$&':(/%-!-%<5&(.,!'E!.%*5&%!0!(E!,'5!$#,!,'5&!C(++-!'*!
.(4%=!,'5!<#*_.!C%!%:(<.%/!

8? 9'4%'H*%&!6#-!-()*(E(<#*.!E&%%/'4!.'!-6#$%!$6,-(<#+!
%*:(&'*4%*.!'E!.6%!5*(.b$&'$%&.,!

B? >'-.!6'5-(*)!<'-.-!#&%!E&'L%*!#.!#EE'&/#C+%!+%:%+-=!#*/=!#-!
(*<'4%-!&(-%=!<'-.-!C%<'4%!%:%*!4'&%!#EE'&/#C+%!':%&!.(4%!

Y? W'&<%/!-#:(*)-!.6&'5)6!$#,/'H*!'E!$&(*<($#+!
`? \$$'&.5*(.,!.'!C5(+/!-(L#C+%!#--%.-!(E!6'4%!$&(<%-!(4$&':%!':%&!

.(4%!
c? X.!4#,!C%!.6%!'*+,!H#,!.'!#<<%--!<%&.#(*!*%()6C'&6''/-!H(.6!

/%-(&#C+%!E%#.5&%-=!-5<6!#-!6()6M$%&E'&4(*)!-<6''+-!!

=#-O-PF)1:D1EO-&"*&M)10#%#"$16&+";(":$()-7#<&

7? 9'4%!$&(<%-!4#,!-.#)*#.%!'&!/%<+(*%=!<#5-(*)!#!+'--!5$'*!&%-#+%!
8? X*!<%&.#(*!4#&N%.-!'&!5*/%&!<%&.#(*!<'*/(.('*-=!(.!4#,!C%!/(EE(<5+.!

.'!E(*/!#!C5,%&!#.!#*!#<<%$.#C+%!$&(<%=!(*6(C(.(*)!4'C(+(.,!
B? >#*,!C5,%&-!%*/!5$!H(.6!4'-.!(E!*'.!#++!'E!.6%(&!#--%.-!.(%/!5$!(*!

#!-(*)+%!#--%.!<+#--!S&%#+!$&'$%&.,T!
Y? 3'4%!6'4%'H*%&-!4#,!-.&5))+%!H(.6!5$N%%$!'E!.6%(&!6'4%!
`? >#*,!H'5+/MC%!C5,%&-!<#**'.!#EE'&/!.'!C5,!#!/%<%*.MI5#+(.,!

6'4%!(*!#!/%-(&#C+%!*%()6C'&6''/?!!1-!#!&%-5+.=!.6%,!%(.6%&!/'!
*'.!C5,!'&!C5,!#!+'H%&MI5#+(.,!6'4%!(*!#!+%--!/%-(&#C+%!
*%()6C'&6''/!

Y!
!

!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!



.6%-%!$&'C+%4-?!!X*!#//(.('*=!6'4%'H*%&-6($!&%4#(*-!'5.!'E!&%#<6!E'&!4#*,!6'5-%6'+/-!.6#.!

4()6.!'.6%&H(-%!/%-(&%!(.!C%<#5-%!'E!6()6!<'-.-!#*/b'&!<&%/(.!&%I5(&%4%*.-?!!Q6(+%!6'5-(*)!

$&(<%-!6#:%!<'4%!/'H*!-()*(E(<#*.+,!E&'4!.6%(&!$%#N!(*!8AAc=!<&%/(.!&%I5(&%4%*.-!6#:%!)'*%!5$=!

-'!4#*,!H'5+/MC%!6'4%C5,%&-!#&%!*%:%&.6%+%--!5*#C+%!.'!$5&<6#-%?!!!

W#<%/!H(.6!.6%-%!&(-N-!#*/!/&#HC#<N-=!'*%!4()6.!C%!.%4$.%/!.'!+''N!#.!&%*.#+!6'5-(*)!

#-!#*!#+.%&*#.(:%=!#*/!.'!#!-()*(E(<#*.!%G.%*.!.6(-!(-!^5-.(E(%/?!!;5.!)(:%*!.6%!4#*,!C%*%E(.-!'E!

6'4%'H*%&-6($!*'.%/!(*!O#C+%!7!0!(*<+5/(*)!-%<5&(.,!'E!.%*5&%=!)&%#.%&!E&%%/'4!.'!-6#$%!'*%_-!

$6,-(<#+!%*:(&'*4%*.=!.6%!E&%%L(*)!'E!4'-.!6'5-(*)!<'-.-=!#*/!.6%!#C(+(.,!.'!C5(+/!#--%.-!.6&'5)6!

$#,/'H*!'E!$&(*<($#+!#*/!6'4%!$&(<%!#$$&%<(#.('*!0!(.!(-!H'&.6!+''N(*)!6#&/!#.!H6%.6%&!

6'4%'H*%&-6($!<#*!C%!4'/(E(%/!(*!#!H#,!.6#.!-5C-.#*.(#++,!&%/5<%-!.6%!&(-N-!#*/!/&#HC#<N-=!

H6(+%!$&%-%&:(*)!#-!4#*,!'E!.6%!C%*%E(.-!#-!$'--(C+%?!

O6(-!(-!$&%<(-%+,!H6#.!3Z9!-%%N-!.'!#<<'4$+(-6!C,!$&'/5<(*)!#!*%H!E'&4!'E!.%*5&%!.6#.!

$&':(/%-!4'-.!'E!.6%!C%*%E(.-!'E!.&#/(.('*#+!6'4%'H*%&-6($=!C5.!H(.6!#!45<6!+'H%&!&(-N!$&'E(+%?!!

Q6(+%!X!/'!*'.!C%+(%:%!.6#.!3Z9!(-!#$$&'$&(#.%!E'&!%:%&,'*%!H6'!H(-6%-!.'!$5&<6#-%!#!6'4%=!X!

/'!.6(*N!(.!(-!E#(&!.'!-#,!.6#.!E'&!4#*,!+'HM!#*/!4'/%&#.%M(*<'4%!6'5-%6'+/-=!3Z9!$&':(/%-!#!

-5$%&('&!&(-N!b!&%H#&/!$&'E(+%!.'!.&#/(.('*#+!6'4%'H*%&-6($?!!X!#+-'!C%+(%:%!.6#.!(.!(-!#!4'&%!

%EE(<(%*.!#*/!%EE%<.(:%!H#,!.'!5-%!-<#&<%!$5C+(<!E5*/-!#-!<'4$#&%/!H(.6!+#&)%!)&#*.-!'&!

E'&)(:#C+%!+'#*-!SH6(<6!<'*:%&.!.'!)&#*.-!':%&!.(4%T!E'&!6'4%'H*%&-6($?!!!

O6%!&%-.!'E!.6(-!$#$%&!H(++!%G$+'&%!.6(-!#&)54%*.!(*!)&%#.%&!/%.#(+=!E'<5-(*)!(*(.(#++,!'*!

/%-<&(C(*)!6'H!3Z9!H'&N-=!.6%*!/(-<5--(*)!6'H!(.!4(.()#.%-!-'4%!'E!.6%!&(-N-!'E!.&#/(.('*#+!

6'4%'H*%&-6($!H6(+%!&%.#(*(*)!4'-.!'E!.6%!C%*%E(.-?!O6%!E(*#+!-%<.('*-!'E!.6%!$#$%&!/%-<&(C%!

.6%!$&(*<($#+!+(4(.#.('*-!'E!3Z9!#*/!6'H!.6'-%!+(4(.#.('*-!4()6.!C%!#//&%--%/!.'!6%+$!.#N%!(.!.'!

-<#+%?!!

&

+":&F"(-&/@+&Q")O&1$0&Q71%&?)(&R%-&H)#$E#<16&9($(*#%-S&

K*/%&!3Z9!#-!/%E(*%/!6%&%=!#!$&')&#4!-$'*-'&!S-5<6!#-!#!*'*$&'E(.!'&)#*(L#.('*=!#!+'<#+!

)':%&*4%*.=!#!<'445*(.,!+#*/!.&5-.=!'&!$6(+#*.6&'$,T!$&':(/%-!#!-5C-(/,!.'!&%/5<%!.6%!<'-.-!'E!

`!
!



$5&<6#-(*)!#!6'4%!.'!#!+%:%+!#EE'&/#C+%!.'!#!C5,%&!#.!#!.#&)%.!(*<'4%!+%:%+?c!!O6%!C5,%&!.6%*!

$5&<6#-%-!.6%!6'4%!#.!.6%!&%/5<%/!+%:%+!H(.6!-.#*/#&/!E(*#*<(*)!0!)%*%&#++,=!#!BAM,%#&!E(G%/M

&#.%!4'&.)#)%!0!#*/!'<<5$(%-!.6%!6'4%!#-!H'5+/!#!.&#/(.('*#+!6'4%C5,%&?!!\*!&%-#+%=!#!

E'&45+#!(-!5-%/!.'!/%.%&4(*%!6'H!#*,!6'4%!$&(<%!#$$&%<(#.('*!(-!-6#&%/!C%.H%%*!.6%!

6'4%C5,%&!#*/!.6%!$&')&#4!-$'*-'&?!!O6%!-$'*-'&_-!-6#&%!(-!5-%/!.'!$&%-%&:%!#EE'&/#C(+(.,!.'!

.6%!*%G.!C5,%&=!H6(<6!<#*!C%!/'*%!(*!'*%!'E!.H'!4#(*!H#,-P!S#T!C,!N%%$(*)!.6%!-5C-(/,!(*!.6%!

$&'$%&.,!C,!<#$$(*)!.6%!&%-#+%!$&(<%!S-5C-(/,!&%.%*.('*T!'&!SCT!C,!5-(*)!.6%!-5C-(/,!.'!#5)4%*.!

.6%!#4'5*.!'E!#--(-.#*<%!$&':(/%/!.'!.6%!*%G.!C5,%&!.'!N%%$!$#<%!H(.6!&(-(*)!6'4%!$&(<%-!S#!

-6#&%/!#$$&%<(#.('*!+'#*!'&!4'&.)#)%T?d!

O'!(++5-.&#.%=!#--54%!#!6'4%!-%++-!E'&!S#*/!6#-!#!4#&N%.!:#+5%!'ET!e8`A=AAA!C5.!#!

6'5-%6'+/!#.!.6%!.#&)%.!(*<'4%!+%:%+!<#*!'*+,!#EE'&/!#!e8AA=AAA!4'&.)#)%!$+5-!#!e7A=AAA!/'H*!

$#,4%*.?!!X*!.6(-!<#-%=!.6%!$&')&#4!-$'*-'&!$&':(/%-!#!eYA=AAA!-5C-(/,=!#++'H(*)!.6%!C5,%&_-!

e87A=AAA!.'!C%!-5EE(<(%*.!.'!$5&<6#-%!.6%!6'4%?!

\*!&%-#+%=!#!E'&45+#!(-!5-%/!.'!/%.%&4(*%!6'H!#*,!6'4%!$&(<%!#$$&%<(#.('*!(-!-$+(.?!!

F%._-!-#,!.6#.!.6(-!$#&.(<5+#&!3Z9!$&')&#4!-%%N-!.'!4#(*.#(*!.6%!#EE'&/#C(+(.,!'E!-$%<(E(<!5*(.-!C,!

<#$$(*)!&%-#+%!$&(<%-!#*/!&%I5(&(*)!.6#.!.6%!6'4%!C%!-'+/!.'!#!C'&&'H%&!#.!'&!C%+'H!.6%!.#&)%.!

(*<'4%!+%:%+?!!K*/%&!.6(-!3Z9!$&')&#4_-!E'&45+#=!d`!$%&<%*.!'E!#$$&%<(#.('*!-.#,-!(*!.6%!6'4%!

#*/!8`!$%&<%*.!)'%-!.'!.6%!C5,%&?!

1--54%!.6%!6'4%!(-!-'+/!-(G!,%#&-!+#.%&!#.!H6(<6!$'(*.!(.!6#-!#!4#&N%.!:#+5%!'E!e8fA=AAA!

S#E.%&!#<<'5*.(*)!E'&!.&#*-#<.('*!<'-.-T!MM!eBA=AAA!4'&%!.6#*!(.-!'&()(*#+!:#+5%!'E!e8`A=AAA?f!!

;#-%/!'*!.6%!%I5(.,M-6#&(*)!E'&45+#=!.6%!6'5-%6'+/!&%<%(:%-!8`!$%&<%*.!'E!.6(-!#$$&%<(#.('*!S'&!

ed=`AAT!#*/!.6%!&%-.!-.#,-!(*!.6%!6'4%=!+'H%&(*)!(.-!<'-.!.'!.6%!*%G.!C5,%&?!!O6(-!(-!(4$+%4%*.%/!

C,!&%-.&(<.(*)!.6%!&%-#+%!$&(<%!.'!.6%!#4'5*.!.6%!C5,%&!'&()(*#++,!$#(/!Se87A=AAAT!$+5-!.6%!

C5,%&_-!-6#&%!'E!6'4%!$&(<%!#$$&%<(#.('*!Sed=`AAT=!E'&!#!.'.#+!&%-#+%!$&(<%!'E!e87d=`AA?!!!O6%!

c!O6%!.#&)%.!(*<'4%!+%:%+!:#&(%-!C,!$&')&#4=!C5.!.6%!C#-(<!(/%#!(-!.'!6%+$!+'HM!'&!4'/%&#.%M(*<'4%!6'5-%6'+/-!.6#.!
<#**'.!#EE'&/!4#&N%.M&#.%!6'4%-!(*!.6%!*%()6C'&6''/S-T=!<(.,S(%-T=!'&!4#&N%.!-%&:%/!C,!.6%!-$'*-'&?!

d!W'&!4'&%!(*E'&4#.('*!'*!.6%!+#..%&!'$.('*=!-%%!.6%!/(-<5--('*!'E!U35C-(/,!]%.%*.('*!:-?!36#&%/!1$$&%<(#.('*!
F'#*-=V!C%+'H?!

f!O6(-!#--54%-!#!.6&%%!$%&<%*.!#**5#+!#$$&%<(#.('*!&#.%!#*/!#!-(G!$%&<%*.!C&'N%&_-!<'44(--('*!0!&%+#.(:%+,!
<'*-%&:#.(:%!#--54$.('*-?!

c!









.6%!C5,%&?77!!1-!.6(-!%G#4$+%!(++5-.&#.%-=!3Z9!<#*!C%!5-%/!.'!)5#&/!#)#(*-.!%I5(.,!+'--!#*/!

(44'C(+(.,!.(%/!.'!6'4%!$&(<%!/%<+(*%-=!#*/!H6%*!4#&N%.!$&(<%-!)'!/'H*=!4#,!#<.5#++,!+%#/!.'!

)&%#.%&!#--%.!#<<545+#.('*!E'&!C5,%&-!.6#*!5*/%&!.&#/(.('*#+!6'4%'H*%&-6($?!

1-!'*%!4()6.!%G$%<.=!.6%!#C(+(.,!'E!#!3Z9!$&')&#4!.'!#<.!#-!#!<5-6('*!#)#(*-.!6'4%!$&(<%!

/%<+(*%-!/%$%*/-!.'!#!+#&)%!%G.%*.!'*!.6%!-(L%!'E!.6%!-5C-(/,P!#++!.6(*)-!%I5#+=!.6%!+#&)%&!.6%!

-5C-(/,!(-!#-!#!-6#&%!'E!4#&N%.!:#+5%=!.6%!4'&%!+(N%+,!(.!(-!.'!$&':(/%!/'H*-(/%!$&'.%<.('*!.'!#!

3Z9!'H*%&?!!SXE!.6%!-5C-(/,!(-!-4#++!.'!C%)(*!H(.6!#*/!.6%!4#&N%.!/%<+(*%!(-!+#&)%=!#!3Z9!C5,%&!

4#,!-.(++!C%!E'&<%/!.'!-%++!#.!#!+'--!-(*<%!3Z9!5*(.-!H(++!#+H#,-!-%++!#.!#!/(-<'5*.!&%+#.(:%!.'!.6%!

4#&N%.?T!!!3(*<%!-5C-(/(%-!:#&,!H(/%+,!#<&'--!3Z9!$&')&#4-=!-'4%!$&')&#4-!H(++!$&':(/%!C%..%&!

/'H*-(/%!$&'.%<.('*!.6#*!'.6%&-?!!;5.!(*!#!4#&N%.!(*!H6(<6!6'4%-!$&(<%-!#&%!)%*%&#++,!&(-(*)!

E#-.%&!.6#*!(*<'4%-!':%&!.(4%!0!.65-!&#(-(*)!.6%!$'--(C(+(.,!'E!#!C5CC+%!.6#.!+%#/-!.'!#!<&#-6!(*!

6'4%!$&(<%-!0!.6%!-(L%!'E!#*,!-5C-(/,!(-!+(N%+,!.'!)&'H!':%&!.(4%!S/5%!.'!.6%!&%.%*.('*!'E!#!-6#&%!

'E!6'4%!$&(<%!#$$&%<(#.('*T!-'!.6#.!H6#.!-.#&.-!'5.!#-!#!E#(&+,!4'/%-.!-5C-(/,!<'5+/!.5&*!(*.'!#!

45<6!+#&)%&!-5C-(/,!8A!'&!BA!,%#&-!/'H*!.6%!&'#/=!(*<&%#-(*)!.6%!/'H*-(/%!$&'.%<.('*!(.!

$&':(/%-?!!!

1*'.6%&!C%*%E(.!'E!3Z9!(-!.6%!$&'.%<.('*!(.!'EE%&-!#)#(*-.!-%&('5-!/%+(*I5%*<,!#*/!

E'&%<+'-5&%?!!1*!#*#+,-(-!'E!-5&:%,!/#.#!$&':(/%/!(*!8A77!C,!#!+#&)%!-#4$+%!'E!J'445*(.,!F#*/!

O&5-.-!0!'*%!#$$&'#<6!.'!(4$+%4%*.(*)!3Z9!0!E'5*/!.6#.!^5-.!A?Yc!$%&<%*.!'E!J'445*(.,!F#*/!

O&5-.!6'4%-!H%&%!(*!E'&%<+'-5&%!#*/!^5-.!7?BA!$%&<%*.!'E!.6%(&!+'#*-!H%&%!-%&('5-+,!

/%+(*I5%*.?78!!O6%-%!&#.%-!H%&%!45<6!+'H%&!.6#*!<'4$#&#C+%!&#.%-!E'&!.6%!C&'#/%&!6'5-(*)!

4#&N%.=!#-!4%#-5&%/!C,!/#.#!E&'4!.6%!>'&.)#)%!;#*N%&-!1--'<(#.('*=!H6(<6!-6'H%/!#!

E'&%<+'-5&%!&#.%!'E!Y?cB!$%&<%*.!#*/!-%:%&%!/%+(*I5%*<,!&#.%!'E!f?`d!$%&<%*.?!!O6(-!/(EE%&%*<%!(-!

#++!.6%!4'&%!&%4#&N#C+%!)(:%*!.6#.!J'445*(.,!F#*/!O&5-.-!.%*/!.'!E'<5-!'*!#--(-.(*)!+'HM

(*<'4%!C5,%&-?!!O6%!+'H%&!/%E#5+.!#*/!E'&%<+'-5&%!&#.%-!#&%!+(N%+,!/5%!.'!.6%!)&%#.%&!

77!O6%!'H*%&_-!#C(+(.,!.'!-%++!.6%!$&'$%&.,!E'&!.6%!6()6%&!$&(<%!H(++!/%$%*/!C'.6!'*!H6%.6%&!#!C5,%&!<#*!C%!E'5*/!
E'&!.6#.!$&(<%!#*/!H6%.6%&!.6%!6()6%&!$&(<%!(-!#++'H%/!5*/%&!.6%!%I5(.,!-6#&(*)!E'&45+#?!!1-!/%-<&(C%/!5*/%&!.6%!
-544#&,!'E!%I5(.,!-6#&(*)!E'&45+#-!C%+'H=!/(EE%&%*.!$&')&#4-!5-%!/(EE%&%*.!#$$&'#<6%-!E'&!<#+<5+#.(*)!.6%!
4#G(454!&%-#+%!$&(<%?!!1!$&')&#4!.6#.!C#-%-!&%-#+%!$&(<%-!'*!<6#*)%-!(*!#$$&#(-%/!:#+5%-!H'5+/!*'.!+(N%+,!#++'H!
.6%!6()6%&!$&(<%!-(*<%!#$$&#(-%/!:#+5%-!6#:%!)'*%!/'H*=!&#.6%&!.6#*!5$=!C5.!#!$&')&#4!.6#.!C#-%-!&%-#+%!$&(<%-!'*!
-'4%!'.6%&!:#&(#C+%!0!E'&!%G#4$+%=!<6#*)%-!(*!.6%!#&%#!4%/(#*!(*<'4%!0!4#,!H%++!#++'H!.6%!6()6%&!$&(<%!(E!.6#.!
(*/%G!6#-!&(-%*?!

78!O6#/%*!8A77?!

7A!



#EE'&/#C(+(.,!'E!.6%!J'445*(.,!F#*/!O&5-.!6'4%-!#.!.6%!'5.-%.!0!.6%&%!H#-!+(..+%!<6#*<%!E'&!

$&%/#.'&,!+%*/(*)!0!#-!H%++!#-!.6%!-$%<(#+!%EE'&.-!.6#.!JFO-!4#/%!.'!4#*#)%!.6%(&!+'#*-!.'!6%+$!

(/%*.(E,!#*/!#--(-.!'H*%&-!(*!.&'5C+%!C%E'&%!.6%(&!$&'C+%4-!%-<#+#.%/?!!3'4%!3Z9!$&')&#4-!#+-'!

(4$'-%!+(4(.#.('*-!'*!.6%!#C(+(.,!.'!&%E(*#*<%!S)%*%&#++,!#!&%:(%H!#*/!<'*-%*.!$&':(-('*T!.'!

%*-5&%!.6#.!C5,%&-!/'!*'.!%*/!5$!&%E(*#*<(*)!(*.'!#!$&%/#.'&,!$&'/5<.?!!!

X.!(-!/(EE(<5+.!.'!/(-%*.#*)+%!.6%!(4$#<.!'*!/%+(*I5%*<,!#*/!E'&%<+'-5&%!&#.%-!'E!%EE%<.(:%!

-.%H#&/-6($!'E!JFO!6'4%-!0!E#<(+(.#.%/!C,!:%&,!-4#++!$'&.E'+('-!#*/!$%&6#$-!/(EE(<5+.!.'!-<#+%!5$!

0 E&'4!.6%!C&'#/%&!(4$#<.!'E!.6%!3Z9!-.&5<.5&%!5-%/!C,!JFO-=!H6(<6!6%+$-!.'!%*-5&%!C'.6!(*(.(#+

#*/!'*)'(*)!#EE'&/#C(+(.,!#*/!)%*%&#++,!$&':(/%-!-'4%!/%)&%%!'E!<5-6('*!#)#(*-.!4#&N%.

/%<+(*%-?!!X.!(-!#+-'!(4$'&.#*.!.'!%4$6#-(L%!.6#.!3Z9!(-!*'!)5#&#*.%%!#)#(*-.!E'&%<+'-5&%!'&

%I5(.,!+'--?!!Q6%*!E#<%/!H(.6!6(-.'&(<!4#&N%.!/%<+(*%-!(*!.6%!+#.%!8AAA-=!%:%*!3Z9!6'4%'H*%&-

H%&%!#EE%<.%/=!H(.6!-'4%!'H*%&-!5*#C+%!.'!-%++!.6%(&!6'4%-!E'&!.6%!$&(<%-!.6%,!6#/!%G$%<.%/!'&

%:%*!#.!#!+%:%+!-5EE(<(%*.!.'!&%$#,!.6%(&!4'&.)#)%-?

3Z9!$&':(/%-!#!C5EE%&=!*'.!E''+$&''E!(*-5+#.('*?!!;5.!H6#.!(.!/'%-!/'!(-!%--%*.(#++,!

-4''.6!'5.!.6%!&'5)6!%/)%-!'E!5*$&%/(<.#C+%!6'4%'H*%&-6($!4#&N%.-?!!K*/%&!*'&4#+!4#&N%.!

<'*/(.('*-=!3Z9!C5,%&-!6#:%!.6%!'$$'&.5*(.,!.'!C5(+/!$&%/(<.#C+%!+%:%+-!'E!#--%.-=!C5.!*'.!.6%!

#C(+(.,!.'!4#N%!#!N(++(*)!(E!$&(<%-!.%4$'&#&(+,!)'!.6&'5)6!.6%!&''E?!!1.!.6%!-#4%!.(4%=!.6%,!#&%!

$&':(/%/!H(.6!-'4%!/'H*-(/%!$&'.%<.('*!.6#.!<#*!6%+$!.6%4!H%#.6%&!4'/%-.!4#&N%.!

-+'H/'H*-!H(.6'5.!+'-(*)!%I5(.,?!!1++!.6(-=!H6(+%!#+-'!%G$#*/(*)!'H*%&-6($!'$$'&.5*(.(%-!.'!

6'5-%6'+/-!.6#.!4()6.!*'.!'.6%&H(-%!C%!#C+%!.'!$5&<6#-%=!H6(+%!$&%-%&:(*)!.6%!C5,(*)!$'H%&!'E!

$5C+(<!-5C-(/(%-!E'&!.6%!*%G.!)&'5$!'E!6'5-%6'+/-!+''N(*)!.'!)%.!#!-.#&.!#-!#!6'4%'H*%&?!

Q71%&?)(&%7(&81)#1%#"$-&#$&H)".)1;&F(-#.$&?;"$.&/@+&H)".)1;-S&

O6%!#C':%!/(-<5--('*!)%*%&#++,!.&%#.-!3Z9!#-!#!-(*)+%!<'*-.&5<.?!!;5.!#-!&%E+%<.%/!(*!.6%!

O%4N(*=!O6%'/'-=!#*/!"&(<%!S8A7AT!%:#+5#.('*!#*/!(*![#:(-_!S8AAcT!%*<,<+'$%/(<!%G#4(*#.('*!'E!

.6%!-5C^%<.=!3Z9!$&')&#4-!#&%!:%&,!/(:%&-%=!-$#**(*)!.6%!-$%<.&54!E&'4!$&')&#4-!.#&)%.(*)!

:%&,!+'HM(*<'4%!6'5-%6'+/-!S(*<'4%-!#.!'&!C%+'H!`A!$%&<%*.!'E!.6%!#&%#!4%/(#*!(*<'4%T!.'!

$&')&#4-!.#&)%.(*)!6'5-%6'+/-!&()6.!#.!'&!^5-.!#C':%!'&!C%+'H!.6%!4%/(#*!(*<'4%?!!>#*,!

$&')&#4-!'$%&#.%!(*!6()6M<'-.!4#&N%.-!0!$#&.(<5+#&+,!(*!J#+(E'&*(#!#*/!.6%!"#<(E(<!2'&.6H%-.!0!

H6%&%!%:%*!4'/%&#.%M(*<'4%!6'5-%6'+/-!-.&5))+%!.'!$5&<6#-%!#!6'4%?!!\.6%&-!'$%&#.%!(*!

77!



+'H%&M<'-.!4#&N%.-=!H6%&%!3Z9!(-!5-%/!.'!$5-6!6'4%'H*%&-6($!/'H*!.'!:%&,!+'HM(*<'4%!

6'5-%6'+/-=!C5(+/!#!-%*-%!'E!<'6%-('*!#*/!<'445*(.,!H(.6(*!-$%<(E(<!/%:%+'$4%*.-=!'&!-(4$+,!

N%%$!$#<%!H(.6!&(-(*)!6'4%!$&(<%-?!

3Z9!$&')&#4-!:#&,!#<&'--!4#*,!/(4%*-('*-?!!O6%!E'++'H(*)!(-!#!C&(%E!':%&:(%H!'E!N%,!

$&')&#44#.(<!/(EE%&%*<%-P!

/,D-#04&=(%($%#"$&2-U&/71)(0&?<<)(E#1%#"$&C"1$-&

"%&6#$-!.6%!4'-.!E5*/#4%*.#+!/(-.(*<.('*!#4'*)!3Z9!4'/%+-!(-!C%.H%%*!S#T!l-5C-(/,!

&%.%*.('*_!4'/%+-!.6#.!E'<5-!'*!4#(*.#(*(*)!.6%!+'*)M.%&4!#EE'&/#C(+(.,!'E!-$%<(E(<!6'5-(*)!5*(.-!

#*/!SCT!l-6#&%/!#$$&%<(#.('*_!+'#*-!'&!4'&.)#)%-!.6#.!$&%-%&:%!.6%!<#$#<(.,!'E!$&')&#4!

-$'*-'&-!.'!#--(-.!E5.5&%!6'5-%6'+/-!(*!.6%!E#<%!'E!&(-(*)!6'4%!$&(<%-!C,!&%I5(&(*)!#!$'&.('*!'E!

6'4%!$&(<%!#$$&%<(#.('*!.'!C%!&%$#(/!#+'*)!H(.6!.6%!$&(*<($#+!C#+#*<%!'E!#!+'#*?!!O6%-%!.H'!

$&')&#4!:#&(#.('*-!&'5)6+,!4(&&'&!.6%!-$+(.!#4'*)!&%*.#+!#--(-.#*<%!$&')&#4-!C%.H%%*!$&'^%<.M

C#-%/!#*/!.%*#*.MC#-%/!'$.('*-j!(*!.6%!E(&-.!(*-.#*<%=!.6%!-5C-(/,!-.#,-!H(.6!.6%!5*(.=!(*!.6%!

-%<'*/=!(.!(-!.&#*-$'&.#C+%!.'!H6%&%!C%*%E(<(#&(%-!<6''-%!.'!+(:%?!

O6%!%G.%*/%/!%G#4$+%!/(-<5--%/!(*!.6%!$&('&!-%<.('*!E#++-!(*.'!.6%!E(&-.!<#4$!'E!l-5C-(/,!

&%.%*.('*=_!5*/%&!H6(<6!#!-5C-(/,!(-!5-%/!.'!&%/5<%!.6%!$5&<6#-%!$&(<%!'E!#!6'4%!#*/!.6%*!+'*)M

.%&4!#EE'&/#C(+(.,!(-!#--5&%/!C,!-$%<(E,(*)!#!4#G(454!&%-#+%!$&(<%!'E!.6%!6'4%!.'!.6%!*%G.!

C5,%&=!H6'!$5&<6#-%-!.6%!5*(.!-5C^%<.!.'!.6%!-#4%!C#-(<!&%-#+%!&%-.&(<.('*-?!!1!-(4(+#&!'5.<'4%!

(-!#<6(%:%/!(*!#!+(4(.%/!%I5(.,!<''$%&#.(:%!4'/%+!S-%%!*%G.!-%<.('*T!C,!&%)5+#.(*)!.6%!&%-#+%!

$&(<%!'E!<''$%&#.(:%!-6#&%-?!!35C-(/,!&%.%*.('*!4'/%+-!%G<%+!(*!#--5&(*)!.6%!#EE'&/#C(+(.,!'E!

-$%<(E(<!6'5-(*)!5*(.-=!4#N(*)!.6%4!#!)''/!<6'(<%!H6%*!.6%!+'<#.('*!'E!#--(-.%/!5*(.-!(-!

$#&.(<5+#&+,!(4$'&.#*.?!!W'&!%G#4$+%=!#!$&')&#4!-%%N(*)!.'!4#(*.#(*!#EE'&/#C(+(.,!(*!#!

*%()6C'&6''/!%G$%<.%/!.'!%G$%&(%*<%!)%*.&(E(<#.('*!4#,!H(-6!.'!+'<N!5$!.6%!#EE'&/#C(+(.,!'E!

-$%<(E(<!6'4%-!H(.6(*!.6#.!*%()6C'&6''/=!#-!.6%&%!(-!*'!#--5&#*<%!.6#.!-(4(+#&!5*(.-!H(++!C%!

#:#(+#C+%!H6%*!.6%!*%G.!$5&<6#-%&!(-!+''N(*)!.'!C5,?!

78!



K*/%&!#!l-6#&%/!#$$&%<(#.('*_!+'#*!'&!

4'&.)#)%=!C,!<'*.&#-.=!.6%!-5C-(/,!(-!$&':(/%/!(*!

.6%!E'&4!'E!#!-%<'*/!'&!.6(&/!4'&.)#)%!.6#.!(-!

&%$#(/!.'!.6%!$&')&#4!-$'*-'&!#.!.6%!.(4%!'E!

&%-#+%!#+'*)!H(.6!#!-6#&%!'E!6'4%!$&(<%!

#$$&%<(#.('*?!!S2'!$#,4%*.-!#&%!)%*%&#++,!/5%!

H6(+%!.6%!C5,%&!(-!+(:(*)!(*!.6%!6'4%=!6%+$(*)!.'!

%*-5&%!#EE'&/#C(+(.,?T!!O6(-!#++'H-!.6%!$&')&#4!

-$'*-'&!.'!$&':(/%!#!+#&)%&!+'#*!.'!.6%!*%G.!

$5&<6#-%&=!6%+$(*)!.'!N%%$!5$!H(.6!&(-(*)!6'4%!

$&(<%-!#*/!#++'H!-5C-%I5%*.!C5,%&-!#!-(4(+#&!

&#*)%!'E!<6'(<%-!#-!.6%!$&('&!C5,%&-?!!3(*<%!.6%!

6'4%-!#&%!-'+/!#.!4#&N%.!$&(<%-!.'!5*&%-.&(<.%/!

C5,%&-=!.6%-%!+'#*-!/'!*'.!$&%-%&:%!.6%!+'*)M

.%&4!#EE'&/#C(+(.,!'E!-$%<(E(<!5*(.-?!!9'H%:%&=!

.6%,!'E.%*!$&':(/%!)&%#.%&!<6'(<%!.'!6'4%!

$5&<6#-%&-=!H6'!<#*!$5&<6#-%!#*,!5*(.!H(.6(*!#!

-%.!$&(<%!&#*)%=!&#.6%&!.6#*!#!*#&&'H%&!&#*)%!'E!

5*(.-!-5C^%<.!.'!+'*)M.%&4!&%-#+%!&%-.&(<.('*-?!!

O6%,!#&%!.65-!#!)''/!'$.('*!E'&!$&')&#4-!.6#.!

#&%!E+%G(C+%!#C'5.!.6%!+'<#.('*!'E!#--(-.%/!5*(.-=!

$%&4(..(*)!$5&<6#-%&-!#!H(/%!<6'(<%!'E!5*(.-!

H(.6(*!.6%!<(.,!'&!4%.&'!#&%#!'&!H(.6(*!#!&#*)%!'E!

*%()6C'&6''/-?!

"&#<.(.('*%&-!)%*%&#++,!#)&%%!.6#.!-5C-(/,!&%.%*.('*!$&')&#4-!I5#+(E,!#-!3Z9?!!\$(*('*-!

/(EE%&=!6'H%:%&=!'*!H6%.6%&!.6%!-%<'*/!<#.%)'&,!'E!-6#&%/!#$$&%<(#.('*!+'#*-!I5#+(E(%-!#-!

3Z9?7B!!Q6(+%!%G<+5/(*)!$&(:#.%+,!E(*#*<%/!-6#&%/!#$$&%<(#.('*!4'&.)#)%-!S-%%!C'GT=!X!<'*-(/%&!

7B!J'4$#&%!D#<'C5-!#*/!F5C%++=!!8AAd!0!#&)5(*)!.6#.!-6#&%/!%I5(.,!6'4%'H*%&-6($!%*<'4$#--%-!C'.6!-5C-(/,!
&%.%*.('*!4'/%+-!#*/!-6#&%/!#$$&%<(#.('*!+'#*-!0!H(.6![#:(-!8AAc=!H6'!'*+,!(*<+5/%-!-5C-(/,!&%.%*.('*!4'/%+-!
H(.6(*!.6%!/%E(*(.('*!'E!3Z9?!

J*44$'$&0,K=+$(,"4,L7)2'$;,M++'$:*20*"&N,
1"2&(,"',<"'0525$( ,

O6%!.%&4!U-6#&%/!#$$&%<(#.('*V!+'#*!'&!
4'&.)#)%!<#*!C%!5-%/!.'!/%-<&(C%!#!*54C%&!
'E!/(EE%&%*.!$&'/5<.-=!-'4%!'E!H6(<6!E#++!
H(.6(*!4,!/%E(*(.('*!'E!3Z9=!H6(+%!'.6%&-!E#++!
'5.-(/%?!!>,!/%E(*(.('*!%*<'4$#--%-!-6#&%/!
#$$&%<(#.('*!+'#*-!.6#.!#&%!S#T!E5*/%/!C,!#*!
%G$+(<(.!'&!(4$+(<(.!-5C-(/,j!SCT!-$'*-'&%/!C,!
#!*'*M$&'E(.=!$5C+(<!%*.(.,=!'&!$6(+#*.6&'$,j!
#*/!S<T!6#:%!#-!'*%!'E!.6%(&!$&(4#&,!)'#+-!.'!
4#(*.#(*!+'*)M.%&4!#EE'&/#C(+(.,?!!!!
!
O6%&%!(-!#*'.6%&!E'&4!'E!-6#&%/!
#$$&%<(#.('*!+'#*=!6'H%:%&=!.,$(<#++,!4#/%!
C,!#!E'&M$&'E(.!%*.(.,=!.6#.!E'<5-%-!%*.(&%+,!
'*!4#N(*)!.6%!5*(.!#EE'&/#C+%!.'!.6%!(*(.(#+!
$5&<6#-%&=!H(.6'5.!#!$&(4#&,!)'#+!'E!
4#(*.#(*(*)!+'*)M.%&4!#EE'&/#C(+(.,!.'!
-5C-%I5%*.!$5&<6#-%&-?!!O6%-%!#&%!
-'4%.(4%-!<#++%/!C,!.6%!(*/5-.&,!U-6#&%/!
#$$&%<(#.('*!4'&.)#)%-V!'&!31>-?!

O6%&%!(-!#!+%)(.(4#.%!&'+%!(*!.6%!4#&N%.$+#<%!
E'&!C'.6!.,$%-=!C5.!.6%!+#..%&!.,$%!E#++-!
'5.-(/%!.6%!-<'$%!'E!.6(-!#&.(<+%!$&(4#&(+,!
C%<#5-%!(.!/'%-!*'.!E'<5-!'*!4#(*.#(*(*)!
+'*)M.%&4!#EE'&/#C(+(.,?!!O6(-!(-!+#&)%+,!/5%!.'!
.6%!E#<.!.6#.!(*!#!$&(:#.%!31>=!.6%!$&')&#4_-!
-6#&%!'E!6'4%!$&(<%!#$$&%<(#.('*!)'%-!.'!
.6%!(*:%-.'&!#-!(.-!&%.5&*!'*!(*:%-.4%*.?!!!!

W'&!#*!#*#+,-(-!'E!.6(-!/(-.(*<.('*!#*/!.6%!
-'4%.(4%-!C+5&&,!+(*%-!.6#.!4#&N!(.=!-%%!
F5C%++!#*/!],#*!8AAg?!

7B!
!

!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!

















































by many factors, including the types of loans used by households to purchase their homes,
whether or not a family can bene�t from the mortgage interest deduction on federal
income taxes and whether the owner takes advantage of lower interest rates by re�nancing
her mortgage (Herbert & Belsky, 2008). Although any one homeowner’s returns are a
function of when she purchased her home, the amount of leverage used to purchase the
home and the terms of the mortgage. Mallach (2011, p. 10), in his review concludes that
‘looking at long-term trends, over most periods, in most American housing markets, most
homeowners generate reasonable, if not always spectacular, long-term gains.’

The recent housing market crash resulted in a devastating amount of lost wealth:
aggregate owners’ equity declined from almost $13.5 trillion in 1Q 2006 to $6.3 at the end
of 2009 (Chakrabartiet al., 2011). This decline created a much more receptive
environment for people questioning the wisdom of promoting homeownership,
particularly among lower income households. Indeed, Mallach (2011, p. 6) argues that
few people in 2009 still defend many practices that were widely seen as acceptable and
even socially desirable only a few years ago. But beyond those speci�c practices, the entire
idea of the federal policy goal of furthering low-income homeownership has been called
into question. If the rationale of that goal is that homeownership is a reliable path to asset
and wealth building, can that goal still be justi�ed in light of the evidence of asset erosion
over the past three years?

As discussed in this paper, there are shared equity programs that promote sustainable
homeownership and help low-income families build wealth without placing them at risk of
losing their homes to foreclosure. Therefore, as homeownership policy now focuses on
promotingsustainablemodels, shared equity programs may have an increased share of
public subsidies.

Although there are different types of shared equity homeownership programs, in general
shared equity homeownership initiatives allow income-eligible families to purchase
homes at below-market prices, thereby reducing the risk that the owner will have negative
equity at some point in the future. In return for the subsidized purchase price, the owner’s
potential capital gains from the resale of the home are limited by resale restrictions (NCB
Capital Impact, 2008), creating a stock of affordable owner-occupied units and an
opportunity to accumulate wealth. By creating a stock of homes that resell for prices that
remain within the reach of lower income households, shared equity programs can serve a
larger number of families for the same amount of subsidy dollars, when compared with
programs in which families are provided grants to purchase their homes and then allowed
to pocket these public subsidies and 100 percent of their property’s capital gains when they
resell.

The three most common models of shared equity homeownership initiatives in the USA
are community land trusts (CLTs), limited equity cooperatives (LECs), and resale-
restricted, owner-occupied houses or condominiums with affordability covenants
(i.e., deed restrictions) lasting 30 years or longer (Davis, 2006, 2010). CLTs provide
their residents with the opportunity to own the physical structure of their home—but not
the underlying land, which they lease from a local nonpro�t. This nonpro�t landowner
(i.e., the CLT) either repurchases the homes at a below-market price whenever the present
owners decide to resell or requires these owners to resell their homes to another income-
eligible household for a below-market price determined by a formula embedded in the
ground lease. Under the LEC model, residents own shares in a cooperative housing
corporation. They can resell these shares, but at prices that ensure continued affordability,

Shared Equity Homeownership555



while allowing for modest equity growth. Deed-restricted homes provide lower income
families with owner-occupied housing, which they may only resell to another income-
eligible homebuyer for a formula determined ‘affordable’ price. Covenants restricting the
resale of these homes may expire after a certain number of years or be permanent.
Covenants must last for at least 30-year to be considered ‘shared equity homeownership’
under the rule of thumb adopted by most practitioners.

There are relatively few studies that empirically examine wealth creation1 and mortgage
performance outcomes for owners of CLT, deed restricted, and LEC units, though
relatively more research has been conducted on the perceptions of owners as they relate to
a number of factors. A major reason for the lack of information about household outcomes
is the dif�culty of collecting client-level information about families that purchase homes
under such programs over time, particularly across multiple sites.

One study that did investigate these outcomes was by Davis & Stokes (2009), who
found that Champlain Housing Trust (CHT) in Champlain, Vermont created wealth and
preserved affordability for low-income households, enabling many to go on to market-rate
homeownership, while few experienced foreclosure. Looking at the same program, Gent
et al.(2005) found that CHT residents, who had lower incomes than renters in surrounding
areas, reported gains in employment and education. (These results have not yet been
con�rmed with a more rigorous quasi-experimental or experimental design, however.)

Although not the principal focus of this study, other research has demonstrated that
shared equity housing may have nonmonetary bene�ts as well. One study found that
despite having lower housing costs than other households, low-income residents in LECs
in New York City were found to have good housing quality. Tenure lengths were long: 80
percent of residents had lived in their building for more than 10 years (Saegertet al.,
2003).

In a conceptual model, Miceliet al. (1994) claimed that LECs are better positioned to
reduce occurrences of noise and disorder, what they term the negative externalities of
housing, than other forms of low-income subsidized housing. This is principally
accomplished through stricter resident screening and property management. Clark (1994)
demonstrated similar �ndings.

Gentet al. (2005) report that residents credited CHT with leading to higher levels of
general happiness. Other studies �nd CLT owners and LEC shareholders are more satis�ed
than similarly situated renters (Levinger, 2001; Saegert & Benitez, 2005). Levinger (2001)
found that shared equity owners felt a greater sense of security. In addition, Saegert &
Winkel (1998) found that LECs had high social capital and Saegertet al.(2002) found that
LECs in New York had lower crime rates than comparable rental buildings.

Rohe (1995) offers a cautionary example about the use of the LEC model, examining
the conversion of public housing to LECs. Using administrative records and qualitative
data collection from stakeholders and cooperative members, Rohe found that while
feasible, such conversions are costly and resource intensive. Success of the program
depends highly on the housing authority’s ability to design and implement the program,
and being a shareholder does not offer tenants more or better control over their living
environments.

In Australia, almost all shared equity owners interviewed by Pinnegaret al. (2008)
reported that they would not have been able to purchase a home without the shared equity
assistance, though analysis of their �nances showed that they may have been able to
purchase without it at a future date. Even so, some owners did feel that their choice of

556 K.M. Temkin et al.



homes was limited by participating in the programs or that the smaller equity gain they
saw would limit their future options in buying a market-rate home.

Data and Methods

There is no census of shared equity homeownership programs in the USA, but even if there
were such a census, an evaluation of only seven programs could not be claimed as
representative of the universe of such programs. Recognizing that limitation, we set out to
select seven programs that were best positioned to inform a cross-site evaluation. We
identi�ed mature shared equity programs through an advisory group convened for this
effort. Of those identi�ed, we eliminated groups lacking a suf�cient number of resale-
restricted homes in their portfolios (60) or resales within that portfolio (40). We also
removed from consideration any organizations lacking adequate and accessible records on
their homebuyers. As a result of these decisions, we restricted the study to a pool of
programs that was likely larger and more established than all shared equity programs
nationally. Among the identi�ed groups meeting these criteria, we selected the study sites
purposively to maximize the diversity of the projects across different geographies, housing
markets, and program models.2

The administrators for these programs provided client-level data for every sale on
housing prices, incomes, dates of home purchase, mortgage rates and terms, delinquencies
and foreclosures, and other factors. Not every site was able to provide complete
information for each element of interest: in some cases we had access to a sample of
homeowner records, while some sites were not able to provide information about some
topics for any residents. The sites did not collect demographic or employment information
about the types of families buying homes through their programs, so we cannot report
about the purchasers’ family arrangements, races, ages, education levels, employment
statuses, etc. In addition, to put the programs in the context of national trends, comparison
data from several sources were used.

Measuring Affordability

There are many ways to measure the continuing affordability of renter-occupied or owner-
occupied housing, although every method begins with the basic assumption that housing
affordability is a measure of housing costs relative to household income (Goodman, 2001).
We �rst calculated theabsolutechanges in required real minimum income to purchase a
home at resale. This measure establishes the required income growth for a given
household to purchase a home at resale,and so identi�es the extent to which a household
earning the required minimum income at a given point in time can afford a unit when it is
resold.

We calculated the minimum income that was necessary to initially purchase a shared
equity home and the minimum income that was necessary when that same home
subsequently resold. We assumed that the buyer would �nance the purchase with a 30
years, �xed-rate mortgage that had an interest rate equal to the median interest rate for all
buyers. In addition, we assumed that the buyer paid a down payment that was equal to the
median down payment share of all homes sold under the program, and further assumed
that the buyer would spend no more than 33 percent of his/her income for housing (which
included the mortgage payment and any property taxes or co-op fees reported by the

Shared Equity Homeownership557



program). We used a slightly different methodology to determine the required minimum
income for initial and subsequent resales for the LEC programs (Dos Pinos and
Wildwood) in which we calculated the minimum income required based on the co-op fees.
For the Wildwood co-op in Atlanta, we included the homeowners’ payments for share
loans (there are no share loans for any Dos Pinos buyers).

Based on the length of time between the two sales, we calculated the average annual
increase in the required minimum income. For example, assume that a home at its initial
sale requires a minimum income (in 2008 $) of $20 000, and, at a resale that takes place 2
years later, requires a minimum income (in 2008 $) of $24 200. The real income at resale is
1.21 times the initial sale price, which means that the required minimum income increased
by 10 percent per year (because it was multiplied by an average of 1.1). To the extent that
real incomes increased by the same amount for households earning $20 000 at the time of
the initial sale, the unit remains affordable to such households.

In addition to the absolute change in income required, we analyzed changes to the
affordability of shared equity homes by determining the minimum income required to
purchase a home as the ratio of the housing cost over the area’s median family income
(MFI), published by the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD). To
the extent that the ratio of the minimum income required to purchase a home relative to the
MFI is the same, when a home is initially purchased and when that home is resold, the unit
is considered to have maintained its affordability. (We refer to this method as the MFI
method.)

A problem with this methodology is that it does not measure changes to a particular
household’s income over time; rather, it assumes the incomes of the target population for
whom shared equity homes are being kept affordable and to whom these homes are being
resold increase at the same rate as the MFI. Despite these drawbacks, the advantage of the
MFI method is its sensitivity to local area differences in incomes and family size.

To calculate therelativechange in required minimum income, we created a ratio of (1)
the initial required minimum income and the MFI at the time of the initial sale and (2) the
required minimum income and the MFI at resale. The difference in these ratios indicates
changes to the required minimum income as a share of MFI.

Measuring Wealth Creation

Shared equity homebuyers, as discussed above, realized a signi�cant amount of proceeds
when they resold their units. This section analyses the annualized rate of return that was
realized by resellers, based on the amount of appreciation that they received at resale
relative to the amount of their original investment in purchasing their home (down
payment plus closing costs). To determine the return, we calculated the internal rate of
return (IRR), which is the interest rate (r) that yields a net present value of $0 for the
following equation:

ICO0

ð1 þ rÞ0 ¼
Xn

t¼1

ACFt

ð1 þ rÞt þ
EPRn

ð1 þ rÞn ;

where ICO0 is the initial cost to the owner (includes down payment plus initial fees),
expressed as a negative number, ACFt is the annual cash �ows in yeart, which is the
imputed rent of the unit minus after-tax mortgage and insurance payments, and EPRn is the

558 K.M. Temkin et al.



end of period return in timen when the home is sold, which is the sales proceeds realized
by the homeowner, less unpaid principal balances of all mortgages outstanding as of the
time of the sale.

To add simplicity to the analysis, we assume that the rent paid by the owner, if the home
had been rented, would have been the same as the after-tax cost of owning a home. As a
result, the ACFs are $0, and the IRR is calculated only using the ICO and EPR.

This assumption, then, means that we do not include any differences between monthly
mortgage payments or co-op loans and fees and the market rent for a comparable unit
within the local metropolitan statistical area (MSA) when calculating IRR. Because we do
not know buyers’ willingness (or ability) to pay for housing, we cannot assume that they
are saving the difference in the mortgage or co-op payments and market rents to include in
a calculation of �nancial returns. There are other bene�ts and costs to homeownership that
we have also excluded from our analysis. Bene�ts include the deduction of house and
mortgage interest paid from income tax liabilities, any homebuyer tax credits, and
stabilization of housing payments (for those with �xed-rate mortgages). Added costs
include maintenance costs, realtor fees, and other transfer and transaction costs.

Description of the Programs and Their Clients

The seven shared equity homeownership programs described in this report vary
considerably with respect to the markets they serve, the homebuyers they target, and the
formulas and methods they use in maintaining the affordability of their homes. This
section brie�y describes the programs and their clients (see Table 1 for a summary of the
seven programs).

A Regional Coalition for Housing(ARCH) was formed in 1992 through an agreement of
several municipalities in eastern King County, Washington to create and preserve the
supply of housing for low- and moderate-income households. Each of the 15 cities in east
King County is a voluntary member of ARCH. Through December 2009, ARCH had sold
homes to 722 families, including 186 resales. Homeownership units available under this
program range from studios to four-bedroom units. Most are condominiums, though
ARCH’s portfolio also includes townhomes and single-family homes.

The CHT, a nonpro�t organization located in Burlington, Vermont, was created in 2006
in a merger between the Burlington Community Land Trust and Lake Champlain Housing
Development Corporation, both of which were founded by the City of Burlington in 1984.
CHT had acquired a total of 450 resale-restricted, owner-occupied houses and
condominiums. Because some of these homes have been resold one or more times
without leaving CHT’s portfolio, a total of 683 families have been helped to buy a home
through CHT’s CLT program. Almost all of the program’s homes have between one and
three bedrooms, and include a mix of single- and multi-family units.

All homes in theDos Pinos Housing Cooperative(Dos Pinos) were constructed on a
4-acre parcel of land in Davis, California between 1985 and 1986. Dos Pinos is a LEC. The
smallest shared equity program in the study, this 60-unit LEC had provided
homeownership opportunities to 276 families through 2009. Dos Pinos contains mainly
2- and 3-bedroom units, plus six 1-bedroom units.

The Northern Communities Land Trust(NCLT) in Duluth, Minnesota, is a nonpro�t
organization that has provided homeownership opportunities in the Duluth area to low-
and moderate-income families since 1994. NCLT had sold homes to 232 families through

Shared Equity Homeownership559











houses, condominiums, or shares with a relatively small down payment, ranging from
about $1100 in Duluth to $6000 in Boulder (Table 2).3

Six programs provided information about the mortgages used by buyers to �nance their
purchases. (None of the Dos Pinos co-op buyers �nanced the purchase of their shares with
a share loan.) Despite their low incomes, buyers of shared equity homes were able to
secure mortgage �nancing. Nearly all homebuyers �nanced a portion of their purchase
with a �rst-lien mortgage that had a 30-year amortization period. The overwhelming share
of �rst-lien mortgages received by the shared equity homebuyers was �xed-rate
mortgages: this was a program requirement in most cases. The median interest rates
ranged from a low of 5.1 percent to a high of 6.5 percent at the nonco-op sites (Table 2).
[At Wildwood, interest rates were higher: 9.5 percent at the median. This high rate is not
surprising because buyers took out relatively small share loans (under $5000 at the
median) with a short term (5 years at the median)].

Preserving Affordability for the Units upon Resale

Any shared equity program has two competing objectives: provide homebuyers with a
means to accumulate wealth while, at the same time, keeping the units affordable for
subsequent homebuyers. Higher levels of appreciation realized by a seller (plus any capital
improvements credited to the seller) will result in higher prices paid by subsequent buyers,
which could lead to higher incomes needed to purchase the home.

Changes in Absolute Required Income

The results in Table 3 show that the average real required minimum income increased by
about no more than 2.0 percent per year in four of the seven sites. Because monthly co-op
fees declined in real terms, the required real minimum income declined for Wildwood and
Dos Pinos buyers. The average annual increase in required real minimum income was less
than 1 percent for Thistle and SFIZ resale buyers. The required minimum income
increased by an average of 1.1 percent per year for CHT, by 1.9 percent per year for
NCLT, and by 4.0 percent per year for ARCH homebuyers. In sites with greater cost
increases, homebuyers may compensate by devoting a higher share of their income to
housing.

With the exception of ARCH in eastern King County, the largest share of resold units
had no more than a 10 percent increase in the minimum income required to purchase
resold homes, when compared with the minimum income required to purchase the home
initially. In Boulder, 96 percent of Thistle’s resold homes required a minimum income that
was no more than 10 percent of that required when the reseller purchased the home. The
Dos Pinos co-op had a similar pattern. There are a greater share of resold units that had a
change in minimum income required that was more than 10 percent for the ARCH, CHT,
and NCLT programs.

The extent to which units retained their affordability, given the annual increase in the
required minimum income, is also dependent on income growth. Unfortunately, we do not
have changes in incomes for the seven sites that are based on a panel of households in the
area. Therefore, we cannot make a de�nitive conclusion from the changes in absolute
income required about changes in unit affordability. However, the given analyses of
changes in income by decile for a panel of households from across the USA, it may be that

564 K.M. Temkin et al.













30 percent of a unit’s total appreciation. Due to these policies, the real minimum income
required to purchase homes at resale increased by 1.9 percent per year for NCLT
homebuyers and by 4.0 percent per year for ARCH homebuyers.

Thistle and CHT resellers are allowed to retain 25 percent of a unit’s appreciation, but
that amount is reduced by the ratio of the price of the home when purchased divided by the
market value of the home. Assume, for example, that a home with that was appraised at
$100 000 was purchased for $80 000. For such a home, the reseller would receive 80
percent of the unit’s appreciation times 25 percent when resold. These policies, which
reduce the amount of appreciation that can be realized by a seller, reduce each program’s
IRRs, but they also reduce the rate of increase in the real minimum income required to
purchase a home over time. The two co-op programs, by keeping co-op fees low in real
terms, have had smaller changes in the minimum income required to purchase a share over
time (assuming that the purchaser can afford to purchase the share by having funds
available or by receiving a share loan).

There are factors, however, that in�uence program outcomes but are beyond any
designer’s control. Thistle and CHT, for example, have very similar policies to calculate a
reseller’s maximum allowable appreciation. Moreover, changes in house prices in the two
programs’ metropolitan areas were about the same. Yet, the yearly required increase in
minimum income to afford a resold unit is greater for CHT than for Thistle. The reasons
are that taxes and insurance costs, in real terms, declined in Boulder but increased in
Burlington, and that capital improvement reimbursements were also higher there. As a
result, the minimum income required to purchase a home increased for CHT buyers and
remained the same for Thistle buyers.

Figure 1. IRR and tenure length for resellers across all shared equity programs.
Source: Authors’ calculations of client-level data.

570 K.M. Temkin et al.



Shared equity programs can achieve a balance between a reasonable return and lasting
affordability, even in strongly appreciating markets. Finding this balance may sometimes
require a program to adjust its formula, as was done in SFIZ in response to market
conditions, so that purchasers can realize returns that exceed those in alternative
investments but at the same time programs can ensure that lower income families can
afford to remain purchasers over time.

Security of Tenure

In the current U.S. economic environment, where many low-income homeowners have
lost their homes to foreclosure, security of tenure is an important outcome against which to
judge shared equity programs. As a result of the mortgage meltdown, some policy-makers
have begun questioning the wisdom of programs that expand homeownership
opportunities to lower income families. We investigated whether these programs better
positioned their homebuyers in mortgages that were not high cost, and whether these
buyers were better able to retain their homes, avoiding foreclosure and the intermediate
step of delinquency.

High-cost loans (also referred to as subprime loans) often contain features that increase
the likelihood of borrower default. Some high-cost loans allow borrowers to make
payments that are less than the amount required under a fully amortizing loan. In addition,
many subprime loans are originated with low teaser rates that reset after a given period of
time; borrowers often cannot afford payments with the new interest rate. The percentage of
a homeownership program’s bene�ciaries who have �nanced their homes using subprime
loans is a leading indicator of the likelihood of future delinquency and foreclosure.

Across the four noncooperative sites where buyers took out long-term mortgages and
for which we have data, not a single borrower had a �rst mortgage with prepayment
penalties. In these sites (CHT, SFIZ, NCLT, and Thistle), a very low share of loans were
high cost, de�ned as having an interest rate more than 300 basis points above a comparable
term yield. These sites range from a low of 0.4 percent of �rst liens that were high cost in
NCLT to 2.3 percent in SFIZ (Table 5). Each of these four programs operated in housing
markets where high-cost loans was more prevalent. At the low end, 4.3 percent of all
mortgages on one- to four-family homes in Boulder, Colorado, between 2004 and 2006
were high cost, according to the data from the Home Mortgage Disclosure Act; nearly 15
percent of these home loans in the Duluth area were high cost.

Homeownership counseling may also have had an in�uence on the security of tenure for
buyers. Unfortunately, this evaluation is not positioned to assess the value of that
counseling. Many sites require, provide, or refer residents to homeownership counseling.
Four sites (CHT, SFIZ, NCLT, and Thistle) require prospective buyers to complete
counseling before purchasing a home. A �fth, ARCH, requires counseling for those on its
optional wait list. Three programs (CHT, NCLT, and Thistle) provide optional counseling
or classes after new residents have purchased a home, including specialized counseling for
those in danger of delinquency or foreclosure.

Using client-level data, we calculated the share of current mortgage loans on homes that
are seriously delinquent—that is, more than 90 days late on their mortgage payments. Very
few homes were currently seriously delinquent. In the two cooperative programs—Dos
Pinos and Wildwood—no owners were currently delinquent on their share loans (in the
case of Wildwood) or their monthly co-op fees (for both sites). The other programs ranged

Shared Equity Homeownership571



T
ab

le
5.

S
ec

ur
ity

of
te

nu
re

fo
r

sh
ar

ed
eq

ui
ty

pr
og

ra
m

s.

A
R

C
H

C
H

T
D

os
P

in
os

N
C

LT
S

F
IZ

T
hi

st
le

W
ild

w
oo

d

%
H

ig
h-

co
st

lo
an

s
n/

av
1.

4%
n/

ap
0.

4%
2.

3%
1.

2%
n/

ap
%

H
ig

h-
co

st
lo

an
s

in
su

rr
ou

nd
in

g
ar

ea
n/

ap
6.

7%
n/

ap
14

.9
%

6.
8%

4.
3%

n/
ap

%
C

ur
re

nt
ly

se
rio

us
ly

de
lin

qu
en

t
0.

4%
1.

6%
0.

0%
2.

7%
N

/a
v

1.
0%

0.
0%

%
C

ur
re

nt
ly

se
rio

us
ly

de
lin

qu
en

t
in

co
un

ty
3.

8%
1.

4%
6.

6%
2.

5%
N

/a
p

2.
0%

8.
3%

%
E

ve
r

se
rio

us
ly

de
lin

qu
en

t
0.

6%
3.

5%
0.

4%
5.

2%
N

/a
v

2.
3%

0.
0%

%
C

ur
re

nt
ly

in
fo

re
cl

os
ur

e
0.

4%
0.

5%
0.

0%
1.

1%
N

/a
v

0.
0%

0.
0%

%
C

ur
re

nt
ly

in
fo

re
cl

os
ur

e
in

co
un

ty
1.

2%
1.

0%
3.

4%
4.

4%
N

/a
p

1.
1%

5.
6%

%
E

ve
r

in
fo

re
cl

os
ur

e
0.

6%
2.

2%
0.

0%
3.

0%
n/

av
0.

6%
0.

0%
%

R
em

ai
ni

ng
ho

m
eo

w
ne

rs
af

te
r

5
ye

ar
s

n/
av

91
.8

n/
av

95
.0

%
n/

av
91

.2
%

n/
av

N
ot

e:
n/

ap
¼

no
ta

pp
lic

ab
le

;
n/

av
¼

no
ta

va
ila

bl
e.

S
ou

rc
e:

A
ut

ho
rs

’c
al

cu
la

tio
ns

of
cl

ie
nt

-le
ve

ld
at

a.

572 K.M. Temkin et al.



from a delinquency rate of 0.4 to 2.7 percent (Table 5). In four of the sites, the program’s
delinquency rate was below the similar rate for the county as a whole—including upper
income buyers—as reported by TransUnion: ARCH, Dos Pinos, Thistle, and Wildwood.
Two sites, CHT and NCLT, saw slightly higher rates of delinquency; these rates are
roughly equivalent to the delinquency rate in the surrounding area. In addition, we
calculated the share of all mortgages on homes (current or not) that had ever been seriously
delinquent. The programs ranged from a low of 0.0 percent homes ever seriously
delinquent at Wildwood to a high of 5.2 percent at NCLT. By comparison, HUD data show
that 15.0 percent of Federal Housing Administration (FHA)-insured loans originated
nationwide in 2004 had been delinquent at some point by 2008.

Losing a home to foreclosure is a wrenching event for an owner, who ends up losing a
place to live and any equity invested in the property. But a foreclosed home is also a
setback for the program. In the event of foreclosure, a shared equity program risks losing
the property from its portfolio, with the accompanying loss of all public subsidies that have
been invested in the property and all restrictions on occupancy and affordability.

Three programs—Wildwood Park, Dos Pinos, and Thistle—had no homes presently in
the foreclosure process as of the end of 2009, and the highest foreclosure rate was NCLT at
1.1 percent. In every program, the site’s foreclosure rates were below those HUD reported
for their surrounding areas as of 2009.

Over these programs’ histories, the two LECs have never had a foreclosure. Thistle and
ARCH’s cumulative foreclosure rate is just 0.6 percent—just one Thistle home and four
ARCH homes have gone into foreclosure. CHT and NCLT had somewhat higher
cumulative foreclosure rates—2.2 and 3.0 percent. Cumulative foreclosure rates in the
seven sites are well below national cumulative foreclosure rates: the U.S. Government
Accountability Of�ce reports that 2.3 percent of FHA-insured home loans originated in
1998 were in foreclosure after 4 years; in 2008, 4.2 percent of FHA-insured home loans
originated in 2004 were in foreclosure according to HUD. In addition, most sites achieved
a low foreclosure rate compared with the rate among all FHA-insured homes while serving
a clientele having a much lower income than the average household purchasing an FHA-
insured home.

A �nal measure of how effective the shared equity programs have been in not only
helping low-income familiesattain homeownership butsustainit is the percentage of
buyers who remain homeowners 5 years after they purchase a home. We counted a buyer
as a continued homeowner if, after 5 years, the buyer remained in the original shared
equity home or moved into another owner-occupied market-rate or shared equity home.
We only have data from three of the seven sites, but in all three, over 90 percent of buyers
were still homeowners after 5 years. This is an impressive rate, considering that all were
low income and almost all were �rst-time homeowners. By comparison, previous studies
have found that roughly half of all low-income homebuyers fail to remain homeowners
5 years after acquiring a home (Herbert & Belsky, 2008; Reid, 2004).

Mobility Findings

Families move frequently. According to the American Community Survey, in 2010 about
15 percent of the U.S. population moved to a new address, though rates are higher for
renters than for homeowners. High rates of mobility nationally raise key questions for
shared equity homeownership programs. Does the purchase of shared equity home limit

Shared Equity Homeownership573





in stocks or bonds. By recycling subsidies, the programs offer a less expensive method of
supporting homeownership than initiatives that provide grants to families to purchase
market-rate homes. Although homeowners earn well below median incomes, very few had
their loans go into default or foreclosure. And because shared equity homeownership
programs typically allow families to purchase homes at below-market prices, buyers are
less likely to have the value of their homes fall below that of their mortgages. Finally, it
does not appear that limits on the equity that shared equity programs place on their resident
members limit mobility.

When setting out to evaluate shared equity homeownership programs, we expected
program type (i.e.,CLT, deed-restricted housing, or LEC) to be an important determinant
of program outcomes. Notable differences emerged between the sites, but the outcomes
were not clearly related to the type of shared equity model. Rather, within each type,
decisions regarding the initial unit pricing, resale formula, conditions in the local housing
market, and ongoing stewardship affected outcomes much more than the particular model.
As such, it is not clear that one model outperforms another. As other municipalities and
organizations consider which model is most appropriate for them, the decision will relate
more to the structure of the principal organization and its strategy for acquiring units. For
example, it is likely that public programs will continue to rely on deed restrictions, as
ARCH and SFIZ did, while nonpro�t housing providers �nd theCLT approach attractive.
It is our expectation that LECs will appeal to a narrower set of situations, often involving a
uni�ed development.

Despite the advances in understanding of shared equity homeownership delivered
through this study, several areas warrant additional research, which we group into three
categories. First, evaluations of shared equity homeownership programs could bene�t
from additional rigor, speci�cally by testing program effects for buyers against
comparable households, whether through a quasi-experimental or experimental design.
Second, additional outcome domains are of interest including neighborhood amenities and
quality, housing quality, child well-being, detailed demographic characteristics, and
employment and income, measured over time. Finally, the �eld could bene�t from
additional evidence about the importance of different program designs including the role
of homeownership counseling. Both additional qualitative case studies and quantitative
studies would be of value.

A logical �nal question for shared equity programs is why, if they are so successful in
terms of meeting their objectives, do they represent such a small share of the overall
housing market? Equity restrictions have little appeal for buyers who can qualify for and
afford market-rate mortgages, so by design, the �eld is targeted to the niche of households
that have the capacity and desire to own, but whose �nancial means are insuf�cient. But,
among households that cannot purchase market-rate homes, this study has found demand
for shared equity mortgage products (Caplinaet al., 2007). Therefore, the relatively small
number of shared equity homes does not appear to re�ect a lack of demand for such
housing.

Rather than a lack of demand, it appears that there are more constraints on the supply
side. Although the �eld has undergone signi�cant expansion in recent years, it requires
investments to build and sustain organizational capacity. Unlike traditional low-income
homeownership programs, long-term affordability programs require ongoing stewardship;
they have higher administrative costs. Of course, these administrative costs are small in

Shared Equity Homeownership575



comparison with the cost of traditional low-income homeownership programs when
measured over successive generations of homeowners.

The third factor limiting the �eld’s growth has been identifying �nancing. Many of the
study sites described that helping lenders understand the shared equity mortgage product
required a signi�cant time investment. Once lenders were familiar with the product, they
expressed an eagerness to continue providing �nancing, given the satisfactory loan
performance and backing of the steward organization. However, to achieve scale, the
product will need to be more widely understood by lenders.

In addition, HUD programs have traditionally not been well situated to facilitate shared
equity homeownership, for example, by limiting the amount of HUD funding that can go
toward administrative costs and by not accounting for the ongoing cost savings or
homeownership opportunities the shared equity programs provide to successive
generations of homeowners. The mismatch between HUD funding and shared equity
objectives originated in noble (e.g., concerns about the lack of evidence about the long-
term success and feasibility of shared equity programs) and less noble (e.g., bureaucratic
inertia, an overly short-term view of programmatic success) reasons. But, this is changing.
HUD’s Neighborhood Stabilization Program was an important source of funding for
shared equity programs. Senior-level HUD staff is increasingly aware of and receptive to
shared equity homeownership models (Simon & Hersh, 2010), and revisions to HUD
funding and FHA recapture criteria are being considered, which if adopted, will facilitate
investments in shared equity housing.

If the shared equity �eld can overcome the obstacles described above, it will play an
increasingly important role in the U.S. housing market, given serious constraints on public
budgets and the continued demand for homeownership among low- and moderate-income
households.

Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank NCB Capital Impact for funding this research and for providing valuable
feedback along the way, in particular, thanks to John Emmeus Davis, Rick Jacobus, and Jim Gray. In addition, we
are grateful to staff at the seven shared equity housing programs who worked hard to provide us with the
information needed for this evaluation. Thanks to the members of the research working group and three
anonymous reviewers for their thoughtful comments on earlier drafts of this article.

Notes
1 Wealth creation is also encouraged through federal policy. Deed restricted and CLT homeowners can

qualify for income tax deductions for the mortgage interest they pay. It may be less well understood,
however, that LEC shareholders can qualify for these deductions as well (Helm & Horvitz, 1993).

2 Of the seven study sites, three programs are CLTs (CHT, NCLT, and Thistle Community Housing), two
are deed restricted (ARCH and SFIZ), and two are limited equity cooperatives (Dos Pinos Housing
Cooperative and Wildwood Park Towne Houses). In terms of geography and housing market prices,
three are located in high-price Western cities (ARCH, Dos Pinos Housing Cooperative, and SFIZ). One
is in a moderate to high-price Mountain city (Thistle Community Housing). One program is in a
moderate-price Southern city (Wildwood Park Towne Houses) and one in a moderate-price New
England city (CHT). The �nal program is in a low-price Midwest city (NCLT). See Section 4 for an
individual description of each program.

3 To help ensure that potential buyers are ready for homeownership, many sites require, provide, or refer
residents to homeownership counseling before purchasing a home or when experiencing dif�culty with
mortgage repayment.

576 K.M. Temkin et al.



4 Since the inception of the ARCH program, 26.0 percent of households moved. During a comparable
time period, we would expect 24.5 percent of �rst-time homebuyers nationally to have sold their homes
and moved. Comparison data are from the National Association of Home Builders (Emrath, 2009). The
�gures for the other sites are as follows: CHT (34.1 percent actual and 33.0 percent expected), Dos
Pinos (22.5 percent actual and 32.7 percent expected), NCLT (20.3 percent actual and 25.1 percent
expected), Thistle (40.1 percent actual and 31.3 percent expected), and Wildwood (31.8 percent actual
and 38.7 percent expected). We could not calculate this �gure for SFIZ due to data limitations.

References

Caplina, A., Carrb, J., Pollock, F., Tong, Z. Y., Tane, K. M. & Thampy, T. (2007) Shared-equity mortgages,
housing affordability, and homeownership,Housing Policy Debate, 1(18), pp. 209–242.

Chakrabarti, R., Lee, D., Klaauw, W. & Zafar, B. (2011)Household Debt and Saving during the 2007 Recession
(New York, NY: Federal Reserve Bank of New York).

Clark, H. (1994) Taking up space: Rede�ning political legitimacy in New York City,Environment and Planning,
26(6), pp. 937–955.

Davis, J. E. (2006)Shared Equity Homeownership: The Changing Landscape of Resale-Restricted, Owner-
Occupied Housing(Montclair, NJ: National Housing Institute).

Davis, J. E. (2010)The Community Land Trust Reader(Cambridge, MA: Lincoln Institute of Land Policy).
Davis, J. E. & Stokes, A. (2009)Lands in Trust: Homes That Last—A Performance Evaluation of the Champlain

Housing Trust(Burlington, VT: Champlain Housing Trust).
DiPasquale, D. & Glaeser, E. (1999) Incentives and social capital: Are homeowners better citizens?Journal of

Urban Economics, 45(2), pp. 354–384.
Emrath, P. (2009)How Long Buyers Remain in Their Homes(Washington, DC: National Association of Home

Builders), Available at http://www.nahb.org/generic.aspx?sectionID¼734&genericContentID¼110770&-
print¼true

Galster, G. (1987)Homeowners and Neighborhood Reinvestment(Durham, NC: Duke University Press).
Gangl, M. (2008) A longitudinal perspective on income inequality in the United States and Europe,Focus, 26(1),

pp. 33–38.
Gent, C., Sawyer, W., Davis, J. E. & Weber, A. (2005)Evaluating the Bene�ts of Living in the Burlington

Community Land Trust’s Rental Housing or Cooperative Housing(Burlington, VT: University of Vermont
Center for Rural Studies).

Goodman, J. (2001)Housing Affordability in the United States: Trends, Interpretations, and Outlook(Arlington,
VA: Hartry Advisors).

Haurin, D. R., Parcel, T. L. & Haurin, R. J. (2002) Impact of homeownership on child outcomes, in: N. P. Retsinas
& E. S. Belsky (Eds)Low-income Homeownership: Examining the Unexamined Goal, pp. 427–446
(Washington, DC: Brookings Institution Press).

Helm, J. & Horvitz, S. (1993) Cooperative homeownership: An affordable alternative,Journal of Housing, 50(6),
pp. 238–240.

Herbert, C. E. & Belsky, E. S. (2008) The homeownership experience of low-Income and minority households:
A review and synthesis of the literature,Cityscape, 10(2), pp. 5–60.

Levinger, G. (2001)Owning a Community Land Trust Home: A Survey Report on Homeowner Satisfaction
(Spring�eld, MA: Institute for Community Economics.).

Mallach, A. (2011) Building Sustainable Ownership: Rethinking Public Policy toward Lower-Income
Homeownership(Philadelphia, PA: Federal Reserve Bank of Philadelphia), Discussion Paper.

Manturuk, K., Linblad, M. & Quercia, R. (2010)Homeownership and Civic Engagement in Low-Income
Neighborhoods: A Longitudinal Analysis(Chapel Hill, NC: Center for Community Capital), Working Paper.

Miceli, T., Sazama, G. & Sirmans, C. (1994) The role of limited-equity cooperatives in providing affordable
housing,Housing Policy Debate, 5(4), pp. 469–490.

NCB Capital Impact (2008)Shared Equity Homeownership A New Path to Economic Opportunity(Arlington,
VA: NCB Capital Impact), Available at http://www.ncbcapitalimpact.org/uploadedFiles/downloads/
SEH_Vision10-08.pdf

Pinnegar, S., Milligan, V., Quintal, D., Randolph, B. & Williams, P. (2008)Innovative Financing for Home
Ownership: The Potential for Shared Equity Initiatives in Australia, AHURI Positioning Paper No. 106.
(Melbourne: Australian Housing and Urban Research Institute).

Shared Equity Homeownership577

http://www.nahb.org/generic.aspx?sectionID&equals;734&genericContentID&equals;110770&print&equals;true
http://www.nahb.org/generic.aspx?sectionID&equals;734&genericContentID&equals;110770&print&equals;true
http://www.ncbcapitalimpact.org/uploadedFiles/downloads/SEH_Vision10-08.pdf
http://www.ncbcapitalimpact.org/uploadedFiles/downloads/SEH_Vision10-08.pdf


Reid, C. (2004) Achieving the American Dream? A Longitudinal Analysis of the Homeownership Experiences of
Low-Income Households, 4(4), Working Paper. University of Washington, Center for Studies in
Demography and Ecology.

Rohe, W. M. & Stewart, L. S. (1996) Homeownership and neighborhood stability,Housing Policy Debate, 7(1),
pp. 27–78.

Rohe, W. (1995) Converting public housing to cooperatives: The experience of three developments,Housing
Policy Debate, 6(2), pp. 439–479.

Rohe, W., Zandt, S. V. & McCarthy, G. (2002) Social bene�ts and costs of homeownership, in: N. P. Retsinas &
E. S. Belsky (Eds)Low-income Homeownership: Examining the Unexamined Goal, pp. 381–407
(Washington, DC: Brookings Institution Press).

Saegert, S. & Benitez, L. (2005) Limited equity housing cooperatives: De�ning a niche in the low-income
housing market,Journal of Planning Literature, 19, pp. 427–439.

Saegert, S., Eizenberg, E., Extein, M., Hsieh, T., Benitez, L. & Chang, C. (2003) Limited equity co-ops as bulwarks
against gentri�cation, Paper presented at the Urban Affairs Association Conference, Cleveland, OH.

Saegert, S. & Winkel, G. (1998) Social capital and the revitalization of New York City’s distressed inner-city
housing,Housing Policy Debate, 9(1), pp. 17–60.

Saegert, S., Winkel, G. & Swartz, C. (2002) Social capital and crime in New York City’s low-income housing,
Housing Policy Debate, 13(1), pp. 189–226.

Shlay, A. B. (2006) Low-income homeownership: American dream or delusion,Urban Studies, 3(3),
pp. 511–532.

Simon, H. & Hersh, M. (2010) Shelterforce interview: HUD Secretary Shaun Donovan, Shelterforce, Fall/Winter
2009.

578 K.M. Temkin et al.




